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PART 1

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. We intend the forward-looking statements contained in this report to be covered by the safe harbor provisions of such Acts. Statements other than statements of
historical or current fact in this report or referred to or incorporated by reference into this report are "forward-looking statements" for purposes of these safe harbor

"o "o

provisions. These statements can sometimes be identified by the use of the forward-looking words such as "may," "believe," "will," "expect," "project,” "estimate,"”
"should," "anticipate,” "plan," "goal," "continue," "seek,” "pro forma," "forecast," "intend," "guidance," "optimistic," "aspire," "confident," other forms of these
words or similar words or expressions or the negatives thereof. Statements regarding past performance, efforts, or results about which inferences or assumptions
may be made can also be forward-looking statements and are not indicative of future performance or results; these statements can be identified by the use of words
such as "preliminary,” "initial," "potential," "possible," "diligence," "industry-leading," "compliant,” "indications," or "early feedback" or other forms of these
words or similar words or expressions or the negatives thereof. These forward-looking statements are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties that could cause
our results or future business, financial condition, results of operations or performance to differ materially from our historical results or experiences or those
expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements contained in this report. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: the spin-off of our
critical care product group, our ability to develop new products and avoid manufacturing and quality issues, clinical trial or commercial results or new product
approvals and therapy adoption; the impact of domestic and global economic conditions; competition in the markets in which we operate, our reliance on vendors,
suppliers, and other third parties; damage, failure, or interruption of our information technology systems, the impact of public health crises, consolidation in the
healthcare industry,; our ability to protect our intellectual property; our compliance with applicable regulations; our exposure to product liability claims; use of our
products in unapproved circumstances, changes to reimbursement for our products,; the impact of currency exchange rates; unanticipated actions by the United
States Food and Drug Administration and other regulatory agencies; changes to tax laws, unexpected impacts or expenses of litigation or internal or government
investigations, and other risks detailed under "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A below, as such risks and uncertainties may be amended, supplemented or superseded
from time to time by our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K we file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date on which they are made and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of the statement. If we do update or correct one or more of these statements, investors and others should not conclude that we will make
additional updates or corrections.

Unless otherwise indicated or otherwise required by the context, the terms "we," "our," "it," "its," "Company," "Edwards," and "Edwards Lifesciences" refer to
Edwards Lifesciences Corporation and its subsidiaries.

WEBSITE REFERENCES
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we make references to our website at www.edwards.com. References to our website through this Form 10-K are provided for

convenience only and the content of our website does not constitute a part of, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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Item 1. Business
Overview

Edwards Lifesciences Corporation is the global leader in patient-focused medical innovations for structural heart disease and critical care monitoring. Driven
by a passion to help patients, we partner with the world’s leading clinicians and researchers and invest in research and development to transform care for those
impacted by structural heart disease or who require hemodynamic monitoring during surgery or in intensive care. Edwards Lifesciences has been a leader in our field
for over six decades. Since our founder, Lowell Edwards, first dreamed of using engineering to address diseases of the human heart, we have steadily built a
company on the premise of imagining, building, and realizing a better future for patients.

A pioneer in the development of heart valve therapies, we are the world's leading manufacturer of heart valve systems and repair products used to replace or
repair a patient's diseased or defective heart valve. Our innovative work in heart valves encompasses both surgical and transcatheter therapies for heart valve
replacement and repair. In addition, our robust pipeline of future technologies is focused on the less invasive repair or replacement of the mitral and tricuspid valves
of the heart, which are more complex and more challenging to treat than the aortic valve. We are also a global leader in hemodynamic and noninvasive brain and
tissue oxygenation monitoring systems used to measure a patient's cardiovascular function in the hospital setting.

Cardiovascular disease is the number-one cause of death in the world and is the top disease in terms of health care spending in nearly every country. In the U.S.
alone, one cardiovascular patient dies every 33 seconds. Cardiovascular disease is progressive in that it tends to worsen over time and often affects the structure of an
individual's heart. Our vision is to transform patient care where patients are diagnosed earlier, treated in a routine fashion, living longer and enjoying a better quality
of life.

Patients undergoing treatment for cardiovascular disease can be treated with a number of our medical technologies, which are designed to address individual
patient needs with respect to disease process, comorbidities, and health status. For example, an individual with a heart valve disorder may have a faulty valve that is
affecting the function of his or her heart or blood flow throughout his or her body. A cardiac surgeon may elect to remove the valve and replace it with one of our
bioprosthetic surgical tissue heart valves or surgically re-shape and repair the faulty valve with an Edwards Lifesciences annuloplasty ring. Alternatively, a clinician
(typically an interventional cardiologist) may implant an Edwards Lifesciences transcatheter valve or repair system via a catheter-based approach that does not
require traditional open-heart surgery and can be done while the heart continues to beat. Patients in the hospital setting, including high-risk patients in the operating
room or intensive care unit, are candidates for having their cardiac function or fluid levels monitored by our Critical Care products through multiple monitoring
options, including noninvasive and minimally-invasive technologies. These technologies enable proactive clinical decisions while also providing the opportunity for
improving diagnoses and developing individualized therapeutic management plans for patients.

Corporate Background

Our principal executive offices are located at One Edwards Way, Irvine, California 92614. The telephone number at that address is (949) 250-2500. We make
available, free of charge on our website located at www.edwards.com, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-
K, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The
contents of our website are not incorporated by reference into this report.

Edwards Lifesciences' Product and Technology Offerings

The following discussion summarizes the main groups of products and technologies we offer to treat advanced cardiovascular disease. Our products and
technologies are categorized into four main groups: Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement, Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies, Surgical Structural Heart,
and Critical Care. For more information on net sales from these four main groups, see "Net Sales by Product Group" in Part 11, Item 7 "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement
We are the global leader in transcatheter heart valve replacement technologies designed for the minimally-invasive replacement of aortic heart valves. The

Edwards SAPIEN family of valves, including the Edwards SAPIEN 3, the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra, and the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra RESILIA systems, are
catheter-based approaches for treating patients who
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have severe symptomatic aortic stenosis. The SAPIEN 3 valves are delivered while the heart is still beating. The majority of procedures are conducted without the
use of general anesthesia and patients are discharged home within one to two days. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement with the SAPIEN 3 family of valves
enables patients to recover more quickly and return to a better quality of life sooner than patients receiving traditional open heart surgical therapies. Edwards'
transcatheter aortic heart valves were first commercialized in Europe in 2007, in the United States in 2011, and in Japan in 2013. Edwards has partnered with the
physician community to generate groundbreaking data that has expanded access to patients of all risk profiles. In 2023, The PARTNER 3 Trial, which demonstrated a
99% freedom from stroke or mortality at 1 year, had 5-year data presented with a 90% freedom from all-cause mortality. The SAP/EN 3 platform remains the only
transcatheter heart valve with a THV-in-THV indication for patients assessed at high-risk for surgical replacement, offering patients the ability to have a second
minimally invasive procedure. The SAPIEN family of valves are the most widely implanted transcatheter heart valves in the world with over one million patients
lives impacted since launch. Additionally, the Edwards SAPIEN 3 system and Alferra system offer a minimally invasive option for pulmonary valve replacement for
patients with congenital heart disease.

Sales of our transcatheter aortic valve replacement products represented 65% of our net sales in each of 2023, 2022, and 2021.
Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies

We continue to make significant investments in the development of transcatheter heart valve repair and replacement technologies designed to treat mitral and
tricuspid valve diseases. While many of these technologies are in development and clinical phases, the PASCAL PRECISION and Cardioband transcatheter valve
repair systems are commercially available in Europe for mitral and tricuspid valve repair. As of 2023, the PASCAL PRECISION system is also commercially
available in the U.S. and Japan for degenerative mitral regurgitation patients. The PASCAL PRECISION system addresses the needs of patients with mitral or
tricuspid regurgitation through leaflet approximation, while the Cardioband system enables clinicians to reduce the valve's annulus and lower regurgitation. In
addition to transcatheter repair, we believe transcatheter replacement is key to unlocking the full mitral and tricuspid opportunity. We believe our mitral replacement
strategy positions us for leadership in the mid-to-long term. SAPIEN M3 is based on the proven SAPIEN valve and is designed specifically for mitral patients. For
tricuspid valve replacement, our EVOQUE system is delivered through a low-profile transfemoral sub 30-French system, and available in a variety of valve sizes to
enable treatment in a wide range of patient anatomies. In 2023, the EVOQUE system received CE Mark approval for the transcatheter treatment of eligible patients
with tricuspid regurgitation. More recently, in February 2024, the EVOQUE system received United States Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") approval for the
treatment of tricuspid regurgitation. This development will give a wide range of U.S. patients access to a treatment option that not only has the potential to improve
quality-of-life, but also showed favorable clinical trends in all-cause mortality, re-intervention, and heart failure hospitalizations. The EVOQUE system is the world's
first transcatheter valve replacement therapy to receive regulatory approval to treat tricuspid regurgitation.

Surgical Structural Heart

We continue to invest in bringing innovations to cardiac surgery patients. Our RESILIA tissue, with published clinical data showing 99% freedom from
structural valve deterioration through seven years', has set the new standard for tissue valve durability. Our flagship INSPIRIS RESILIA aortic valve, offers RESILIA
tissue and VFit technology. INSPIRIS is the leading aortic surgical valve in the world. Sales of our surgical therapies in the United States also continue to gain
traction with KONECT RESILIA, the first pre-assembled, ready to implant, tissue valved conduit for complex combined procedures.

Our latest innovation, the MITRIS RESILIA valve, is now commercially available in Europe as well as other geographies, including the U.S. and Japan, where it
has been strongly adopted by surgeons as the leading product in our mitral valve portfolio. We believe the demand for surgical structural heart therapies is growing

worldwide, and that our innovation strategy will continue to strengthen our leadership and positive impact on patients.

Sales of our surgical tissue heart valve products represented 16%, 15%, and 16% of our net sales in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

! Bavaria, et al. Five-year Outcomes of the COMMENCE trial investigating Aortic Valve Replacement with a Bioprosthetic Valve with a Novel Tissue. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons 2021 Annual
Meeting; Bartus, et al. Final 5-year outcomes following aortic valve replacement with RESILIA tissue bio prosthesis. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, 2020.
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Critical Care

We are the world leader in advanced hemodynamic monitoring systems used to measure a patient's heart function and fluid status in surgical and intensive care
settings. Edwards’ complete hemodynamic portfolio helps clinicians make proactive clinical decisions that can improve patient recovery. The portfolio includes the
minimally-invasive FloTrac and Acumen IQ sensors, the noninvasive ClearSight and Acumen IQ cuffs, and the ForeSight noninvasive tissue oximetry sensor. We
also support clinical needs with our well-established Swan-Ganz pulmonary artery catheters and arterial pressure monitoring products. Compatible with our portfolio
of sensors and catheters, the HemoSphere monitoring platform displays valuable physiological information. Our first predictive algorithm, Acumen Hypotension
Prediction Index software, alerts clinicians in advance of a patient developing dangerously low blood pressure. Our latest algorithm, Acumen Assisted Fluid
Management software, provides patient-specific fluid suggestions to help keep patients in an optimal range during surgery.

On December 7, 2023, we announced plans for a tax-free spin-off of our Critical Care product group as a separate publicly traded company to Edwards
Lifesciences' shareholders. While we expect to complete the Critical Care spin-off around the end of 2024, we remain committed to supporting strong momentum
and growth during the transition period. The team will advance innovative advanced patient monitoring solutions, with the goal of improving the quality of care for
millions of patients annually. Critical Care is currently integrating a full range of smart monitoring technologies into the seventh generation of its HemoSphere
platform, creating a unique offering of enhanced recovery tools.

Competition

The medical technology industry is highly competitive. We compete with divisions of larger companies as well as smaller companies that offer competitive
product lines in certain geographies in which we operate. We also compete with both established and newer technologies that target the patients served by our
products. New product development and technological change characterize the areas in which we compete. Our present or future products could be rendered obsolete
or uneconomical as a result of technological advances by one or more of our present or future competitors or by other therapies, including drug therapies. We believe
we hold leadership positions because we develop and produce safe and effective therapies supported by rigorous clinical studies with extensive data and with
innovative features that can enhance patient benefit and product performance and reliability, as well as benefit healthcare systems. The benefits associated with our
products are in part due to the level of customer and clinical support we provide.

The cardiovascular segment of the medical technology industry is dynamic and subject to significant change due to cost-of-care considerations, regulatory
reform, industry and customer consolidation, and evolving patient needs. The ability to provide products and technologies that demonstrate value and improve
clinical outcomes is becoming increasingly important for medical technology manufacturers.

We believe that we are a leading global competitor in each of our product lines. In Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement, our primary competitors include
Medtronic PLC, Abbott Laboratories ("Abbott"), and Boston Scientific Corporation. In Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies, our primary competitor is
Abbott, and there are a considerable number of large and small companies with development efforts in these fields. In Surgical Structural Heart, our primary
competitors include Medtronic PLC, Abbott, and Artivion, Inc (formerly CryoLife). In Critical Care, we compete primarily with a variety of companies in specific
product lines including ICU Medical, Inc., PULSION Medical Systems SE, a subsidiary of Getinge AB, Cheetah Medical, Inc., a subsidiary of Baxter International,
and LiDCO Group PLC, a subsidiary of Masimo Corporation.

Sales and Marketing

Our portfolio includes some of the most recognizable cardiovascular device product brands in treating structural heart disease today. We have a number of
product lines that require sales and marketing strategies tailored to deliver high-quality, cost-effective products and technologies to customers worldwide. Because of
the diverse global needs of the population that we serve, our distribution system consists of several direct sales forces as well as independent distributors. We are not
dependent on any single customer and no single customer accounted for 10% or more of our net sales in 2023.

To achieve optimal outcomes for patients, we conduct educational symposia and best practices training for our physician, hospital executive, service line
leadership, nursing, and clinical-based customers. We rely extensively on our sales and field clinical specialist personnel who work closely with our customers in
hospitals. Field clinical specialists routinely attend procedures where Edwards' products are being used in order to provide guidance on the use of our devices,
thereby enabling physicians and staff to reach expert proficiency and deliver positive patient outcomes. In addition to working closely with
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physicians, nurses, and other clinical personnel, our customers include decision makers such as service line leaders, material managers, biomedical staff, hospital
administrators and executives, purchasing managers, and ministries of health. Also, for certain of our product lines and where appropriate, our corporate sales team
actively pursues approval of Edwards Lifesciences as a qualified supplier for hospital group purchasing organizations ("GPOs") that negotiate contracts with
suppliers of medical products. Additionally, we have contracts with a number of United States and European national and regional buying groups, including
healthcare systems and Integrated Delivery Networks. Where we choose to market our products is also influenced by the existence of, or potential for, adequate
reimbursement to hospitals and other providers by national healthcare systems.

United States. In the United States, we sell substantially all of our products through our direct sales forces. In 2023, 58% of our net sales were derived from
sales to customers in the United States.

Outside of the United States. 1n 2023, 42% of our net sales were derived outside of the United States through our direct sales forces and independent
distributors. Of the total sales outside of the United States, 53% were in Europe, 18% were in Japan, and 28% were in Rest of World. We sell our products in
approximately 100 countries, including Japan, Germany, France, United Kingdom, Italy, China, and Canada. A majority of the sales and marketing approach outside
of the United States is direct sales, although it varies depending on each country's size and state of development.

Raw Materials and Manufacturing

We operate manufacturing facilities in various geographies around the world. We manufacture our Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement, Transcatheter
Mitral and Tricuspid technologies, and Structural Surgical Heart products primarily in the United States (California and Utah), Singapore, Costa Rica, and Ireland.
We manufacture our Critical Care products primarily in the Dominican Republic and Puerto Rico.

We use a diverse and broad range of raw and organic materials in the design, development, and manufacture of our products. We manufacture our non-
implantable products from fabricated raw materials including resins, chemicals, electronics, and metals. Most of our replacement heart valves are manufactured from
natural tissues harvested from animal tissue as well as fabricated materials. We purchase certain materials and components used in manufacturing our products from
external suppliers. In addition, we purchase certain supplies from single sources for reasons of sole source availability or constraints resulting from regulatory
requirements.

We work with our suppliers to mitigate risk and seek continuity of supply while maintaining quality and reliability. Alternative supplier options are generally
considered, identified, and approved for materials deemed critical to our products, although we do not typically pursue immediate regulatory qualification of
alternative sources due to the strength of our existing supplier relationships and the time and expense associated with the regulatory validation process.

We comply with all current global guidelines regarding risks for products incorporating animal tissue intended to be implanted in humans. We follow rigorous
sourcing and manufacturing procedures intended to safeguard humans from potential risks associated with diseases such as bovine spongiform encephalopathy
("BSE"). We obtain bovine tissue used in our pericardial tissue valve products only from sources within the United States and Australia, where strong control
measures and surveillance programs exist. In addition, bovine tissue used in our pericardial tissue valve products is from tissue types considered by global health and
regulatory organizations to have shown no risk of infectibility. Our manufacturing and sterilization processes are designed to render tissue biologically safe from all
known infectious agents and viruses.

Quality Assurance

We are committed to providing quality products to patients and have implemented modern quality systems and concepts throughout the organization. The
quality system starts with the initial design concept, risk management, and product specification, and continues through the design of the product, packaging and
labeling, and the manufacturing, sales, support, and servicing of the product. The quality system is intended to design quality into the products and uses continuous
improvement concepts, including Lean/Six Sigma principles, throughout the product lifecycle.

Our operations are frequently inspected by the many regulators that oversee medical device manufacturing, including the FDA, European Notified Bodies, and
other regulatory entities. The medical technology industry is highly regulated and our facilities and operations are designed to comply with all applicable quality
systems standards, including the International Organization for Standardization ("ISO") 13485:2016. These standards require, among other items, quality system
controls that are applied to product design, component material, suppliers, and manufacturing operations. These regulatory approvals and ISO certifications can be
obtained only after a successful audit of a company's quality system has been conducted by regulatory
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or independent outside auditors. Periodic reexamination by an independent outside auditor is required to maintain these certifications.
Environmental, Health, and Safety

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace and complying with all relevant regulations and medical technology industry standards. Through
our corporate and site level Environmental, Health, and Safety functions, we establish and monitor programs to reduce pollution, prevent injuries, and maintain
compliance with applicable regulations. In order to measure performance, we monitor and report on a number of metrics, including regulated and non-regulated
waste disposal, energy usage, water consumption, air toxic emissions, and injuries from our production activities. Each of our manufacturing sites is evaluated
regularly with respect to a broad range of Environmental, Health, and Safety criteria.

Research and Development

In 2023, we made significant investments in research and development as we worked to develop therapies that we believe have the potential to change the
practice of medicine. Research and development spending increased 13% year over year, representing 18% of 2023 sales. This increase was primarily the result of
significant investments in our transcatheter structural heart programs, including an increase in clinical research for our mitral, aortic, and tricuspid therapies. We are
engaged in ongoing research and development to deliver clinically advanced new products, to enhance the effectiveness, ease of use, safety, and reliability of our
current leading products, and to expand the applications of our products as appropriate. We focus on opportunities within specific areas of structural heart disease
and critical care monitoring.

A considerable portion of our research and development investment includes clinical trials and the collection of evidence that provide data for use in regulatory
submissions, and required post-market approval studies involving applications of our products. Our investment in clinical studies also includes outcomes and cost-
effectiveness data for payers, clinicians, and healthcare systems.

In Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement, we are developing new products to further improve and streamline transcatheter aortic heart valve replacement
procedures.

In Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies, we are making significant investments in innovation and clinical evidence to develop technologies designed to
treat mitral and tricuspid valve diseases.

Our Surgical Structural Heart development programs include innovative platforms for patients who are best treated surgically, specifically active patients and
patients with more complex combined procedures.

In our Critical Care product line, we are pursuing the development of a variety of decision support solutions for our clinicians. This includes next-generation
noninvasive and minimally-invasive hemodynamic monitoring systems, and a next-generation monitor platform. We are also developing a decision support software
suite with advanced algorithms for proactive hemodynamic management, including a semi-closed loop system for standardized management of patient fluid levels.
Lastly, we are developing a connectivity platform that will offer clinicians additional clinical support, remote monitoring capability, analytics, and insights for their
patients” hemodynamic status.

Our research and development activities are conducted primarily in facilities located in the United States and Israel. Our experienced research and development
staff are focused on product design and development, quality, clinical research, and regulatory compliance. To pursue primary research efforts, we have developed
alliances with several leading research institutions and universities, and also work with leading clinicians around the world in conducting scientific studies on our
existing and developing products.

Proprietary Technology

Patents, trademarks, and other proprietary rights are important to the success of our business. We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing
innovations, licensing opportunities, and non-disclosure agreements to develop and maintain our competitive position.

We own or have rights to a substantial number of patents and have patent applications pending both in the United States and in foreign countries. We continue
to innovate and file new patent applications to protect our new products and technologies.
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Additionally, we are a party to license agreements and other arrangements with various third parties pursuant to which we have obtained, for varying terms, the
exclusive or non-exclusive rights to certain patents held by such third parties in consideration for cross-licensing rights and/or royalty payments. We have also
licensed certain patent rights to others.

We undertake reasonable measures to protect our intellectual property rights. Litigation has been necessary to enforce certain patent rights held by us, and we
plan to continue to defend and prosecute our rights with respect to such patents.

Moreover, we own certain United States registered trademarks used in our business. Many of our trademarks have also been registered for use in certain
foreign countries where registration is available and where we have determined it is commercially advantageous to do so.

Government Regulation and Other Matters

Our products and facilities are subject to regulation by numerous government agencies, including the FDA, European Union member states competent
authorities, and the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency, to confirm compliance with the various laws and regulations governing the
development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, marketing, and distribution of our products.

We are also governed by federal, state, local, and international laws of general applicability, including, but not limited to, those regulating employee health and
safety, labor, competition, securities, privacy, anti-corruption, trade secret, and the protection of the environment. Overall, the amount and scope of domestic and
foreign laws and regulations applicable to our business has increased over time. Compliance with these regulations has not had a material effect on our capital
expenditures, earnings, or competitive position to date, but new regulations or amendments to existing regulations to make them more stringent could have such an
effect in the future. We cannot estimate the expenses we may incur to comply with potential new laws or changes to existing laws, or the other potential effects these
laws may have on our business.

United States Regulation. In the United States, the FDA has responsibility for regulating medical devices. The FDA regulates design, development, testing,
clinical studies, manufacturing, labeling, promotion, and record keeping for medical devices, and reporting of adverse events, recalls, or other field actions by
manufacturers and users to identify potential problems with marketed medical devices. Many of the devices that we develop and market are in a category for which
the FDA has implemented stringent clinical investigation and pre-market clearance or approval requirements. The process of obtaining FDA clearance or approval to
market a product is resource intensive, lengthy, and costly. FDA review may involve substantial delays that adversely affect the marketing and sale of our products. A
number of our products are pending regulatory clearance or approval to begin commercial sales in various markets. Ultimately, the FDA may not authorize the
commercial release of a medical device if it determines the device is not safe and effective or does not meet other regulatory standards. Additionally, even if a
product is cleared or approved, the FDA may impose restrictions or require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the effects of these products once
commercialized.

The FDA has the authority to halt the distribution of certain medical devices, detain or seize adulterated or misbranded medical devices, order the repair,
replacement, or refund of the costs of such devices, or preclude the importation of devices that are or appear violative. The FDA also conducts inspections to
determine compliance with the quality system regulations concerning the manufacturing and design of devices and current medical device reporting regulations,
recall regulations, clinical testing regulations, and other requirements. The FDA may withdraw product clearances or approvals due to failure to comply with
regulatory standards, or the occurrence of unforeseen problems following initial approval, and require notification of health professionals and others with regard to
medical devices that present unreasonable risks of substantial harm to the public health. Additionally, the failure to comply with FDA or comparable regulatory
standards or the discovery of previously unknown product problems could result in fines, delays, suspensions or withdrawals of regulatory clearances or approvals,
seizures, injunctions, recalls, refunds, civil money penalties, or criminal prosecution. Our compliance with applicable regulatory requirements is subject to continual
review. Moreover, the FDA and several other United States agencies administer controls over the export of medical devices from the United States and the import of
medical devices into the United States, which could also subject us to sanctions for noncompliance.

We are also subject to additional laws and regulations that govern our business operations, products, and technologies, including:

« federal, state, and foreign anti-kickback laws and regulations, which generally prohibit payments to anyone, including physicians as an inducement to
purchase or recommend a product;
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« the Stark law, which prohibits physicians from referring Medicare or Medicaid patients to a provider that bills these programs for the provision of certain
designated health services if the physician (or a member of the physician's immediate family) has a financial relationship with that provider;

« federal and state laws and regulations that protect the confidentiality of certain patient health information, including patient records, and restrict the use
and disclosure of such information, in particular, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996;

« the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires public disclosure of the financial relationships of United States physicians and teaching hospitals
with applicable manufacturers, including medical device, pharmaceutical, and biologics companies;

* the False Claims Act, which prohibits the submission of false or otherwise improper claims for payment to a federally funded health care program, and
health care fraud statutes that prohibit false statements and improper claims to any third-party payor; and

» the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which can be used to prosecute United States companies for arrangements with foreign government
officials or other parties, or for not keeping accurate financial records or maintaining adequate internal controls to prevent and detect arrangements with
foreign government officials or other parties.

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in criminal liability, significant fines or penalties, negative publicity, and substantial costs and
expenses associated with investigation and enforcement activities. To assist in our compliance efforts, we work to adhere to many codes of ethics and conduct
regarding our business activities in the United States and other countries in which we operate. In addition, we have in place a dedicated team to improve our internal
business compliance programs and policies.

Regulation Outside of the United States. Outside of the United States, the regulation of medical devices is complex. In Europe, our products are subject to
extensive regulatory requirements. The regulatory regime in the European Union ("EU") for medical devices became mandatory in June 1998. It requires that
medical devices may only be placed on the market if they do not compromise safety and health when properly installed, maintained, and used in accordance with
their intended purpose. National laws conforming to the EU's legislation regulate our products under the medical devices regulatory system. Although the more
variable national requirements under which medical devices were formerly regulated have been substantially replaced by the European Union Medical Devices
Directive, individual nations can still impose unique requirements that may require supplemental submissions. The EU medical device laws require manufacturers to
declare that their products conform to the essential regulatory requirements after which the products may be placed on the market bearing the CE Mark.
Manufacturers' quality systems for products in all but the lowest risk classification are also subject to certification and audit by an independent notified body. In
Europe, particular emphasis is being placed on more sophisticated and faster procedures for the reporting of adverse events to the competent authorities.

In May 2017, the EU implemented a new regulatory scheme for medical devices under the Medical Device Regulation ("MDR"). The MDR became effective
on May 26, 2021 and brought significant new requirements for many medical devices, including enhanced requirements for clinical evidence and documentation,
increased focus on device identification and traceability, new definitions and registration of economic operators throughout the distribution chain, and additional
post-market surveillance and vigilance. Compliance with the MDR requires re-certification of many of our products to the enhanced standards, and has resulted in
and will continue to result in substantial additional expense. In addition, in the EU, we import some of our devices through our offices in Switzerland. Switzerland is
not a member state of the EU, but is linked to the EU through bilateral treaties; therefore, the free movement of goods, including medical devices, between the EU
and Switzerland after implementation of the MDR requires a revised Mutual Recognition Agreement ("MRA"). If an MRA covering the MDR is not put in place,
then non-EU manufacturers may be required to make significant changes, including replacement of Swiss economic operators with operators based in EU member
states, and changes will need to be made to our device labeling and/or packaging to satisfy MDR requirements. If these measures are unable to be taken, it may no
longer be possible to place such devices on the EU market.

In Japan, pre-market approval and clinical studies are required as is governmental pricing approval for medical devices. Clinical studies are subject to a
stringent Japanese "Good Clinical Practices" standard. Approval time frames from the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare vary from simple
notifications to review periods of one or more years, depending on the complexity and risk level of the device. In addition, importation of medical devices into Japan
is subject to the "Good
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Import Practices" regulations. As with any highly regulated market, significant changes in the regulatory environment could adversely affect future sales.
In many of the other foreign countries in which we market our products, we may be subject to regulations affecting, among other things:
e product standards and specifications;
*  packaging requirements;
* labeling requirements;
*  product collection and disposal requirements;
e quality system requirements;
*  import restrictions;
e tariffs;
¢ duties; and
e tax requirements.

Many of the regulations applicable to our devices and products in these countries are similar to those of the FDA. In some regions, the level of government
regulation of medical devices is increasing, which can lengthen time to market and increase registration and approval costs. In many countries, the national health or
social security organizations require our products to be qualified before they can be marketed and considered eligible for reimbursement.

Health Care Initiatives. Government and private sector initiatives to limit the growth of health care costs, including price regulation and competitive pricing,
coverage and payment policies, comparative effectiveness reviews, technology assessments, increasing evidentiary demands, and managed-care arrangements, are
continuing in many countries where we do business, including the United States, Europe, and Japan. As a result of these changes, the marketplace has placed
increased emphasis on the delivery of more cost-effective medical therapies. For example, government programs, private health care insurance, and managed-care
plans have attempted to control costs by restricting coverage and limiting the level of reimbursement for procedures or treatments, and some third-party payors
require their pre-approval before new or innovative devices or therapies are utilized by patients. These various initiatives have created increased price sensitivity
over medical products generally and may impact demand for our products and technologies.

The delivery of our products is subject to regulation by the United States Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") and comparable state and foreign
agencies responsible for reimbursement and regulation of health care items and services. Foreign governments also impose regulations in connection with their
health care reimbursement programs and the delivery of health care items and services. Reimbursement schedules regulate the amount the United States government
will reimburse hospitals and doctors for the inpatient care of persons covered by Medicare. HHS' Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") may also
review whether and/or under what circumstances a procedure or technology is reimbursable for Medicare beneficiaries. Changes in current coverage and
reimbursement levels could have an adverse effect on market demand and our pricing flexibility. The CMS National Coverage Determination for Transcatheter
Aortic Valve Replacement was issued in June 2019. The modernized requirements and more streamlined patient evaluation process are meaningful enhancements
that may help ensure equitable access for more patients suffering from severe aortic stenosis.

Health care cost containment efforts have also prompted domestic hospitals and other customers of medical device manufacturers to consolidate into larger
purchasing groups to enhance purchasing power. The medical technology industry has also experienced some consolidation, partly in order to offer a broader range
of products to large purchasers. As a result, transactions with customers are larger, more complex, and tend to involve more long-term contracts than in the past.
These larger customers, due to their enhanced purchasing power, may have a material impact on product pricing.

These laws or any future legislation, including deficit reduction legislation, could impact medical procedure volumes, reimbursement for our products, and
demand for our products or the prices at which we sell our products.
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Seasonality

Our quarterly sales are influenced by many factors, including new product introductions, acquisitions, regulatory approvals, patient and physician holiday
schedules, and other factors. Sales in the third quarter are typically lower than other quarters of the year due to the seasonality of the United States and European
markets, where summer vacation schedules normally result in fewer medical procedures.

Human Capital Management Strategy
Human Capital Management ("HCM") Governance

The primary goals of our talent management strategy are to attract, develop and retain a motivated, professional workforce and to ensure alignment on our
patient-focused innovation strategy.

Our Board of Directors routinely engages with leadership to review and discuss our human capital management ("HCM"), with time dedicated at each regularly
scheduled meeting to discuss talent management, which include topics such as talent strategy, diversity, succession planning, employee development, employee
health, safety, and welfare, results of employee surveys, and compensation. Our Board of Directors also annually approves the strategic talent imperatives that are
tied to our Key Operating Drivers ("KODs"). Our KODs are tracked using a point system across our entire organization that focus the Company and management
toward short-, medium-, and long-term goals. The strategic talent imperatives are developed to identify talent related initiatives that support achievement of the
KODs.

In addition, the Chief Executive Officer ("CEQO") and his leadership team have talent management related performance goals tied to their compensation; these
Performance Management Objectives are reviewed on an annual basis, tracked, and then reported to and evaluated by our Board of Directors.

As we scale to reach more patients around the world, we have integrated our Talent & Organization (“T&O”) Strategy with our Edwards Strategic Planning
process. The purpose of our T&O Strategy is to anticipate global trends related to our workforce, develop our talent to meet future organizational needs, and enable
us to be well-poised to meet these needs. Our T&O Strategy enables us to explore external workforce signals, share insights, and identify and build emerging
capabilities across our organization. We have also developed a comprehensive succession planning process that allows us to build strong talent from within while we
pursue an aggressive recruiting process to fill any gaps with highly qualified external talent. This consistent and scalable approach looks across all our product
groups, regions, and significant functions to align and elevate priorities, critical capabilities, and organizational evolutions in line with our strategic plan. This
integrated approach informs our yearly objectives and fuels our talent roadmap across the strategic horizon.

Our HCM governance includes a global talent development review ("TDR") process to align our talent strategies with our business strategy, assess talent
against future organizational needs, evaluate critical talent populations, and enhance the strength of our succession planning. We track our performance regularly.

Culture

Investing in our workforce means our employees can stay focused on our patient-focused innovation strategy and the development of life-saving therapies for
the patients we serve. We are committed to maintaining an ethical culture where we celebrate diversity, promote good health and safety, empower employees to
speak up, and ensure that employees' voices are heard. We strive to offer competitive employee well-being packages and are committed to fair and equitable pay
practices. We track compensation patterns in all geographies where we operate, and we regularly look for ways to ensure fair and equitable pay.

Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging
We are committed to fostering an environment where all employees can grow and thrive. A diverse workforce results in a broader range of perspectives,
helping drive our commitment to innovation. We have established a Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging strategy that includes our four focus areas of Business,

People, Communication, and Community, and whose overriding priority is "The Patient." As a practice, all employees receive unconscious bias training as a
foundational aspect of our culture, and we include a non-discrimination clause in our Global Business Practice Standards and Third Party Code of Conduct.
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Employee Listening

We believe in empowering our employees and providing avenues that enable their voices to be heard. We conduct a multilingual global employee survey, called
myVoice, to gain employees' feedback in a confidential manner. The CEO and Executive Leadership Team hold themselves accountable to consider and act on the
results of the survey, and these results are reviewed by management with our Board of Directors. This initiative helps us gain insights on various topics including
patient focus, diversity, inclusion and belonging, quality, innovation, engagement, as well as a sense of support at all levels of the organization. Speak-Up is a
resource available to all employees to bring forth compliance related concerns; a key element of our compliance program is that each employee is accountable for
maintaining ethical business practices. In addition, during each quarterly townhall meeting, our CEO answers questions that have been submitted to him by
employees. Answers to questions that are not covered in the townhall meeting are posted online internally.

Total Benefits and Well-being

We understand that good health leads to better performance. We offer competitive employee benefits and well-being packages that include, among other things,
health and wellness insurance, health savings accounts, family support services, and a variety of site-specific programs. We regularly evaluate our benefits package
to make modifications that are aligned with the competitive landscape, legislative changes, and the unique needs of our population. We also provide robust well-
being programs that address prevention, nutrition, mental health, physical activity, financial fitness, and community service. As part of our regular evaluation and
commitment to putting employees first, we determined our employees could benefit from support in four main areas related to health: Mind+, metabolic, heart, and
musculoskeletal health. We offer a variety of programs and education to support employees in these areas. In recent years, mental well-being has become a central
topic for organizations worldwide. Mind+ offers a wide variety of mental well-being programs for our employees. This commitment extends to creating a work
environment where employees can feel confident speaking about mental well-being with their managers and know how best to access the tools and resources
available to support them. We believe there are strong benefits when employees are feeling their best. Employees who are mentally healthy are more innovative,
resilient, better decision-makers, and able to build stronger relationships. We also believe that prioritizing and promoting Mind+ allows us to help patients around the
world to live longer, healthier, and more productive lives and supports employees to be their best self at home and at work.

Talent Development

Developing talent around the globe is critical to achieving our mission at Edwards. We believe in developing talent from within and have a long-term
commitment to building the leadership and technical skills for the present and future needs of the business. Edwards provides in-depth learning and development
resources for employees at all levels, including blended learning opportunities such as in-person, virtual, and online courses, capability assessments, coaching, and
developmental experiences. We are committed to enabling our employees to have long-term careers at Edwards by encouraging each employee to take ownership of
their professional development, engage in the significant resources available, and leverage the performance management and feedback process to be on a journey of
continuous growth. We also encourage managers to be involved in helping their employees develop enhanced personal, professional, and leadership skills. Our
learning and development strategy aims to have a balanced focus on building leadership and technical capabilities, with resources dedicated to building learning and
development for global leaders, such as our course on ethical decision making for managers, and developing technical skills and capabilities for unique talent
segments. Our learning and development initiatives are designed to support and sustain Edwards’ values and unique culture, inspiring our employees to collaborate,
innovate, and grow, ultimately enabling us to better serve our patients.

Headcount and Labor Representation
As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately 19,800 employees worldwide, the majority of whom were located in the United States, Singapore, the
Dominican Republic, and Costa Rica. None of our North American employees are represented by a labor union. In various countries outside of North America, we

interact with trade unions and work councils that represent employees.

Additional details regarding diversity, talent development, compensation, and employee health and safety can be found in our Sustainability Report posted on
our website at www.edwards.com under "About Us — Corporate Responsibility."

References to our website in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are provided for convenience only and the content on our website does not constitute a part of
this Report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business and assets are subject to varying degrees of risk and uncertainty. An investor should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as other
information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the SEC. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently
deem immaterial may also adversely affect our business. If any of these events or circumstances occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations, or
prospects could be materially harmed. In that case, the value of our securities could decline and an investor could lose part or all of his or her investment. In
addition, forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws that are contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in our other filings
or statements may be subject to the risks described below as well as other risks and uncertainties. Please read the cautionary notice regarding forward-looking
statements in Part I above. Please note that the headers and summary provided below are only intended to assist the reader in navigating the risk factors; some

risks, present or future, may implicate multiple types of risks. Please read all risk factors in their entirety.
Summary of Risk Factors

The following summarizes the principal risks and uncertainties affecting our business, financial condition, and results of operations. This summary should not
be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our business and you should read this summary together with the more detailed description of
risks and uncertainties discussed below.

Business and Operating Risks

+ Failure to successfully innovate and market products

» Unsuccessful clinical trials or procedures

* Manufacturing, logistics, or quality problems

» Public health crises, including pandemics and epidemics

» Competition

» Dependence on key physicians and research institutions

» Reliance on vendors, suppliers, and other third parties

» Damage, failure, or interruption of our information technology systems, including due to cyber-based attacks and breaches
» Failure to recruit and retain qualified talent or execute management succession plans

* Underperforming operations or unsuccessful business acquisitions or strategic alliances
» Risks related to the spin-off of our Critical Care product group

Market and Other External Risks

» Risks associated with international sales and operations
» Inability to obtain government reimbursement or reductions in reimbursement levels
* Industry consolidation

Legal, Compliance and Regulatory Risks

+ Inability to protect our intellectual property

+ Inability to defend against intellectual property claims from third parties
» Compliance with government regulations

» Losses from product liability claims

» Use of products in unapproved circumstances

» Substantial costs from environmental, health and safety regulations

» Climate change

» Regulatory actions relating to animal-borne illnesses

Business and Operating Risks

Failure to successfully innovate and develop new and differentiated products in a timely manner and effectively market these products could have a material
effect on our prospects.

Our continued growth and success depend on our ability to innovate and develop new and differentiated products in a timely manner and effectively market
these products. Without the timely innovation and development of products, our products
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could be rendered obsolete or less competitive because of the introduction of a competitor’s newer technologies or changing customer preferences. Innovating
products requires the devotion of significant financial and other resources to research and development activities; however, there is no certainty that the products we
are currently developing will complete the development process, or that we will obtain the regulatory or other approvals required to market such products in a timely
manner or at all. Even if we timely innovate and develop products, our ability to successfully market them could be constrained by a number of different factors,
including competitive products and pricing, barriers in patient activation (including disease awareness, detection, and diagnosis), the need for regulatory clearance,
restrictions imposed on approved indications, and uncertainty over third-party reimbursement. Failure in any of these areas could have a material effect on our
prospects.

Unsuccessful clinical trials or procedures relating to products could have a material adverse effect on our prospects.

The regulatory approval process for new products and new indications for existing products requires extensive clinical trials and procedures, including early
clinical feasibility and regulatory studies. Unfavorable or inconsistent clinical data from current or future clinical trials or procedures conducted by us, our
competitors, or third parties, or perceptions regarding this clinical data, could adversely affect our ability to obtain necessary approvals and the market's view of our
future prospects. Such clinical trials and procedures are inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance that these trials or procedures will be enrolled or
completed in a timely or cost-effective manner or result in a commercially viable product or indication; failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our
prospects. Clinical trials or procedures may experience significant setbacks even after earlier trials have shown promising results. Further, preliminary results from
clinical trials or procedures may be contradicted by subsequent analyses. In addition, results from our clinical trials or procedures may not be supported by actual
long-term studies or clinical experience. If preliminary clinical results are later contradicted, or if initial results cannot be supported by actual long-term studies or
clinical experience, our business could be adversely affected. Clinical trials or procedures may be delayed, suspended, or terminated by us, the FDA, or other
regulatory authorities at any time if it is believed that the trial participants face unacceptable health risks or any other reasons, and any such delay, suspension, or
termination could have a material adverse effect on our prospects or the market's view of our future prospects.

If we or one of our suppliers or logistics partners encounters manufacturing, logistics, safety, or quality problems, our business could be materially adversely
affected.

The manufacture and sterilization of many of our products is highly complex due in part to rigorous regulatory requirements. Quality is extremely important
due to the serious and costly consequences of a product failure. Safety is also critically important. Problems can arise for a number of reasons, including disruption
of facility utilities, equipment malfunction, failure to follow protocols and procedures, raw material problems, software problems, cyber incidents, or human error.
Disruptions can occur at any time, including during production line transfers and expansions. Disruptions can also occur if our manufacturing and warehousing
facilities are damaged by earthquakes, hurricanes, volcanoes, fires, and other natural disasters or catastrophic circumstances. As we expand into new markets and
scale new products for commercial production, we may face unanticipated delays or surges in demand which could strain our production capacity and lead to other
types of disruption. If any of these manufacturing, logistics, or quality problems arise or if we or one of our suppliers or logistics partners otherwise fail to meet
internal quality standards or those of the FDA or other applicable regulatory body, our reputation could be damaged, we could become subject to a safety alert or a
recall, we could incur product liability and other costs, product approvals and production could be delayed, and our business could otherwise be materially adversely
affected.

We are subject to risks associated with public health crises, particularly with respect to the pressures that such crises create on the hospital systems and supply
chains in which we operate.

We are subject to risks associated with public health crises, including pandemics and epidemics, such as COVID-19. Other public health crises, including any
future epidemics or pandemics, are highly uncertain and difficult to predict, and could result in material adverse impacts on our business and financial condition.

We operate in highly competitive markets, and if we do not compete effectively, our business will be harmed.
We face substantial competition and compete with technologies of many types and companies of all sizes on the basis of cost-effectiveness, technological
innovations, product performance, brand name recognition, breadth of product offerings, real or perceived product advantages, pricing and availability and rate of

reimbursement. In addition, given the trend toward value-based healthcare, if we are not able to continue to demonstrate the full value of our differentiated products
to healthcare providers and payors, our competitive position could be adversely affected. See "Competition" under "Business" in Part I, Item 1 included herein.
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The success of many of our products depends upon certain key physicians and research institutions.

We work with leading global physicians and research institutions who provide considerable knowledge and experience. These physicians may assist us as
researchers, marketing consultants, product trainers and consultants, inventors, and as public speakers. If new laws, regulations, or other developments limit our
ability to appropriately engage these professionals or with the research institutions of which they are a part or to continue to receive their advice and input or we are
otherwise unsuccessful in maintaining strong working relationships with these physicians or their research institutions, the development, marketing, and successful
use of our products could suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We rely on third parties in the design, manufacture, and sterilization of our products. Any failure by or loss of a vendor could result in delays and increased
costs, which may adversely affect our business.

We rely on third parties for a broad range of raw and organic materials and other items in the design, manufacture, and sterilization of our products, and we
purchase certain supplies and services from single sources for reasons of quality assurance, cost-effectiveness, availability, constraints resulting from regulatory
requirements, and other reasons. We experience from time to time, and may continue to experience, supply interruptions due to a variety of factors, including:

*  General economic conditions that could adversely affect the financial viability of our vendors;

*  Vendors' election to no longer service or supply medical technology companies, including due to the burdens of applicable quality requirements and
regulations or for no reason at all;

*  The limitation or ban of certain chemicals or other materials used in the manufacture of our products; and
*  Delays or shortages due to trade or regulatory embargoes.

Additionally, any significant increases in the cost of raw materials, whether due to inflationary pressure, supply constraints, regulatory changes, or otherwise,
could adversely impact our operating results. A change or addition to our vendors could require significant effort due to the rigorous regulations and requirements of
the FDA and other regulatory authorities; it could be difficult to establish additional or replacement sources on a timely basis or at all, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

Failure to protect our information technology infrastructure and our products against cyber-based attacks, network security breaches, service interruptions, or
data corruption could materially disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business and operating results.

The operation of our business depends on our information technology systems. We rely on our information technology systems to, among other things,
effectively manage sales and marketing data, accounting and financial functions, inventory management, product development tasks, clinical data, customer service
and technical support functions. Our information technology systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods and other natural
disasters, terrorist attacks, power losses, computer system or data network failures, security breaches, and data corruption.

In addition, our information technology infrastructure and products are vulnerable to cyber-based attacks. Cyber-based attacks can include, but are not limited
to, computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks, phishing attacks, ransomware attacks, and other introduction of malware to computers and networks; unauthorized
access through the use of compromised credentials; exploitation of design flaws, bugs, or security vulnerabilities; intentional or unintentional acts by employees or
other insiders with access privileges; and intentional acts of vandalism by third parties and sabotage. In addition, United States federal and state laws and regulations,
and the laws and regulations of jurisdictions outside of the United States, such as the General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") adopted by the European Union
and the California Privacy Rights Act ("CRPA") and the California Consumer Privacy Act, as amended by the CRPA (the "CCPA"), can expose us to investigations
and enforcement actions by regulatory authorities and claims from individuals potentially resulting in penalties and significant legal liability, if our information
technology security efforts are inadequate. In addition, we rely upon technology suppliers, including cloud-based data management applications hosted by third-party
service providers, whose security and information technology systems are subject to similar risks.
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Significant disruption in either our or our service providers’ or suppliers’ information technology or the security of our products could impede our operations or
result in decreased sales, result in liability claims or regulatory penalties, or lead to increased overhead costs, product shortages, loss or misuse of proprietary or
confidential information, intellectual property, or sensitive or personal information, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business,
financial condition, and operating results.

Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to recruit and retain qualified talent or are otherwise unsuccessful in the
execution of our management succession plans.

Our continued success depends, in large part, on our ability to hire and retain qualified people and execute on our talent management and succession plans, and
if we are unable to do so, our business and operations may be impaired or disrupted. See "Human Capital Management Strategy" under "Business" in Part I, Item 1
included herein. Competition for highly qualified people is intense, and there is no assurance that we will be successful in attracting or retaining replacements to fill
vacant positions, successors to fill retirements or employees moving to new positions, or other highly qualified personnel.

If we identify underperforming operations or products or if there are unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures in connection with business acquisitions
or strategic alliances, we may be required, from time to time, to recognize charges, which could be substantial and which could adversely affect our results of
operations.

We actively manage a portfolio of research and development products, and we regularly explore potential acquisitions of complementary businesses,
technologies, services, or products, as well as potential strategic alliances. From time to time, we identify operations and products that are underperforming, do not
fit with our longer-term business strategy or there may be unforeseen operating difficulties and significant expenditures during the integration of an acquired
business, technology, service, or product into our existing operations. We may seek to dispose of these underperforming operations or products, and we may also
seek to dispose of other operations or products for strategic or other business reasons. If we cannot dispose of an operation or product on acceptable terms, we may
voluntarily cease operations related to that product. In addition, we may be required to take charges or write-downs in connection with acquisitions and divestitures.
In particular, acquisitions of businesses engaged in the development of new products may give rise to developed technology and/or in-process research and
development assets. To the extent that the value of these assets decline, we may be required to write down the value of the assets. Also, in connection with certain
asset acquisitions, we may be required to take an immediate charge related to acquired in-process research and development assets. Any of these events could result
in charges, which could be substantial and which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We may not be able to complete the announced spin-off of our Critical Care product group at all, or within the timeframes we anticipate, or pursuant to the
tax-free structure that we anticipate, and we may not realize some or all of the expected benefits of this transaction.

On December 7, 2023, we announced our intention to complete a tax-free spin-off of our Critical Care product group at the end of 2024. We also announced
our intention to submit a Form 10 with the SEC in mid-year 2024. In connection with this spin-off and the separation of the Critical Care product group from the rest
of Edwards, we will be required to satisfy all necessary governance, contractual, and regulatory conditions, among other, including those required by third parties. A
failure to satisfy all necessary conditions could delay or prevent the spin-off from occurring or could result in us completing the spin-off on terms less than favorable
to us. In addition, we will incur significant costs associated with the spin-off, which may be significantly higher than projected. Our intention is to complete the spin-
off on a tax-free basis, however, there is no assurance that the spin-off will qualify tax-free as intended, which may result in a significant tax liability. Lastly,
preparing and structuring the spin-off requires significant resources from Edwards, including but not limited to management’s attention, financial support for the new
company, and the collective employee effort to separate the Critical Care product group from the rest of Edwards while continuing to operate in the normal course of
business. There is no assurance that the spin-off will occur at all or that the execution, timing, and structure of the spin-off will proceed as intended. There may be a
sudden or unpredictable reaction to the spin-off by the investors and financial institutions, which would affect our stock market price. If we don’t realize some or all
of the benefits of the spin-off, our business and financial condition and those of the newly spun-off company will be materially adversely affected.
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Assuming the spin-off is successfully completed, the newly spun-off Critical Care company as a standalone public company may not deliver the returns that we
or the shareholders anticipate.

The Company plans to spin-off the Critical Care product group into a successful independent public company to be able to increase focus and flexibility to
build upon its global leadership position in advanced patient monitoring, transforming care through Al-enabled smart monitoring solutions while expanding its reach
to millions of patients around the world. The intention for the newly spun-off company is to retain its Chief Executive Officer and other senior leaders, however,
there is no assurance that we or the newly spun-off company will be able to do so, which may materially impact the operations of the newly spun-off company. In
addition, the new spin-off will result in a smaller, less diversified standalone company than it was as part of Edwards, which may make it more susceptible to
macroeconomic trends, geopolitical risks, financial volatility, and changing market and regulatory conditions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition and operations. The newly spun-off company will incur ongoing costs related to the separation and its public listing, and its transition to a
standalone public company, if executed at all, may not be executed as anticipated. Lastly, we cannot predict whether the market value of our stock and the stock of
the spun-off company after the completion of the transaction, will be, in the aggregate, less than, equal to, or greater than the market value of our stock prior to the
spin-off. There is no assurance that the newly spun-off company will be successful as a standalone public company, and if it is not successful, that would have a
material adverse impact on the operations and financial condition of the newly spun-off company.

Market and Other External Risks
Because we operate globally, our business is subject to a variety of risks associated with international sales and operations.

Our extensive global operations and business activity as well as the fact that many of our manufacturing facilities and suppliers are outside of the United States
exposes us to certain financial, economic, political, and other risks, including those listed below.

Domestic and Global Economic Conditions. We have been impacted and may continue to be negatively impacted by general domestic and global economic
conditions, although we cannot predict the extent to which such conditions may negatively impact our business. These include, but are not limited to, conditions
impacting inflation, credit and capital markets, interest rates, tax law, including tax rate and policy changes, factors affecting global economic stability, and the
political environment relating to health care. These and other conditions could also adversely affect our customers, payers, vendors and other stakeholders and may
impact their ability or decision to purchase our products or make payments on a timely basis.

Health Care Legislation and Other Regulations. We are subject to various federal and foreign laws that govern our domestic and international business
practices. For example, in the United States, the Affordable Care Act, the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015, and the 21st Century Cures Act,
or any future legislation, including deficit reduction legislation, could impact medical procedure volumes, reimbursement for our products, and demand for our
products or the prices at which we sell our products. In addition, a Mutual Recognition Agreement still under negotiation for the Medical Device Regulation can
result in a lack of free movement of medical devices between the European Union and Switzerland, can impact our access in the European Union and can, ultimately,
have a material effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. For more information about these laws as they relate to our business, see the
section entitled “Government Regulation and Other Matters” in Part I, Item 1, “Business.”

In addition, the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the United Kingdom Bribery Act, and similar laws in other jurisdictions contain prohibitions
against bribery and other illegal payments, and make it an offense to fail to have procedures in place that prevent such payments. Penalties resulting from any
violation of these laws could adversely affect us and our business.

Taxes. We are subject to income taxes in the United States as well as other jurisdictions.

e Provision for Income Taxes. Our provision for income taxes and our effective tax rate could fluctuate due to changes in the mix of earnings and losses in
countries with differing statutory tax rates. Our income tax provision could also be impacted by changes in excess tax benefits of stock-based
compensation, federal and state tax credits, non-deductible expenses, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and our ability to
utilize them, the applicability and creditability of withholding taxes, and effects from acquisitions.

e Tax Reform. Our provision for income taxes could be materially impacted by changes in accounting principles or evolving tax laws, including, but not
limited to, global corporate tax reform and base-erosion and tax transparency efforts. For example, many countries are aligning their international tax
rules with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting recommendations and action plans that aim
to
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standardize and modernize international corporate tax policy, including changes to cross-border taxes, transfer pricing documentation rules, nexus-based
tax practices, and taxation of digital activities. The effective dates of implementation, the interactions of tax reforms in multiple jurisdictions, and
uncertainty related to dispute resolution mechanisms could impact our provision for income taxes.

e Tax Audits. We are subject to ongoing tax audits in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax authorities have disagreed and may disagree with
certain positions we have taken and assess additional taxes that could be material. Please review Note 18 (Income Taxes) to our "Consolidated Financial
Statements" in this report for information regarding our current audits and disputes with tax authorities. Although we regularly assess the likely
outcomes of the audits and record reserves for potential tax payments, the calculation of tax liabilities involves the application of complex tax laws, and
our estimates could be different than the amounts for which we are ultimately liable. In addition, we may decide to challenge any assessments, if made,
and may exercise our right to appeal, which could result in expensive and time-consuming litigation that may ultimately be unsuccessful.

«  Tax Incentives. We benefit from various global tax incentives extended to encourage investment or employment. Several foreign jurisdictions have
granted us tax incentives which require renewal at various times in the future. If our incentives are not renewed or we cannot or do not wish to satisfy all
or part of the tax incentive conditions, we may lose the tax incentives and could be required to refund tax incentives previously realized. As a result, our
provision for income taxes could be higher than it would have been had we maintained the benefits of the tax incentives.

Other economic, political, and social risks. In addition to the factors enumerated above, we are from time to time impacted by a variety of other factors
associated with doing business internationally that can harm our future results, including the following:

« trade protection measures, quotas, embargoes, import or export requirements, and duties, tariffs, or surcharges;
«  cultural or other local factors affecting financial terms with customers;

« differing labor regulations;

«  military conflict, political unrest, or wars; and

» currency exchange rate fluctuations; that is, decreases in the value of the United States dollar to the Euro or the Japanese yen, as well as other currencies
in which we transact business, have the effect of increasing our reported sales even when the volume of sales outside of the United States has remained
constant. Increases in the value of the United States dollar relative to the Euro or the Japanese yen, as well as other currencies, have the opposite effect.
Significant increases or decreases in the value of the United States dollar could have a material adverse effect on our sales, cost of sales, or results of
operations.

If government and other third-party payors decline to reimburse our customers for our products or impose other cost containment measures to reduce
reimbursement levels, our ability to profitably sell our products will be harmed.

We sell our products and technologies to hospitals and other health care providers, nearly all of which receive reimbursement for the health care services
provided to patients from third-party payors, such as government programs (both domestic and outside of the United States), private insurance plans, and managed
care programs. The ability of customers to obtain appropriate reimbursement for their products from private and governmental third-party payors is critical to our
success. The availability of reimbursement affects which products customers purchase and the prices they are willing to pay. Reimbursement varies from country to
country and can significantly impact acceptance of new products.

Government and other third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement for
medical products and services. Reimbursement levels may be decreased in the future. Additionally, future legislation, regulation, or reimbursement policies of third-
party payors may otherwise adversely affect the demand for and price levels of our products. The introduction of cost containment incentives, combined with closer
scrutiny of health care expenditures by both private health insurers and employers, has resulted in increased discounts and contractual adjustments to hospital
charges for services performed. Hospitals or physicians may respond to such cost-containment pressures by substituting lower cost products or other therapies.
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Third-party payors may deny reimbursement if they determine that a device used in a procedure was not used in accordance with cost-effective treatment
methods as determined by such third-party payors or was used for an unapproved indication. Third-party payors may also deny reimbursement for experimental
procedures and devices. We believe that many of our existing products are cost-effective, even though the one-time cost may be significant, because they are
intended to improve quality of life and reduce overall health care costs over a long period of time. We cannot be certain that these third-party payors will recognize
these cost savings and quality of life benefits instead of merely focusing on the lower initial costs associated with competing therapies. If our products are not
considered cost-effective by third-party payors, our customers may not be reimbursed for them, resulting in lower sales of our products.

Continued consolidation in the health care industry could have an adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.

The health care industry has been consolidating, and organizations such as GPOs, independent delivery networks, and large single accounts, such as the United
States Veterans Administration, continue to consolidate purchasing decisions for many of our health care provider customers. As a result, transactions with customers
are larger and more complex, and tend to involve more long-term contracts. The purchasing power of these larger customers has increased, and may continue to
increase, causing downward pressure on product pricing. If we are not one of the providers selected by one of these organizations, we may be precluded from
making sales to its members or participants. Even if we are one of the selected providers, we may be at a disadvantage relative to other selected providers that are
able to offer volume discounts based on purchases of a broader range of medical equipment and supplies. Further, we may be required to commit to pricing that has a
material adverse effect on our revenues, profit margins, business, financial condition, and results of operations. We expect that market demand, governmental
regulation, third-party reimbursement policies, and societal pressures will continue to drive consolidation and increase pricing pressure.

Legal, Compliance, and Regulatory Risks

Our inability to protect our intellectual property or failure to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of data or other sensitive company information, by cyber-
attack or other event, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our success and competitive position are dependent in part upon our ability to protect our proprietary intellectual property through a combination of patents
and trade secrets. We cannot guarantee that the protective steps we take are adequate to protect these rights:

«  Patents issued to or licensed by us in the past or in the future may be challenged and held invalid.
e As our patents expire, we may be unsuccessful in extending their protection through patent term extensions.

*  Confidentiality agreements with certain employees, consultants, and other third parties intended to protect, in part, trade secrets and other proprietary
information could be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies.

¢ Others could independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information or gain access to our trade secrets or proprietary information,
design around our technology, or develop competing technologies.

*  Our intellectual property, other proprietary technology, and other sensitive company information is dependent on sophisticated information technology
systems and is potentially vulnerable to cyber-attacks, loss, theft, damage, destruction from system malfunction, computer viruses, loss of data privacy,
or misappropriation or misuse of it by those with permitted access, and other events.

*  We may not detect infringement.

« Intellectual property protection may also be unavailable or limited in some foreign countries.

We spend significant resources to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights, sometimes resulting in expensive and time-consuming litigation that is
complex and may ultimately be unsuccessful. Our inability to protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business or prospects.
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Third parties may claim we are infringing their intellectual property, and we could suffer significant litigation or licensing expenses or be prevented from selling
products.

During recent years, we and our competitors have been involved in substantial litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights which is
typically costly and time-consuming. We may be forced to defend against claims and legal actions alleging infringement of the intellectual property rights of others,
and, if our defense is unsuccessful, we could have significant liabilities to third parties or face injunctions that bar the sale of our products, or could require us to seek

licenses from third parties. Such licenses may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, may prevent us from manufacturing, selling, or using certain
products, or may be non-exclusive, which could provide our competitors access to the same technologies.

In addition, third parties could also obtain patents that may require us to either redesign products, negotiate licenses from such third parties, which may be
costly, unavailable or require us to exit a particular product offering.

We and our customers are subject to rigorous governmental regulations and we may incur significant expenses to comply with these regulations and develop
products that are compatible with these regulations. In addition, failure to comply with these regulations could subject us to substantial sanctions which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

The medical technologies we create, study, manufacture, and market globally are subject to rigorous regulation and scrutiny by the FDA and various other
federal, state, and foreign governmental authorities, including the European Union's European Commission who promulgated the European Medical Device
Regulation ("EU MDR"). Government regulation applies to nearly all aspects of our products’ lifecycles, including testing, clinical study, manufacturing,
transporting, sourcing, safety, labeling, storing, packaging, recordkeeping, reporting, advertising, promoting, distributing, marketing, and importing or exporting of
medical devices and products. In general, unless an exemption applies, a medical device or product must receive regulatory approval or clearance before it can be
marketed or sold. Modifications to existing products or the marketing of new uses for existing products also may require regulatory approvals, approval supplements,
or clearances. If we are unable to obtain these required approvals, we may be required to cease manufacturing and sale, or recall or restrict the use of such modified
device, pay fines, or take other action until such time as appropriate clearance or approval is obtained. More specifically relating to the EU MDR which came into
effect in May 2017 and became applicable in May 2021 with a staggered transition period, all regulated products must be assessed by notified bodies (organizations
designated by EU member states) as to whether they meet the technical requirements of the EU MDR before entering the market in Europe. During the transition
period, with the influx of submissions to the notified bodies, any delay on obtaining approvals may result in a disruption of device supply or a further delay in getting
a device to market. In addition, in the EU, we import some of our devices through our offices in Switzerland. Switzerland is not a member state of the EU, but is
linked to the EU through bilateral treaties; therefore, the free movement of goods, including medical devices, between the EU and Switzerland after implementation

of the EU MDR requires a revised MRA. If an MRA covering the EU MDR is not put in place, then non-EU manufacturers may be required to make significant
changes, including replacement of Swiss economic operators with operators based in EU member states, and changes will need to be made to our device labeling

and/or packaging to satisfy EU MDR requirements. If these measures are unable to be taken, it may no longer be possible to place such devices on the EU market.

Regulatory agencies may refuse to grant approval or clearance, or review and disagree with our interpretation of approvals or clearances, or with our decision
that regulatory approval is not required or has been maintained. Regulatory submissions may require the provision of additional data and may be time consuming and
costly, and their outcome is uncertain. Regulatory agencies may also change policies, adopt additional regulations, or revise existing regulations, each of which could
prevent or delay approval or clearance of devices, or could impact our ability to market a previously cleared, approved, or unregulated device. Our failure to comply
with these regulatory requirements of the FDA, the European Commission, or other applicable regulatory requirements in the United States or elsewhere might
subject us to administratively or judicially imposed sanctions. These sanctions include, among others, warning letters, fines, civil penalties, criminal penalties,
injunctions, debarment, product seizure or detention, product recalls and total or partial suspension of production, sale and/or promotion. Any of the foregoing
actions could result in decreased sales including as a result of negative publicity and product liability claims, and could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. In addition to the sanctions for noncompliance described above, commencement of an enforcement
proceeding, inspection, or investigation could divert substantial management attention from the operation of our business and have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.

We are also subject to various United States and foreign laws pertaining to health care pricing, anti-competition, anti-corruption, and fraud and abuse, including
prohibitions on kickbacks and the submission of false claims laws and restrictions on
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relationships with physicians and other referral sources. These laws are broad in scope and are subject to evolving interpretation, which could require us to incur
substantial costs to monitor compliance. If we are found not to be in compliance, we may be required to alter our practices or have sanctions imposed against us and
our officers and employees, including substantial fines, imprisonment, and exclusion from participation in governmental health care programs.

In addition, as a global company, we are subject to global data privacy and security laws, regulations and codes of conduct that apply to our businesses. We are
required to comply with increasingly complex and changing legal and regulatory requirements that govern the collection, use, storage, security, transfer, disclosure
and other processing of personal data in the United States and in other countries, which may include, but are not limited to, The Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act, as amended ("HIPAA"), The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, the CCPA, the CRPA, and the GDPR. The
GDPR imposes stringent European Union data protection requirements and provides for significant penalties for noncompliance. HIPAA also imposes stringent data
privacy and security requirements and the regulatory authority has imposed significant fines and penalties on organizations found to be out of compliance. The
CCPA and the CRPA provides consumers with a private right of action against companies who have a security breach due to lack of appropriate security measures.
We or our third-party providers and business partners may also be subjected to audits or investigations by one or more domestic or foreign government agencies
relating to compliance with information security and privacy laws and regulations, and noncompliance with the laws and regulations could result in substantial and
material fines or class action litigation.

Additional risks related to government regulation are also described under "Health Care Legislation and Other Regulations" in the risk factor above titled
"Because we operate globally, our business is subject to a variety of risks associated with international sales and operations."

We may incur losses from product liability or other claims that could adversely affect our operating results.

Our business exposes us to potential product liability risks that are inherent in the design, manufacture, and marketing of medical technologies. Our products
are often used in surgical and intensive care settings with seriously ill patients. In addition, many of the devices we manufacture and sell are designed to be
implanted in the human body for long periods of time. Component failures, manufacturing and assembly flaws, design defects, software defects, medical procedure
errors, or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or information could result in an unsafe condition, injury to, or death of, patients. Such problems could result
in product liability, medical malpractice or other lawsuits and claims, safety alerts, or product recalls in the future. We establish reserves and may incur charges in
excess of those reserves. Although we maintain product liability and other insurance with coverages we believe are adequate, product liability or other claims may
exceed insurance coverage limits, fines, and penalties. In addition, regulatory sanctions may not be covered by insurance, or insurance may not continue to be
available or available on commercially reasonable terms. These litigation matters and regulatory actions, recalls or other actions, regardless of outcome, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, reputation, and ability to attract and retain customers.

Use of our products in unapproved circumstances could expose us to liabilities.

The marketing approval from the FDA and other regulators of certain of our products are, or are expected to be, limited to specific indications. We are
prohibited from marketing or promoting any unapproved use of our products. Physicians, however, can use these products in ways or circumstances other than those
strictly within the scope of the regulatory approval. Although the product training we provide to physicians and other health care professionals is conducted in
compliance with applicable laws, and therefore, is mainly limited to approved uses or for clinical trials, no assurance can be given that claims might not be asserted
against us if our products are used in ways or for procedures that are not approved.
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Our operations are subject to environmental, health, and safety regulations that could result in substantial costs.

Our operations are subject to environmental, health, and safety laws, and regulations concerning, among other things, the generation, handling, transportation,
and disposal of hazardous substances or wastes, the cleanup of hazardous substance releases, and emissions or discharges into the air or water. We have incurred and
may incur in the future expenditures in connection with environmental, health and safety laws, and regulations. New laws and regulations, violations of these laws or
regulations, stricter enforcement of existing requirements, or the discovery of previously unknown contamination could require us to incur costs or could become the
basis for litigation or new or increased liabilities that could be material.

Climate change, or legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change, may materially adversely affect our financial condition and business
operations.

Climate change resulting from increased concentrations of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere could present risks to our future
operations from natural disasters and extreme weather conditions, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, seismic events, wildfires, or flooding. Such extreme weather
conditions could pose physical risks to our facilities and disrupt operation of our supply chain and may impact operational costs. Concern over climate change could
result in new legal or regulatory requirements designed to mitigate the effects of climate change on the environment. If such laws or regulations are more stringent
than current legal or regulatory requirements, we may experience increased compliance burdens and costs to meet the regulatory obligations, and it may adversely
affect our raw material sourcing, manufacturing operations, and the distribution of our products.

We are subject to risks arising from concerns and/or regulatory actions relating to animal-borne illnesses, including “mad cow disease.”

Certain of our products, including pericardial tissue valves, are manufactured using bovine tissue. Concerns relating to the potential transmission of animal-
borne illnesses, including BSE, commonly known as "mad cow disease," from cows to humans may result in reduced acceptance of products containing bovine
materials. Certain medical device regulatory agencies have considered whether to continue to permit the sale of medical devices that incorporate bovine material. We
obtain bovine tissue only from closely controlled sources within the United States and Australia. The bovine tissue used in our pericardial tissue valves is from tissue
types considered by global health and regulatory organizations to have shown no risk of infectibility for the suspected BSE infectious agent. We have not
experienced any significant adverse impact on our sales as a result of concerns regarding BSE, but no assurance can be given that such an impact may not occur in
the future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

Our Information Security team manages Edwards’ Information Security Program, which is focused on assessing, identifying, and managing cyber risk and
information security threats. We evaluate cybersecurity risk on an ongoing basis, and it is a risk monitored through our overall enterprise risk management program,
including by the executive leadership and the board of directors, described below under "Governance."

To proactively manage cybersecurity risk in our organization, our management team has instituted an Edwards Information Technology Security Policy that is
available to all employees through the employee handbook and on our intranet. We also conduct regular cybersecurity awareness and training campaigns for existing
employees. Internal and external stakeholders can access the Edwards Integrity Helpline 24/7 online or by phone, to report any security incidents for escalation. We
also disclose information about our product security and provide relevant contact information for our stakeholders to report any product vulnerabilities.

To proactively identify, mitigate, and prepare for potential cybersecurity incidents, we maintain both a business continuity plan and cyber incident response
plan with formalized workflows and playbooks. We periodically conduct simulation exercises involving employees at various levels of the organization. We also
periodically engage external partners to conduct annual audits of our systems, and test our IT infrastructure. Through these channels and others, we work to
proactively identify potential vulnerabilities in our information security system. We recognize that we are exposed to cybersecurity threats associated with our use of
third-party service providers. To minimize the risk and vulnerabilities to our own systems stemming
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from such use, our Information Security team identifies and addresses known cybersecurity threats and incidents at third-party service providers on a continuous
basis. In addition, we strive to minimize cybersecurity risks when we first select or renew a vendor by including cybersecurity risk as part of our overall vendor
evaluation and due diligence process.

We have not had previous cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected us. Our risks associated with cybersecurity threats are set forth under “Risk
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A in this report.

Governance

Our Board of Directors and our Audit Committee oversee our enterprise-wide risk management, including with respect to cybersecurity. Our Chief Financial
Officer presents information on our enterprise-wide risks to the Board of Directors at each of its regularly scheduled meetings. Our SVP, Enterprise Risk
Management presents to our Board of Directors and our Audit Committee at least once a year on our significant enterprise-wide risks as well as our enterprise-wide
risk program. In addition, our Chief Information Officer (“CIO”) and our Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”) present to the Audit Committee at each
regularly scheduled Audit Committee meeting on information technology infrastructure as well as risks related to cybersecurity and information security.

The oversight of our cybersecurity program at the management level rests with the Executive Leadership Team (“ELT”) who has designated the CISO to lead
and execute on the cybersecurity program. The CISO provides regular updates to the executive leadership team, including the CEO, on our cybersecurity program
and cybersecurity risks. Our cybersecurity leaders have extensive experience in cybersecurity, including in consulting and corporate roles at Forbes 100 companies
and experience leading security incident detection and response, security architecture, and strategy programs.

Finally, management has instituted our Information Security Council and Enterprise Risk Management Council both of which are made up of senior leaders of
the Company. The Information Security Council is tasked with overseeing information security matters at Edwards, including cybersecurity. This council serves as
an escalation point for issues requiring concerted action, and in turn, informs executive management regarding information security and cybersecurity risks and
issues. The Enterprise Risk Management Council is tasked with proactive management of our enterprise-wide risks, including information security risks that also
include cybersecurity. This council is responsible for assessing, and providing input into, the enterprise risks that are presented to the Board of Directors.
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Item 2. Properties

The locations and uses of our major properties are as follows:

North America

Irvine, California (1) Corporate Headquarters, Research and Development, Regulatory and Clinical Affairs, Manufacturing,
Marketing, Administration

Draper, Utah (1),(2) Manufacturing, Administration

Haina, Dominican Republic (1),(2) Manufacturing

Anasco, Puerto Rico (2) Manufacturing

Central America

Cartago, Costa Rica (1),(2) Manufacturing

Europe

Nyon, Switzerland (1) Administration, Marketing

Prague, Czech Republic (2) Administration

Shannon, Limerick, Ireland (1),(2) Manufacturing

Asia

Singapore (1),(2) Manufacturing, Distribution, Administration

Tokyo, Japan (2) Administration, Marketing, Distribution

Shanghai, China (2) Administration, Marketing

Caesarea, Israel (2) Research and Development

(1) Owned property.
(2) Leased property.

We believe our properties have been well maintained, are in good operating condition, and are adequate for current needs. We do not anticipate difficulty in
renewing existing leases as they expire or in finding alternative facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In 2021, we initiated an internal review and investigation into whether business activities in Japan and other markets violated certain provisions of the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"). We voluntarily notified the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and the United States Department of
Justice ("DOJ") during 2021 that we engaged outside counsel to conduct this review and investigation. We have provided status updates to the SEC and DOJ since
that time. Any determination that our operations or activities are not in compliance with existing laws, including the FCPA, could result in the imposition of fines,
penalties, and equitable remedies. We cannot currently predict the final outcome of the investigation or any potential impact on our financial statements.

On September 28, 2021, Aortic Innovations LLC, a non-practicing entity, filed a lawsuit against Edwards Lifesciences Corporation and certain of its
subsidiaries (“Edwards”) in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, alleging that Edwards’ SAPIEN 3 Ultra product infringes certain of its
patents. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this matter or estimate a range of possible exposure; therefore, no amount has been accrued. We intend to
vigorously defend ourselves in this litigation.

The European Commission (the "Commission") is investigating certain business practices of Edwards including its unilateral pro-innovation (anti-copycat)
policy and patent practices. We are committed to healthy competition and are cooperating with the Commission. We cannot predict the outcome of the investigation
or the potential impact on its financial statements.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations both within and outside of the United States. Our operations, like those of other medical device
companies, involve the use of substances regulated under environmental laws, primarily in manufacturing and sterilization processes. While it is difficult to quantify
the potential impact of continuing compliance with environmental protection laws, management believes that such compliance will not have a material impact on our
financial results. Our threshold for disclosing material environmental legal proceedings involving a governmental authority where potential monetary sanctions are
involved is $1 million.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item S. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") under the symbol "EW."

Number of Stockholders

On January 31, 2024, there were 7,599 stockholders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and have no current plans to pay any cash dividends. Our current policy is to retain any future

earnings for use in our business.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that
Total Number of May Yet Be
Shares Purchased
Total Number Average as Pla):trzlf“l?:glicl Under the Plans
of Shares Price Paid Announced plansy or Programs
Period Purchased per Share or Programs (in millions) (a), (b)
October 1, 2023 through October 31, 2023 — 3 — — 3 492.8
November 1, 2023 through November 30, 2023 649,918 64.76 649,918 450.7
December 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023 5,333,315 75.41 5,333,315 1,048.5
Total 5,983,233 74.25 5,983,233

(a) InJuly 2022, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program providing for up to $1.5 billion of repurchases of our common stock, effective July
28, 2022. In December 2023, the Board of Directors approved an additional $1.0 billion of repurchases under this program. Repurchases under the program
may be made on the open market, including pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan, and in privately negotiated transactions. The repurchase program does not have an

expiration date.

(b) In December 2023, we entered into a $400.0 million accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") agreement and received, on December 12, 2023, an initial delivery
of 4.6 million shares of our common stock, representing approximately 80 percent of the total contract value. The ASR concluded and on December 29, 2023
we received an additional 0.7 million shares. Shares purchased pursuant to the ASR agreement are presented in the table above in the periods in which they

were received.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of our common stock with that of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Health Care Equipment Index. The
cumulative total return listed below assumes an initial investment of $100 at the market close on December 31, 2018 and reinvestment of dividends. Stockholder

returns over the indicated period should not be considered indicative of future stockholder returns.

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

400 -

300

<]
= 200 l/
=)
e
,/
T el ——1
P / ||
i e |
r v/,//
100 [
0 1 1 I I I
12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023
—|— Edwards Lifesciences —h— S&P 500 S&P 500 Health Care Equipment
Total Cumulative Return
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Edwards Lifesciences $ 15231 § 178.68 $ 253.74 $ 146.13 $ 149.34
S&P 500 131.49 155.68 200.37 164.08 207.21
S&P 500 Health Care Equipment 129.32 152.12 181.56 147.32 160.64

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis presents the factors that had a material effect on our results of operations during the two years ended December 31,
2023. Also discussed is our financial position as of December 31, 2023 and our consolidated cash flows for 2023 compared to 2022. You should read this discussion
in conjunction with the historical consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. For a discussion related to the results of
operations for 2022 compared to 2021 and a discussion related to our consolidated cash flows for 2022 compared to 2021, refer to Part II, Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 13, 2023.

Overview

We are the global leader in patient-focused medical innovations for structural heart disease and critical care monitoring. Driven by a passion to help patients,
we partner with the world's leading clinicians and researchers and invest in research and development to transform care for those impacted by structural heart disease
or who require hemodynamic monitoring during surgery or in intensive care. We conduct operations worldwide and are managed in the following geographical
regions: United States, Europe, Japan, and Rest of World. Our products are categorized into the following groups: Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement
("TAVR"), Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies ("TMTT"), Surgical Structural Heart ("Surgical"), and Critical Care. On December 7, 2023, we announced
our intention to complete a tax-free spin-off of our Critical Care product group around the end of 2024. The planned separation will enable us to pursue expanded
opportunities for TAVR, TMTT, and Surgical patients, as well as new investments in interventional heart failure technologies.

Financial Highlights and Market Update
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COVID-19 and Macroeconomic Uncertainties

While conditions related to the COVID-19 pandemic have improved compared to 2022, we have continued to experience the impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic in 2023, particularly in Japan and disruptions related to staffing shortages in the United States and Europe. We continued to remain fully committed to our
patient-focused innovation strategy, and our teams were relentless in doing the right things for patients. Our priority has been to maintain access for patients to our
life-saving technologies while providing continuous front-line support to our clinician partners, and protecting the well-being of our employees. We expect to
continue to experience adverse effects related to COVID-19 for some time, particularly as hospital systems continue experiencing budget constraints and staffing
shortages, the supply chains continue to adjust to the market, and medical procedure rates and demand for our products continue to fluctuate as the medical system
rebalances its infrastructure and resources in a post-COVID-19 market.
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In addition to the impacts described above, the global economy, including the financial and credit markets, continues to experience volatility and disruptions,
including conditions impacting inflation, credit and capital markets, interest rates, and factors affecting global economic stability and the political environment
relating to health care. The severity and duration of the impact of these conditions on our business cannot be predicted. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors," for additional
information.

Financial Highlights

Despite the challenges to our business due to COVID-19 and macroeconomic headwinds, our net sales for 2023 were $6.0 billion, representing an increase of
$622.4 million over 2022, driven by sales growth of our TAVR products.

Our gross profit increased in 2023, driven by our sales growth. Gross profit as a percentage of sales decreased primarily due to the impact of foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations. The decrease in our net income and diluted earnings per share in 2023 was driven primarily by an after-tax charge of $134.9 million

related to an intellectual property agreement. See Note 3 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for further information.

Healthcare Environment, Opportunities, and Challenges

The medical technology industry is highly competitive and continues to evolve. Our success is measured both by the development of innovative products and
the value we bring to our stakeholders. We are committed to developing new technologies and providing innovative patient care, and we are committed to defending
our intellectual property in support of those developments. Our vision for growth is to treat patients with both valvular and non-valvular structural heart disease, such
as heart failure, which is a natural progression of the disease for many patients suffering from aortic stenosis and mitral and tricuspid regurgitation. In 2023, we
invested 17.8% of our net sales in research and development. The following is a summary of important developments since January 1, 2023:

* we launched the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra RESILIA valve in Japan;
* wereceived CE Mark approval for the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra RESILIA valve in Europe;

« we received CE Mark approval for the EVOQUE tricuspid valve replacement system for the transcatheter treatment of eligible patients with tricuspid
regurgitation and United States Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") approval for the treatment of tricuspid regurgitation, making it the world's first
transcatheter valve replacement therapy to receive regulatory approval to treat tricuspid regurgitation;

*  we received approval in Japan for PASCAL Precision to treat patients with degenerative mitral regurgitation;
« we received CE Mark approval for our MITRIS RESILIA surgical mitral valve;

*  we completed enrollment in the ENCIRCLE Trial, the first pivotal trial for our transfemoral mitral replacement therapy, SAPIEN M3;
* we received FDA approval for a SAPIEN M3 continued access program;
*  we restarted enrollment in our pivotal trial, ALLIANCE, designed to study our next generation TAVR technology, SAPIEN X4;

*  we completed enrollment in PROGRESS, a pivotal trial studying the treatment of moderate aortic stenosis patients;
« we completed the enrollment of the full cohort of the TRISCEND II pivotal trial of the EVOQUE replacement system; and

*  we announced our intention to complete a tax-free spin-off of our Critical Care product group around the end of 2024. The planned separation will
enable sharpened focus as we pursue expanded opportunities for TAVR, TMTT, and Surgical patients, as well as new investments in interventional heart

failure technologies.

We are dedicated to generating robust clinical, economic, and quality-of-life evidence increasingly expected by patients, clinicians, and payors in the current
healthcare environment, with the goal of encouraging the adoption of innovative new medical therapies that demonstrate superior outcomes.
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Results of Operations

Net Sales by Geographic Region
(dollars in millions)

United States
Europe
Japan
Rest of World
Outside of the United States

Total net sales

Years Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ Y%
$ 3,508.7 $ 3,132.6 $ 376.1 12.0 %
1,334.5 1,174.8 159.7 13.6 %
452.4 473.6 (21.2) (4.5)%
709.2 601.4 107.8 17.9 %
2,496.1 2,249.8 246.3 10.9 %
$ 6,0048 $ 5,382.4 $ 622.4 11.6 %

Net sales outside of the United States include the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations on net sales is not necessarily indicative of the impact on net income due to the corresponding effect of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on
international manufacturing and operating costs, and our hedging activities. For more information, see "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market

Risk."”

Net Sales by Product Group
(dollars in millions)

Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement
Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies
Surgical Heart Valve Therapy

Critical Care

Total net sales

Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement

Years Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %
$ 38798 $ 3,518.2 $ 361.6 10.3 %
197.6 116.1 81.5 70.1 %
999.3 893.1 106.2 11.9 %
928.1 855.0 73.1 8.5%
$ 6,0048 $ 5,382.4 $ 622.4 11.6 %

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

$3,879.8

4,000 -
3,500 -
3,000 -
2,500 -
2,000
1,500 -
1,000 -
500 -

$ (Millions)

2023

$3,518.2

2022
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The increase in net sales of TAVR products was driven by:

¢ higher sales of the Edwards SAPIEN platform in 2023, primarily the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra RESILIA valve in the United States and Japan, and the
Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra valve in Europe and Rest of World;

partially offset by:

» foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which decreased net sales outside of the United States by $11.3 million primarily due to the weakening of
the Japanese yen against the United States dollar, partially offset by the strengthening of the Euro against the United States dollar.

In March 2023, we launched the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra RESILIA valve in Japan. In July 2023, we announced the restart of enrollment in our pivotal trial,

ALLIANCE, designed to study our next generation TAVR technology, SAPIEN X4. In January 2024, we completed enrollment in our PROGRESS pivotal trial,
studying the treatment of moderate aortic stenosis patients, and we received CE Mark approval for the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Ultra RESILIA valve in Europe.

Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
250

$197.6

200

150

$116.1

100 -

$ (Millions)

50 -

2023 2022

The increase in net sales of TMTT products was due primarily to the launch of our PASCAL system in the United States and its continued adoption in Europe.

During 2023, we continued to enroll the CLASP IIF pivotal trial with PASCAL for patients with functional mitral regurgitation. In mitral replacement, we
completed enrollment in the ENCIRCLE pivotal trial for SAPIEN M3 and, in January 2024, we received FDA approval for a SAPIEN M3 continued access program.
In tricuspid, we completed the enrollment of the full cohort of the TRISCEND II pivotal trial of the EVOQUE replacement system. In October 2023, we received CE
Mark approval in Europe for EVOQUE and in February 2024 we received FDA approval for EVOQUE for the treatment of tricuspic regurgitation. In October 2023,
we also received approval in Japan for PASCAL Precision to treat patients with degenerative mitral regurgitation. In addition, enrollment continued in the CLASP
IITR pivotal trial with the PASCAL repair system in patients with symptomatic, severe tricuspid regurgitation.
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Surgical Structural Heart

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
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Net sales of Surgical products increased in 2023 primarily due to sales of the INSPIRIS RESILIA aortic valve in the United States and Europe, and the MITRIS
RESILIA valve in the United States. These increases were partially offset by the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which decreased net sales
outside of the United States by $6.4 million, primarily due to the weakening of the Japanese yen against the United States dollar, partially offset by the strengthening

of the Euro against the United States dollar.

We are continuing to enroll patients in our MOMENTIS clinical study to demonstrate the durability of RESILIA tissue in the mitral position. In October 2023,
we received CE Mark approval for our MITRIS RESILIA mitral valve and have begun its launch in several European countries.

Critical Care

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

1,000 $928.1
$855.0

800 -

600 -

$ (Millions)

400 -

200

2023 2022

The increase in net sales of Critical Care products was driven by:

¢ increased demand for our enhanced surgical recovery products and pressure monitoring products, primarily in the United States;
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partially offset by:

» foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which decreased net sales outside of the United States by $10.3 million primarily due to the weakening of
the Japanese yen against the United States dollar.

Gross Profit
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
=000 9 SHERS0 $4,302.0 r 8
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[0l Gross profit ~ —@— Percent of net sales

The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net sales in 2023 compared to 2022 was driven primarily by a 2.5 percentage point decrease from the impact of
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, primarily the weakening of the United States dollar against multiple currencies, partially offset by the strengthening of

the United States dollar against the Japanese yen.

Selling, General, and Administrative ("SG&A") Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
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SG&A expenses increased in 2023 compared to 2022 due primarily to higher performance-based compensation and higher field-based personnel-related costs
in support of our growth strategy and patient activation initiatives, primarily related to TAVR and TMTT in the United States and Europe.
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Research and Development ("R&D'") Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:
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R&D expenses increased in 2023 compared to 2022 due primarily to continued investments in our transcatheter innovations, including increased clinical trial
activity.

Intellectual Property Agreement and Litigation Expense

We incurred intellectual property agreement and litigation expenses of $203.5 million and $15.8 million during 2023 and 2022, respectively. On April 12, 2023,
we entered into an Intellectual Property Agreement (the "Intellectual Property Agreement") with Medtronic, Inc. ("Medtronic") and recorded a $37.0 million charge
in March 2023 and a $139.0 million charge in April 2023. For more information, see Note 3 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration Liabilities, net

The change in fair value of contingent consideration liabilities resulted in gains of $26.2 million and $35.8 million during 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
gains in 2023 were primarily due to changes in projected probabilities of milestone achievement. The gains in 2022 were due to changes in projected probabilities of
milestone achievement and our decision in the third quarter of 2022 to exit our H4RPOON surgical mitral repair system program.

Special Charge and Separation Costs

On December 7, 2023, we announced our intention to complete a tax-free spin-off of our Critical Care product group as a separate publicly traded company to
Edwards Lifesciences' shareholders. We recorded a charge of $17.2 million, primarily related to costs incurred for consulting, legal, tax, and other professional
advisory services associated with the planned spin-off.

In September 2022, in connection with our decision to exit our HARPOON surgical mitral repair system program, we recorded a charge of $62.3 million, of
which $60.7 million was included in "Special Charges and Separation Costs" and $1.6 million was included in "Cost of Sales" on the consolidated statements of
operations. The charge primarily related to the full impairment of intangible assets associated with the technology for $52.7 million and other related exit costs.

For more information, see Note 4 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $17.6 million and $19.2 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. The decrease in interest expense resulted primarily from higher
capitalized interest related to facilities construction.
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Interest Income

Interest income was $67.2 million and $35.5 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase in interest income resulted primarily from a higher average
yield on our investments.

Other Income, net

Other income was $14.4 million and $2.6 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase in other income was driven primarily by higher forward points
from derivative instruments entered into to offset foreign currency revaluation of mainly global intercompany receivable and payable balances.

Provision for Income Taxes
($ in millions)

Years Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %
Provision for income taxes $ 198.7 $ 245.5 $ (46.8) 19.1)%
Effective tax rate 12.4 % 13.9%

Our effective income tax rate in 2023 and 2022 was 12.4% and 13.9%, respectively. Our effective tax rate for 2023 decreased in comparison to 2022 primarily
due to the impact of temporary relief provided by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") relating to U.S. foreign tax credit regulations. On July 21, 2023, the IRS
issued Notice 2023-55 which delayed the application of certain U.S. foreign tax credit regulations that had previously limited our ability to claim credits on certain
foreign taxes for tax years 2022 and 2023. In addition, there was a tax benefit from the Intellectual Property Agreement with Medtronic (see Note 3 to the
"Consolidated Financial Statements"), partially offset by a reduced tax benefit from employee share-based compensation. The effective rates for 2023 and 2022 were
lower than the federal statutory rate of 21% primarily due to (1) foreign earnings taxed at lower rates, (2) Federal and California research and development credits,
and (3) the tax benefit from employee share-based compensation.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $211.3 million of gross California research expenditure tax credits that we expect to use in future periods. The credits may
be carried forward indefinitely. Based upon anticipated future taxable income, we expect that it is more likely than not that all California research expenditure tax
credits will be utilized, although the utilization of the full benefit is expected to occur over a number of years into the distant future.

As of December 31, 2023, our gross uncertain tax positions were $583.9 million. We estimate that these liabilities would be reduced by $250.7 million from
offsetting tax benefits associated with the correlative effects of potential transfer pricing adjustments, state income taxes, and timing adjustments. The net amount of
$333.2 million, if not required, would favorably affect our effective tax rate.

In the normal course of business, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and other taxing authorities are in different stages of examining various years of our tax
filings. During these audits we may receive proposed audit adjustments that could be material. Therefore, there is a possibility that an adverse outcome in these
audits could have a material effect on our results of operations and financial condition. We strive to resolve open matters with each tax authority at the examination
level and could reach agreement with a tax authority at any time. While we have accrued for matters we believe are more likely than not to require settlement, the
eventual outcome with a tax authority may result in a tax liability that is materially different from that reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Furthermore,
we may later decide to challenge any assessments, if made, and may exercise our right to appeal. The uncertain tax positions are reviewed quarterly and adjusted as
events occur that affect potential liabilities for additional taxes, such as lapsing of applicable statutes of limitations, proposed assessments by tax authorities,
negotiations between tax authorities, identification of new issues, and issuance of new legislation, regulations, or case law. We believe that adequate amounts of tax
and related penalty and interest have been provided for any adjustments that may result from our uncertain tax positions.

We executed an Advance Pricing Agreement ("APA") in 2018 between the United States and Switzerland governments for tax years 2009 through 2020
covering various, but not all, transfer pricing matters. The unagreed transfer pricing matters, namely Surgical Structural Heart and Transcatheter Aortic Valve
Replacement (collectively "Surgical/TAVR") intercompany royalty transactions, then reverted to IRS Examination for further consideration as part of the respective
years' regular tax audits. In addition, we executed other bilateral APAs as follows: during 2017, an APA between the United States and Japan
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covering tax years 2015 through 2019; and during 2018, APAs between Singapore and Japan and between Switzerland and Japan covering tax years 2015 through
2019. We have filed to renew all three of the APAs with Japan for the years 2020 and forward. An APA between Switzerland and Japan covering tax years 2020
through 2024 was executed in 2021. An APA between the United States and Japan covering tax years 2020 through 2024 was executed in 2023. The execution of
some or all these APA renewals depends on many variables outside of our control.

The audits of our United States federal income tax returns through 2014 have been closed. The IRS audit field work for the 2015 through 2017 tax years was
completed during the second quarter of 2021, except for certain transfer pricing and related matters. The IRS is currently examining the 2018 through 2020 tax years.

The audits of our material state, local, and foreign income tax matters have been concluded for years through 2015. While not material, we continue to address
matters in India for years from 2010 and on.

During 2021, we received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (“NOPA”) from the IRS for the 2015 through 2017 tax years relating to transfer pricing involving
Surgical/TAVR intercompany royalty transactions between our United States and Switzerland subsidiaries. The NOPA proposed a substantial increase to our United
States taxable income, which could result in additional tax expense for this period of approximately $230.0 million and represented a departure from a transfer
pricing method we had previously agreed upon with the IRS. We have disagreed with the NOPA and pursued an administrative appeal with the IRS Independent
Office of Appeals ("Appeals"). The opening conference was held with Appeals during March 2023 and discussions with Appeals continued into the third quarter of
2023. The Appeals process culminated in the third quarter of 2023 when we and Appeals concluded that a satisfactory resolution of the matter at the administrative
level was not possible.

During the fourth quarter of 2023, Appeals issued a notice of deficiency ("NOD") increasing our 2015 through 2017 United States federal income tax in
amounts resulting from the income adjustments previously reflected in the NOPA. The additional tax sought in excess of our filing position is $269.3 million before
consideration of interest and a repatriation tax offset.

We plan to vigorously contest the additional tax claimed by the IRS through the judicial process. Final resolution of this matter is not likely within the next 12
months. We believe the amounts previously accrued related to this uncertain tax position are appropriate for a number of reasons, including the interpretation and
application of relevant tax law and accounting standards to our facts and, accordingly, have not accrued any additional amount based on the NOD and other
proceedings to date. Nonetheless, the outcome of the judicial process cannot be predicted with certainty, and it is possible that the outcome of that process could have
a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. As noted below, similar material tax disputes may arise for the 2018 through 2023 tax years. While no
payment of any amount related to the NOPA or NOD has yet been required, we made a partial deposit in November 2022 to prevent the further accrual of interest on
that portion of any additional tax we may ultimately be found to owe. We intend to make an additional deposit in the range of $200 million to $300 million with the
IRS by the second quarter of 2024 in order to further mitigate interest on potential tax liabilities while we prepare to contest through the judicial process the IRS's
entitlement to any of the additional tax claimed by the IRS.

Surgical/TAVR intercompany royalty transactions covering tax years 2018 through 2023 remain subject to IRS examination, and those transactions and related
tax positions remain uncertain as of December 31, 2023. We have considered this information, as well as information regarding the NOD and other proceedings
described above, in our evaluation of our uncertain tax positions. The impact of these unresolved transfer pricing matters, net of any correlative tax adjustments, may
be significant to our consolidated financial statements. Based on the information currently available and numerous possible outcomes, we cannot reasonably estimate
what, if any, changes in our existing uncertain tax positions may occur in the next 12 months and, therefore, have continued to record the uncertain tax positions as a
long-term liability.

We have received tax incentives in certain non-United States tax jurisdictions, the primary benefit for which will expire in 2029. The tax reductions as
compared to the local statutory rates were $333.2 million ($0.55 per diluted share) and $247.4 million (80.40 per diluted share) for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Many countries are implementing some or all the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Two-Pillar

response to tax challenges arising from the digitalization of the global economy. While we continue to evaluate those countries’ implementations, we do not expect
those implementations to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements in 2024.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of cash liquidity include cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash from operations, and amounts available under credit facilities. We
believe that these sources are sufficient to fund the current and long-term requirements of working capital, capital expenditures, and other financial commitments.
However, we periodically consider various financing alternatives and may, from time to time, seek to take advantage of favorable interest rate environments or other
market conditions.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the "2017 Act") included extensive changes to the international tax regime. The 2017 Act required a deemed repatriation of
post-1986 undistributed foreign earnings and profits. The one-time transition tax liability, as adjusted, is payable in three remaining annual installments, as outlined
in the contractual obligations table presented under "Material Cash Requirements" below. As of December 31, 2023, we had a remaining tax obligation of $141.4
million related to the deemed repatriation. See Note 18 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional information about the one-time transition tax.

As of December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments held in the United States and outside of the United States were $1,097.1
million and $547.4 million, respectively. During 2023, we repatriated cash of $790.0 million. We assert that $1.0 billion of our foreign earnings continue to be
permanently reinvested and our intent is to repatriate, in the future, $1.2 billion of our foreign earnings as of December 31, 2023. The estimated net tax liability on
the indefinitely reinvested earnings if repatriated is $5.1 million.

We have a Five-year Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") which provides for a $750.0 million multi-currency unsecured revolving credit facility and
matures on July 15, 2027. We may increase the amount available under the Credit Agreement by up to an additional $250.0 million in the aggregate and extend the
maturity date for an additional year, subject to agreement of the lenders. As of December 31, 2023, no amounts were outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

In June 2018, we issued $600.0 million of 4.3% fixed-rate unsecured senior notes (the "2018 Notes") due June 15, 2028. We may redeem the 2018 Notes, in
whole or in part, at any time and from time to time at specified redemption prices. As of December 31, 2023, we have not elected to redeem any of the 2018 Notes.
As of December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the 2018 Notes was $597.0 million. For further information on our debt, see Note 11 to the "Consolidated Financial
Statements."

From time to time, we repurchase shares of our common stock under share repurchase programs authorized by the Board of Directors. We consider several
factors in determining when to execute share repurchases, including, among other things, expected dilution from stock plans, cash capacity, and the market price of
our common stock. During 2023, under the Board authorized repurchase program, we repurchased a total of 11.3 million shares at an aggregate cost of $867.1
million. As of December 31, 2023, we had remaining authority to purchase $1.0 billion of our common stock under the share repurchase program.

On April 12,2023, we entered into the Intellectual Property Agreement with Medtronic pursuant to which the parties agreed to a 15-year global covenant not to
sue ("CNS") for infringement of certain patents in the structural heart space owned or controlled by each other. In consideration for the global CNS, we paid
Medtronic a one-time, lump sum payment of $300.0 million and are paying annual royalty payments that are tied to net sales of certain Edwards products. For more
information, see Note 3 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."

On February 28, 2023, we acquired a majority equity interest in a medical technology company. In addition, we amended and restated our previous option
agreement with the medical technology company. The option agreement gives us the option to acquire the remaining equity interest in the medical technology
company. For more information, see Note 8 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."

We have purchased options to acquire and have agreed to provide promissory notes to various entities. These arrangements could result in additional cash
outlays in the future should we decide to exercise the options or should the entities draw on the promissory notes. For further information, see Note 8 to the
"Consolidated Financial Statements."

On July 12, 2020, we reached a settlement agreement with Abbott to settle all outstanding patent disputes between the companies in cases related to
transcatheter mitral and tricuspid repair products. The settlement agreement resulted in us recording an estimated $367.9 million pretax charge in June 2020 related
to past damages. In addition, we will incur royalty expenses through May 2024 totaling an estimated $70 million. We made a one-time $100.0 million payment to
Abbott in July 2020, and are making quarterly payments in subsequent years.
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Consolidated Cash Flows - For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Operating Cash Investing Cash Financing Cash
Flows Flows Flows
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Net cash flows provided by operating activities of $895.8 million for 2023 decreased $322.4 million from 2022 due primarily to a $300.0 million payment in
2023 under the Intellectual Property Agreement, partially offset by a higher bonus payout in 2022 associated with 2021 performance.

Net cash provided by investing activities of $173.8 million in 2023 consisted primarily of net proceeds from investments of $627.9 million, partially offset by
capital expenditures of $253.0 million and payments of $95.2 million to acquire a majority interest in another company. For further information, see Note 9 to the

"Consolidated Financial Statements."

Net cash provided by investing activities of $252.3 million in 2022 consisted primarily of net proceeds from investments of $661.0 million, partially offset by
capital expenditures of $244.6 million and payments of $109.6 million for options to acquire other companies. For further information, see Note 8 to the

"Consolidated Financial Statements."

We currently anticipate making capital expenditures of approximately $300.0 million in 2024 as we continue to invest in our operations.

Net cash used in financing activities of $711.0 million in 2023 consisted primarily of purchases of treasury stock of $879.6 million, partially offset by

proceeds from stock plans of $169.9 million.

Net cash used in financing activities of $1.6 billion in 2022 consisted primarily of purchases of treasury stock of $1.7 billion, partially offset by proceeds from
stock plans of $146.4 million.

Material Cash Requirements

A summary of our material cash requirements as of December 31, 2023 is as follows (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

After 5
Contractual Obligations Total Year 1 Years 2-3 Years 4-5 Years
Debt $ 600.0 $ — — $ 600.0 $ =
Operating leases 105.8 26.8 35.9 22.4 20.7
Interest on debt 87.7 19.8 39.7 28.2 —
Transition tax on unremitted foreign earnings and profits (a) 141.4 62.8 78.6 — —
Litigation settlement obligation (minimum payments) 112.5 50.0 62.5 — —
Pension obligations (b) 2.7 2.7 — — —
Purchase and other commitments (c) 106.3 34.5 46.5 24.7 0.6
Total contractual cash obligations (d), (e) $ 1,156.4 $ 196.6 $ 2632 $ 6753 § 21.3

(a) Asof December 31,2023, we had recorded $141.4 million of income tax liabilities related to the one-time transition tax that resulted from the enactment of the
2017 Act. The transition tax is due in eight annual installments, with the first six installments paid in 2018 through 2023. The remaining installment amounts
will be equal to 20% of the total liability payable in 2024 and 25% in 2025. See Note 18 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional information

about the one-time transition tax.
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(b) The amount included in "Less Than 1 Year" reflects anticipated contributions to our various pension plans. Anticipated contributions beyond one year are not
determinable. The total accrued benefit liability for our pension plans recognized as of December 31, 2023 was $36.2 million. This amount is impacted by,
among other items, pension expense funding levels, changes in plan demographics and assumptions, and investment returns on plan assets. Therefore, we are
unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period in which the liability might be paid, and did not include this amount in the contractual
obligations table. See Note 14 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for further information.

(c) Purchase and other commitments consists primarily of open purchase orders for the acquisition of goods and services in the normal course of business. We have
excluded open purchase orders with a remaining term of less than one year. For certain purchase and other commitments, such as commitments to fund equity
method or other investments, the timing of the payment is not certain. In these cases, the maturity dates in the table reflect our best estimates.

(d) Asof December 31, 2023, the gross liability for uncertain tax positions, including interest, was $655.2 million and relates primarily to transfer pricing matters.
Based upon the information currently available and numerous possible outcomes, we cannot reasonably estimate the amount and period in which the liability
might be paid, and did not include this amount in the contractual obligations table. In addition, we plan to vigorously contest through the judicial process the
additional tax claimed by the IRS related to transfer pricing issues for the 2015 through 2017 tax years which may require additional cash outflows. See Note 18
to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for further information on these matters.

(e) We acquire assets still in development, enter into research and development arrangements, acquire businesses, and sponsor certain clinical trials that often
require milestone, royalty, or other future payments to third-parties, contingent upon the occurrence of certain future events. In situations where we have no
ability to influence the achievement of the milestone or otherwise avoid the payment, we have included those payments in the table above. However, we have
excluded from the table contingent milestone payments and other contingent liabilities for which we cannot reasonably predict future payments or for which we
can avoid making payment by unilaterally deciding to stop development of a product or cease progress of a clinical trial. We estimate that these contingent
payments could be up to $1.6 billion if all milestones or other contingent obligations are met. This amount includes certain milestone-based contingent
obligations that may be paid through a combination of cash and issuance of common stock, and certain sales-based royalties in excess of minimum payment
thresholds related to litigation settlements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our results of operations and financial position are determined based upon the application of our accounting policies, as discussed in the notes to the
"Consolidated Financial Statements." Certain of our accounting policies represent a selection among acceptable alternatives under GAAP. In evaluating our
transactions, management assesses all relevant GAAP and chooses the accounting policy that most accurately reflects the nature of the transactions.

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgments and estimates. These matters that are subject to judgments and estimates are inherently
uncertain, and different amounts could be reported using different assumptions and estimates. Management uses its best estimates and judgments in determining the
appropriate amount to reflect in the consolidated financial statements, using historical experience and all available information. We also use outside experts where
appropriate. We apply estimation methodologies consistently from year to year.

We believe the following are the critical accounting policies which could have the most significant effect on our reported results and require subjective or
complex judgments by management.
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Revenue Recognition

When we recognize revenue from the sale of our products, the amount of consideration we ultimately receive varies depending upon the return terms, sales
rebates, discounts, and other incentives that we may offer, which are accounted for as variable consideration when estimating the amount of revenue to recognize.
The estimate of variable consideration requires significant judgment. We include estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a
significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The estimates of
variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based largely upon an assessment of historical payment
experience, historical relationship to revenues, estimated customer inventory levels, and current contract sales terms with direct and indirect customers. Product
returns are typically not significant because returns are generally not allowed unless the product is damaged at time of receipt. If the historical data and inventory
estimates used to calculate the variable consideration do not approximate future activity, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows could be
impacted.

In addition, in limited circumstances, we may allow customers to return previously purchased products, such as for next-generation product offerings. For these
transactions, we defer recognition of revenue on the sale of the earlier generation product based upon an estimate of the amount of product to be returned when the
next-generation products are shipped to the customer. Uncertain timing of next-generation product approvals, variability in product launch strategies, product recalls,
and variation in product utilization all affect the estimates related to sales returns and could cause actual returns to differ from these estimates.

Our sales adjustment related to distributor rebates given to our United States distributors represents the difference between our sales price to the distributor and
the negotiated price to be paid by the end-customer. We validate the distributor rebate accrual quarterly through either a review of the inventory reports obtained
from our distributors or an estimate of the distributor's inventory. This distributor inventory information is used to verify the estimated liability for future distributor
rebate claims based on historical rebates and contract rates. We periodically monitor current pricing trends and distributor inventory levels to ensure the credit for
future distributor rebates is fairly stated.

Intangible Assets and Long-lived Assets

We acquire intangible assets in connection with business combinations and asset purchases. The acquired intangible assets are recorded at fair value, which is
determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis. The determination of fair value requires significant estimates, including, but not limited to, the amount and
timing of projected future cash flows, the discount rate used to discount those cash flows, the assessment of the asset's life cycle, including the timing and expected
costs to complete in-process projects, and the consideration of legal, technical, regulatory, economic, and competitive risks.

In-process research and development assets acquired in business combinations is reviewed for impairment annually, or whenever an event occurs or
circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. Additionally, management reviews the carrying amounts of other intangible and
long-lived assets whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of an asset may not be recoverable. The impairment reviews require
significant estimates about fair value, including estimation of future cash flows, selection of an appropriate discount rate, and estimates of long-term growth rates.

Contingent Consideration

We record contingent consideration resulting from a business combination at its fair value on the acquisition date. We determine the fair value of the contingent
consideration based primarily on the following factors:

»  discount rates used to present value the projected cash flows;
» the probability of success of clinical events and regulatory approvals, and/or meeting commercial milestones; and
*  projected payment dates.
On a quarterly basis, we revalue these obligations and record changes in their fair value as an adjustment to earnings. Changes to contingent consideration
obligations can result from adjustments to discount rates, accretion of the discount rates due to the passage of time, changes in our estimates of the likelihood or

timing of achieving development or commercial milestones, changes in the probability of certain clinical events, or changes in the assumed probability associated
with regulatory approval.
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The assumptions related to determining the value of contingent consideration include a significant amount of judgment, and any changes in the underlying
estimates could have a material impact on the amount of contingent consideration expense recorded in any given period.

Income Taxes

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax
laws. Realization of certain deferred tax assets, primarily tax credits, net operating loss and other carryforwards, is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable
income in the appropriate jurisdiction prior to the expiration of the carryforward periods. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income in the applicable taxing
jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and could result in an increase in our effective tax rate on future earnings.

We have made an accounting policy election to recognize the United States tax effects of global intangible low-taxed income as a component of income tax
expense in the period the tax arises.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Our income tax returns are periodically audited by domestic and
foreign tax authorities. These audits include questions regarding our tax filing positions, including the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income
amongst various tax jurisdictions. We evaluate our tax positions and establish liabilities in accordance with the applicable accounting guidance on uncertainty in
income taxes. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our uncertain tax positions, including estimating the ultimate resolution to intercompany pricing
controversies between countries when there are numerous possible outcomes. We review these tax uncertainties quarterly and adjust the liability as events occur that
affect potential liabilities for additional taxes, such as the progress of tax audits, lapsing of applicable statutes of limitations, negotiations between tax authorities,
identification of new issues, and issuance of new legislation, regulations, or case law.

For additional details on our income taxes, see Note 2 and Note 18 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."
Legal Contingencies

We are or may be a party to, or may otherwise be responsible for, pending or threatened lawsuits, including those related to products and services currently or
formerly manufactured or performed by us, workplace and employment matters, matters involving real estate, our operations or health care regulations, or
governmental investigations. We accrue for loss contingencies to the extent that we conclude that it is probable that a loss will be incurred and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. If a reasonable estimate of a known or probable loss cannot be made, but a range of probable losses can be estimated, the low-end of
the range of losses is recognized if no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other. If we determine that a loss is possible, but not probable, and the
range of the loss can be reasonably determined, then we disclose the range of the possible loss. These matters raise difficult and complex factual and legal issues and
are subject to many uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the facts and circumstances of each particular case or claim, the jurisdiction in which each suit is
brought, and differences in applicable law. As such, significant judgment is required in determining our legal accruals. We describe our legal proceedings in Note 19
to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."

New Accounting Standards

Information regarding new accounting standards is included in Note 2 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our business and financial results are affected by fluctuations in world financial markets, including changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates. We
manage these risks through a combination of normal operating and financing activities and derivative financial instruments. We do not use derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio and our long-term debt. Our investment strategy is
focused on preserving capital and supporting our liquidity requirements, while earning a reasonable market return. We invest in a variety of debt securities, primarily

time deposits, commercial paper, United States and foreign government and agency securities, asset-backed securities, corporate debt securities, and municipal debt
securities. The market value of our investments may decline if current market interest rates rise. As of December 31, 2023, we had $963.2
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million of investments in debt securities which had an average remaining term to maturity of 0.53 years. Taking into consideration the average maturity of our debt

securities, a hypothetical 0.5% to 1.0% absolute increase in interest rates at December 31, 2023 would have resulted in a $3.2 million to $6.5 million decrease in the
fair value of these investments. Such a decrease would only result in a realized loss if we choose or are forced to sell the investments before the scheduled maturity,
which we currently do not anticipate.

For more information related to investments, see Note 7 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."

We are also exposed to interest rate risk on our debt obligations. As of December 31, 2023, we had $600.0 million of 2018 Notes outstanding that carry a fixed
rate, and also had available a $750.0 million Credit Agreement that carries a variable interest rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"). As of
December 31, 2023, there were no borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement. Based on our December 31, 2023 variable debt levels, a hypothetical 1.0%
absolute increase in floating market interest rates would not have impacted our interest expense since we had no variable debt outstanding during the year. As of
December 31, 2023, a hypothetical 1.0% absolute increase in market interest rates would decrease the fair value of the fixed-rate debt by approximately $23.1
million. This hypothetical change in interest rates would not impact the interest expense on the fixed-rate debt.

For more information related to outstanding debt obligations, see Note 11 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."
Currency Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. These risks include the translation of local currency balances and results
of our non-United States subsidiaries into United States dollars, currency gains and losses related to intercompany and third-party transactions denominated in
currencies other than a subsidiary's functional currency, and currency gains and losses associated with global intercompany receivable and payable balances. Our
principal currency exposures relate to the Euro and the Japanese yen. Our objective is to minimize the volatility of our exposure to these risks through a combination
of normal operating and financing activities and the use of derivative financial instruments in the form of foreign currency forward exchange contracts and cross
currency swap contracts. The total notional amount of our derivative financial instruments entered into for foreign currency management purposes at December 31,
2023 was $2.1 billion. A hypothetical 10% increase (or decrease) in the value of the United States dollar against all hedged currencies would increase (or decrease)
the fair value of these derivative contracts by $165.5 million. Any gains or losses on the fair value of derivative contracts would generally be offset by gains and
losses on the underlying transactions and the net investment, so the net impact would not be significant to our financial condition or results of operations.

For more information related to outstanding foreign exchange contracts, see Note 2 and Note 13 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements."
Credit Risk

Derivative financial instruments involve credit risk in the event the financial institution counterparty should default. It is our policy to execute such instruments
with major financial institutions that we believe to be creditworthy. At December 31, 2023, all derivative financial instruments were with bank counterparties
assigned investment grade ratings by national rating agencies. We further diversify our derivative financial instruments among counterparties to minimize exposure
to any one of these entities. We have not experienced a counterparty default and do not anticipate any non-performance by our current derivative counterparties.

Concentrations of Risk

We invest excess cash in a variety of debt securities, and diversify the investments amongst financial institutions. Our investment policy limits the amount of
credit exposure to any one issuer.

In the normal course of business, we provide credit to customers in the health care industry, perform credit evaluations of these customers, and maintain

allowances for potential credit losses, which have historically been adequate compared to actual losses. In 2023, we had no customers that represented 10% or more
of our total net sales or accounts receivable, net.
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Investment Risk

We are exposed to investment risks related to changes in the underlying financial condition and credit capacity of certain of our investments. As of
December 31, 2023, we had $963.2 million of investments in debt securities of various companies, of which $462.7 million were long-term. In addition, we had
$121.2 million of investments in equity instruments. Should these companies experience a decline in financial performance, financial condition or credit capacity, or
fail to meet certain development milestones, a decline in the investments' value may occur, resulting in unrealized or realized losses. See Note 7 to the "Consolidated
Financial Statements" for additional information.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 238),

Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023_and 2022

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All other schedules are omitted as they are not applicable or the required information is furnished in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes
thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). We also have audited the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December
31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing
under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical
audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Uncertain Tax Positions Related to Intercompany Transfer Pricing

As described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company had an uncertain gross tax position liability balance of $583.9 million as of December
31, 2023, of which a majority is related to intercompany transfer pricing. As disclosed by management, the Company is subject to income taxes in the United States
and numerous foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s income tax returns in these jurisdictions are periodically audited by domestic and foreign tax authorities. These
audits include questions regarding the Company’s tax filing positions, including the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income amongst various
tax jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required by management in evaluating uncertain tax positions, including estimating the ultimate resolution to intercompany
pricing controversies between countries when there are numerous possible outcomes.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to uncertain tax positions related to intercompany transfer pricing is a critical
audit matter are the significant judgment by management when determining uncertain tax positions related to intercompany transfer pricing, including a high degree
of estimation uncertainty in estimating the ultimate resolution to intercompany pricing controversies between countries when there are numerous possible outcomes.
This in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, effort, and subjectivity in performing procedures to evaluate the accurate measurement of uncertain tax
positions related to intercompany transfer pricing. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to intercompany transfer pricing, and controls over measurement of the liability.
These procedures also included, among others, (i) testing the information used in the calculation of the liability for uncertain tax positions related to intercompany
transfer pricing, including US federal filing positions, and the related final income tax returns; (ii) testing the calculation of the liability for uncertain tax positions
related to intercompany transfer pricing, by jurisdiction, including management’s assessment of the technical merits of tax positions and estimates of the amount of
tax benefit expected to be sustained; (iii) testing management’s assessment of possible outcomes of uncertain tax positions related to intercompany transfer pricing
controversies between countries; and (iv) evaluating the status and results of income tax audits with the relevant tax authorities. Professionals with specialized skill
and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of the accurate measurement of the Company’s uncertain tax positions related to intercompany transfer pricing,
including evaluating the reasonableness of management’s assessment of whether tax positions are more-likely-than not to be sustained and the amount of potential
tax benefit to be realized, and the application of relevant tax laws.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Irvine, California
February 12, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1999.
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EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except par value)

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments (Note 7)
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $8.3 and $7.9, respectively
Other receivables
Inventories (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments (Note 7)
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 5)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (Note 6)
Goodwill (Note 10)
Other intangible assets, net (Note 10)
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities (Note 5)
Operating lease liabilities (Note 6)
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 11)
Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 12)
Taxes payable (Note 18)
Operating lease liabilities (Note 6)
Uncertain tax positions (Note 18)
Litigation settlement accrual (Note 3)
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6, 11, and 19)
Stockholders' equity (Note 15)
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 50.0 shares, no shares outstanding

Common stock, $1.00 par value, 1,050.0 shares authorized, 650.5 and 646.3 shares issued, and 601.1 and 608.3 shares outstanding,

respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 16)
Treasury stock, at cost, 49.4 and 38.0 shares, respectively
Total Edwards Lifesciences Corporation stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest (Note 9)
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ASSETS
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December 31,
2023 2022

1,1440 § 769.0
500.5 446.3
775.1 643.0
61.8 56.1
1,168.2 875.5
146.8 110.0
239.3 195.9
4,035.7 3,095.8
583.9 1,239.0
1,749.4 1,632.8
94.0 92.3
1,253.5 1,164.3
428.4 285.2
754.6 484.0
463.7 299.1
9,363.2 $ 8,292.5
2014 § 201.9
969.1 795.0
24.9 25.5
1,195.4 1,022.4
597.0 596.3
— 26.2
80.6 143.4
73.0 69.5
339.3 267.5
94.2 143.0
264.3 217.5
2,643.8 2,485.8
650.5 646.3
2,274.4 1,969.3
8,992.4 7,590.0
(242.8) (254.9)
(5,024.5) (4,144.0)
6,650.0 5,806.7
69.4 —
6,719.4 5,806.7
9,363.2 § 8,292.5
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EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in millions, except per share information)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Net sales $ 6,004.8 $ 5,382.4 5,232.5
Cost of sales 1,379.8 1,080.4 1,248.9
Gross profit 4,625.0 4,302.0 3,983.6
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 1,824.6 1,567.6 1,493.7
Research and development expenses 1,071.8 945.2 903.1
Intellectual property agreement and litigation expense (Note 3) 203.5 15.8 20.6
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liabilities (Note 12) (26.2) (35.8) (124.1)
Special charge and separation costs (Note 4) 17.2 60.7 —
Operating income 1,534.1 1,748.5 1,690.3
Interest expense 17.6 19.2 18.4
Interest income (67.2) (35.5) (17.4)
Other income, net (Note 17) (14.4) (2.6) (12.7)
Income before provision for income taxes 1,598.1 1,767.4 1,702.0
Provision for income taxes (Note 18) 198.7 245.5 198.9
Net income 1,399.4 1,521.9 1,503.1
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (Note 9) (3.0) — —
Net income attributable to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation. $ 1,4024 $ 1,521.9 1,503.1
Share information (Note 2):
Earnings per share attributable to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation:
Basic $ 231§ 2.46 241
Diluted $ 230 $ 2.44 2.38
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding attributable to Edwards Lifesciences
Corporation:
Basic 606.7 619.0 623.3
Diluted 609.4 624.2 631.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net income $ 1,399.4 $ 11,5219 $ 1,503.1
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (Note 16):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 43 (46.3) (50.1)
Unrealized (loss) gain on hedges (23.1) (5.9) 57.4
Unrealized pension (costs) credits 9.9) 13.7 11.6
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments 40.8 (58.7) (15.5)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 12.1 (97.2) 3.4
Comprehensive income 1,411.5 1,424.7 1,506.5
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (3.0) — —
$ 1,4145 $ 1,4247 $ 1,506.5

Comprehensive income attributable to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash operating lease cost
Stock-based compensation (Notes 2 and 15)
Impairment charges (Note 4)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liabilities (Note 12)
Loss (gain) on investments, net
Deferred income taxes
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and other receivables, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Intellectual property agreement accrual
Income taxes
Long-term prepaid royalties (Note 3)
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments (Note 7)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of held-to-maturity investments (Note 7)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments (Note 7)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sale investments (Note 7)
Business combination, net of cash (Note 9)
Payments for acquisition options (Note 8)
Issuances of notes receivable
Collections of notes receivable
Investments in intangible assets
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Payments on debt and finance lease obligations
Purchases of treasury stock
Proceeds from stock plans
Other
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year (Note 5)

(in millions)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
13994 S 1,5219 S 1,503.1
144.9 139.6 134.8
282 272 28.5
139.4 126.8 109.3
— 55.1 4.0
(26.2) (35.8) (124.1)
0.1 515 (36.8)
(272.1) (254.5) (41.4)
8.4 78 94
(141.2) (84.1) ©O1.1)
(289.0) (213.4) 19.0
(81.8) 0.1 79
146.0 (21.4) 195.2
(33.0) (45.0) (29.2)
(5.8) (5.6) 62.0
(109.9) — —
(11.6) (52.0) (18.5)
895.8 12182 1,732.1
(253.0) (244.6) (325.8)
(66.4) (353.5) (250.0)
97.9 4195 138.0
©.1) (315.8) (1,629.3)
617.9 939.6 3912
(95.2) — —
(30.0) (109.6) (13.1)
(62.5) (52.3) (5.1)
— 18.0 20.0
(13.3) (20.2) (4.0)
(12.5) (28.8) (44.4)
1738 2523 (1,722.5)
— — 52
0.3) 0.2) (7.0)
(879.6) (1,727.1) (512.8)
169.9 146.4 158.6
(1.0) (3.6) 0.3)
(711.0) (1,584.5) (356.3)
16.8 19.2 13.9
3754 (94.8) (332.8)
7726 867.4 1,200.2
1,1480 S 7726 $ 367.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020
Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Common stock issued under equity plans
Stock-based compensation expense
Purchases of treasury stock

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021
Net income

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Common stock issued under equity plans
Stock-based compensation expense
Purchases of treasury stock

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022
Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Common stock issued under equity plans
Stock-based compensation expense
Purchases of treasury stock

Changes to noncontrolling interest (Note 9)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023

Common Stock

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION

(in millions)

Treasury Stock

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Total Edwards

Accumulated Lifesciences
Additional Other Corporation
Par Paid-in Retained  Comprehensive Stockholders' Noncontrolling Total
Shares  Value  Shares  Amount Capital Earnings Loss Equity Interest Stockholders'Equity
636.4 $ 636.4 12.1 8§ (1,904.1) $ 14381 § 45650 § (161.1) $ 45743 § $ 4,574.3
1,503.1 1,503.1 1,503.1
3.4 34 3.4
5.6 5.6 153.0 158.6 158.6
109.3 109.3 109.3
5.8 (512.8) (512.8) (512.8)
642.0 642.0 17.9 (2,416.9) 1,700.4 6,068.1 (157.7) 5,835.9 5,835.9
1,521.9 1,521.9 1,521.9
97.2) 97.2) 97.2)
43 43 142.1 146.4 146.4
126.8 126.8 126.8
20.1 (1,727.1) (1,727.1) (1,727.1)
646.3 646.3 38.0 (4,144.0) 1,969.3 7,590.0 (254.9) 5,806.7 — 5,806.7
1,402.4 1,402.4 (3.0) 1,399.4
12.1 12.1 12.1
42 42 165.7 169.9 169.9
139.4 139.4 139.4
11.4 (880.5) (880.5) (880.5)
— 72.4 72.4
650.5 $ 650.5 494 § (5,0245) $ 22744 § 89924 § (242.8) $ 6,650.0 § 694 § 6,719.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Edwards Lifesciences Corporation ("Edwards Lifesciences," "Edwards," or the "Company") conducts operations worldwide and is managed in the following
geographical regions: United States, Europe, Japan, and Rest of World. Edwards Lifesciences is focused on technologies that treat structural heart disease and
critically ill patients. The products and technologies provided by Edwards Lifesciences are categorized into the following main groups: Transcatheter Aortic Valve
Replacement ("TAVR"), Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies ("TMTT"), Surgical Structural Heart ("Surgical"), and Critical Care. On December 7, 2023,
the Company announced its intention to complete a tax-free spin-off of its Critical Care product group around the end of 2024. The planned separation will enable
the Company to pursue expanded opportunities for TAVR, TMTT, and Surgical patients, as well as new investments in interventional heart failure technologies.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Edwards Lifesciences, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and variable interest entities
for which the Company is the primary beneficiary (see Note 8). The Company attributes the net income or losses of its consolidated variable interest entities to
controlling and noncontrolling interests using the hypothetical liquidation at book value method. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements of Edwards Lifesciences have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America ("GAAP") which have been applied consistently in all material respects. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

When the local currency of the Company's foreign entities is the functional currency, all assets and liabilities are translated into United States dollars at the rate
of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the weighted-average exchange rate prevailing during the period. The
effects of foreign currency translation adjustments for these entities are deferred and reported in stockholders' equity as a component of "Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss." The effects of foreign currency transactions denominated in a currency other than an entity's functional currency are included in "Other
Income, net."

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those products or services.

The Company generates nearly all of its revenue from direct product sales and sales of products under consignment arrangements. Revenue from direct product
sales is recognized at a point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the product. Revenue from sales of consigned inventory is
recognized at a point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied once the product has been implanted or used by the customer. The Company periodically
reviews consignment inventories to confirm the accuracy of customer reporting. The Company also generates a small portion of its revenue from service contracts,
which is recognized ratably over the term of the contracts. Sales taxes and other similar taxes that the Company collects concurrent with revenue-producing activities
are excluded from revenue. The Company does not typically have any significant unusual payment terms beyond 90 days in its contracts with customers. In addition,
the Company
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

receives royalty payments for the licensing of certain intellectual property and recognizes the royalty when the subsequent sale of product using the intellectual
property occurs.

The amount of consideration the Company ultimately receives varies depending upon the return terms, sales rebates, discounts, and other incentives that the
Company may offer, which are accounted for as variable consideration when estimating the amount of revenue to recognize. The Company includes estimated
amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the
transaction price are based largely upon an assessment of historical payment experience, historical relationship to revenues, estimated customer inventory levels, and
current contract sales terms with direct and indirect customers.

The Company's sales adjustment related to distributor rebates given to the Company's United States distributors represents the difference between the
Company's sales price to the distributor and the negotiated price to be paid by the end-customer. This distributor rebate is recorded as a reduction to sales and a
reduction to the distributor's accounts receivable at the time of sale to a distributor. The Company periodically monitors current pricing trends and distributor
inventory levels to ensure the credit for future distributor rebates is fairly stated.

The Company offers volume rebates to certain group purchasing organizations ("GPOs") and customers based upon targeted sales levels. Volume rebates
offered to GPOs are recorded as a reduction to sales and an obligation to the GPOs, as the Company expects to pay in cash. Volume rebates offered to customers are
recorded as a reduction to sales and either a reduction to accounts receivable if the Company expects a net payment from the customer, or as an obligation to the
customer if the Company expects to pay in cash. The provision for volume rebates is estimated based upon customers' contracted rebate programs, projected sales
levels, and historical experience of rebates paid. The Company periodically monitors its customer rebate programs to ensure that the allowance and liability for
accrued rebates is fairly stated.

Product returns are typically not significant because returns are generally not allowed unless the product is damaged at time of receipt. In limited
circumstances, the Company may allow customers to return previously purchased products, such as for next-generation product offerings. For these transactions, the
Company defers recognition of revenue on the sale of the earlier generation product based upon an estimate of the amount of product to be returned when the next-
generation products are shipped to the customer.

The Company sells separately priced service contracts, which range from 12 to 36 months, to owners of its hemodynamic monitors. The Company invoices the
customer the total amount of consideration at the inception of the contract and recognizes revenue ratably over the term of the contract. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, $13.3 million and $10.6 million, respectively, of deferred revenue associated with outstanding service contracts was recorded in “Accrued and Other
Liabilities” and "Other Liabilities." During 2023, the Company recognized as revenue $7.6 million that was included in the balance of deferred revenue as of
December 31, 2022, and during 2022, the Company recognized as revenue $7.2 million that was included in the balance of deferred revenue as of December 31,
2021.

A limited number of the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the transaction price is allocated to
each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price charged to other customers.

The Company applies the optional exemption of not disclosing the amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations for
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.

Shipping and Handling Costs
Shipping costs, which are costs incurred to physically move product from the Company's premises or third party distribution centers, including storage, to the
customer's premises, are included in "Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses." Handling costs, which are costs incurred to store at the Company's premises,

move, and prepare products for shipment, are included in "Cost of Sales." For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, shipping costs of $99.4 million,
$87.4 million, and $85.3 million, respectively, were included in "Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses."
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Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. These
investments are valued at cost, which approximates fair value.

Investments

The Company invests its excess cash in debt securities, including time deposits, commercial paper, United States government and agency securities, asset-
backed securities, corporate debt securities, and municipal debt securities. Investments with maturities of one year or less are classified as short-term, and
investments with maturities greater than one year are classified as long-term. Investments that the Company has the ability and intent to hold until maturity are
classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost. Investments in debt securities that are classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses included in "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss." The Company determines the appropriate classification of its investments in debt
securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date.

The Company also has long-term equity investments in companies that are in various stages of development. These investments are reported at fair value or
under the equity method of accounting, as appropriate. Equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values are recorded at cost minus impairment, if
any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer. The Company
accounts for investments in limited partnerships and limited liability corporations, whereby the Company owns a minimum of 3% of the investee's outstanding
voting stock, under the equity method of accounting. These investments are recorded at the amount of the Company's investment and adjusted each period for the
Company's share of the investee's income or loss, and dividends paid.

Realized gains and losses on investments that are sold are determined using the specific identification method, or the first-in, first-out method, depending on
the investment type, and recorded to "Other Income, net." Income relating to investments in debt securities is recorded to "Interest Income."

Equity investments without readily determinable fair value are considered impaired when there is an indication that the fair value of the Company's interest is
less than the carrying amount. Equity method investments are considered impaired when there is an indication of an other-than-temporary decline in value below the
carrying amount. Impairments of equity investments are recorded in "Other Income, net.”

Debt securities in an unrealized loss position are written down to fair value through "Other Income, net" if the Company intends to sell the security or it is more
likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. For debt securities in an unrealized loss position that
do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company assesses whether the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment, the Company considers the length of time and the extent to which the security's fair value has been below cost, changes to the rating of the security by a
rating agency, and any adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors. When a credit loss exists, the Company compares the present
value of cash flows expected to be collected from the debt security to the amortized cost basis of the security to determine the allowance amount that should be
recorded, if any.

Accounts Receivable

The majority of the Company’s accounts receivable arise from direct product sales and sales of products under consignment arrangements, and have payment
terms that generally require payment within 30 to 90 days. The Company does not adjust its receivables for the effects of a significant financing component at
contract inception if collection of the receivable is expected within one year or less from the time of sale. In countries where the Company has experienced a pattern
of payments extending beyond the stated terms and collection of the receivable is expected beyond one year from the time of sale, the Company assesses whether the
customer has a significant financing component and discounts the receivable and reduces the related revenues over the period of time that the Company estimates
those amounts will be paid using the country’s market-based borrowing rate for such period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Company provides reserves against accounts receivable for estimated losses that may result from a customer’s inability to pay based on customer-specific
analysis and general matters such as current assessments of past due balances, economic conditions and forecasts, and historical credit loss activity. Amounts
determined to be uncollectible are charged or written-off against the reserve.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value. Market value for raw materials is based on replacement costs, and
for other inventory classifications is based on net realizable value.

A write-down for excess or slow moving inventory is recorded for inventory which is obsolete, damaged, nearing its expiration date (generally triggered at six
months prior to expiration), or slow moving (generally defined as quantities in excess of a two-year supply).

The Company allocates to inventory general and administrative costs that are related to the production process. These costs include insurance, manufacturing
accounting and human resources personnel, and information technology. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company allocated $96.9
million, $88.1 million, and $77.9 million, respectively, of general and administrative costs to inventory. General and administrative costs included in inventory at
December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $45.7 million and $43.7 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, $164.6 million and $128.6 million, respectively, of the Company's finished goods inventories were held on consignment.
Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is principally calculated for financial reporting purposes on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements, from 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment, and
from 3 to 5 years for software. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the related facility leases or the asset, whichever is shorter. Straight-line and
accelerated methods of depreciation are used for income tax purposes. Construction in progress is not depreciated until the asset is ready for its intended use.

Depreciation expense for property, plant, and equipment was $138.9 million, $133.9 million, and $127.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.

Leases

The Company determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception. Right-of-use assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset
during the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are recognized at lease commencement based upon the estimated present value of unpaid lease payments over the lease term. The Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate based on the information available at lease commencement in determining the present value of unpaid lease payments. The Company's incremental
borrowing rate is determined based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term as the associated lease. Right-of-use assets also
include any lease payments made at or before lease commencement and any initial direct costs incurred, and exclude any lease incentives received.

The Company determines the lease term as the noncancellable period of the lease, and may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is
reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recognized on the balance sheet. Certain of the
Company’s leases include variable lease payments that are based on costs incurred or actual usage, or adjusted periodically based on an index or a rate. The
Company’s leases do not contain any residual value guarantees.

The Company accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component for all of its leases except vehicle leases, for which the lease and
non-lease components are accounted for separately.
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Operating leases are included in “Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets” and “Operating Lease Liabilities” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. See
Note 6 for further information.

Acquisitions

Businesses that the Company acquires are included in its results of operations as of the acquisition date. The purchase price is allocated to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred. Contingent consideration obligations
incurred in connection with a business combination are recorded at their fair values on the acquisition date and remeasured on a quarterly basis, with changes in their
fair value recorded as an adjustment to earnings, until the related contingencies have been resolved. When the assets acquired do not meet the definition of a business
combination, the transactions is accounted for as an asset acquisition. In an asset acquisition, the cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values. Upfront payments related to in-process research and development projects with no alternative future use are
expensed upon acquisition.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that would
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level by first performing a qualitative assessment to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the reporting unit does not pass the qualitative
assessment, then the Company performs a quantitative impairment test. The Company determined, after performing a qualitative review of each reporting unit, that it
is more likely than not that the fair value of each of its reporting units substantially exceeds the respective carrying amounts. Accordingly, in 2023, 2022, and 2021,
the Company did not record any goodwill impairment loss.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets relate to in-process research and development acquired in business combinations. The estimated fair values of in-process
research and development projects acquired in a business combination which have not reached technological feasibility are capitalized and accounted for as
indefinite-lived intangible assets subject to impairment testing until completion or abandonment of the projects. Upon successful completion of the project, the
capitalized amount is amortized over its estimated useful life. If the project is abandoned, all remaining capitalized amounts are written off immediately. Indefinite-
lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that
would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when the asset's carrying value exceeds its fair value. In-process research
and development projects acquired in an asset acquisition are expensed unless the project has an alternative future use.

Management reviews the carrying amounts of other finite-lived intangible assets and long-lived tangible assets whenever events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment indicators include, among other conditions, cash flow deficits, historic or anticipated declines
in revenue or operating profit, and adverse legal or regulatory developments. If it is determined that such indicators are present and the review indicates that the
assets will not be fully recoverable, based on undiscounted estimated cash flows over the remaining amortization periods, their carrying values are reduced to
estimated fair market value. Estimated fair market value is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk
involved. For the purposes of identifying and measuring impairment, long-lived assets are grouped with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities.

In 2022, the Company recorded a $52.7 million impairment of certain developed technology and in-process research and development assets. For further
information, see Note 4 and Note 9. In 2023 and 2021, the Company did not record any impairment loss related to its in-process research and development assets.
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Income Taxes

The Company is subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Company's
uncertain tax positions and determining its provision for income taxes. The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after
determining that a position would more likely than not be sustained based upon its technical merit if challenged by the relevant taxing authority and taken by
management to the court of last resort. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements
is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the relevant tax authority. The Company recognizes interest and
penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company has made an accounting policy election to recognize the United States tax effects of
global intangible low-taxed income as a component of income tax expense in the period the tax arises.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's financial
statements or tax returns. The Company evaluates quarterly the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance and adjusting the amount,
if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are both historical experience and the Company's forecast of future taxable income and available
tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income in the applicable taxing
jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and could result in an increase in the Company's effective tax rate on future earnings.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to expense when incurred.
Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
share is computed based on the weighted-average common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period
calculated using the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares include employee equity share options, nonvested shares, and similar equity

instruments granted by the Company. Potential common share equivalents have been excluded where their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

The table below presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in millions, except for per share information):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Basic:
Net income attributable to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation $ 1,4024 $ 1,5219 $ 1,503.1
Weighted-average shares outstanding 606.7 619.0 623.3
Basic earnings per share $ 231 § 246 § 241
Diluted:
Net income attributable to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation $ 1,4024 $ 1,5219 $ 1,503.1
Weighted-average shares outstanding 606.7 619.0 623.3
Dilutive effect of stock plans 2.7 52 7.9
Dilutive weighted-average shares outstanding 609.4 624.2 631.2
Diluted earnings per share $ 230 $ 244§ 2.38

Outstanding stock options, unvested restricted stock units, and unvested market-based restricted stock units to purchase approximately 6.6 million, 3.6 million,
and 1.8 million shares for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
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respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on estimated fair values. Stock-based awards consist of stock
options, restricted stock units (service-based and market-based), and employee stock purchase subscriptions. Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the
grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over each award's requisite service period (vesting period) on a straight-line basis.
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Upon exercise of stock
options or vesting of restricted stock units, the Company issues common stock.

Total stock-based compensation expense was as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Cost of sales $ 236 $ 228 $ 20.4
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 82.4 75.3 65.6
Research and development expenses 33.4 28.7 233
Total stock-based compensation expense 139.4 126.8 109.3
Income tax benefit (24.1) (21.6) (18.9)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 1153  § 1052 § 90.4

Upon a participant's retirement, all unvested stock options are immediately forfeited. In addition, upon retirement, a participant will immediately vest in 25% of
service-based restricted stock units for each full year of employment with the Company measured from the grant date. All remaining unvested service-based
restricted stock units are immediately forfeited. For market-based restricted stock units, upon retirement and in certain other specified cases, a participant will receive
a pro-rated portion of the shares that would ultimately be issued based on attainment of the performance goals as determined on the vesting date. The pro-rated
portion is based on the participant's whole months of service with the Company during the performance period prior to the date of termination.

Derivatives

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its currency exchange rate risk and its interest rate risk. It is the Company's policy not to enter
into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments involve credit risk in the event the counterparty should default. It is the Company's policy to execute such instruments with
global financial institutions that the Company believes to be creditworthy. The Company diversifies its derivative financial instruments among counterparties to
minimize exposure to any one of these entities. The Company also uses International Swap Dealers Association master-netting agreements. The master-netting
agreements provide for the net settlement of all contracts through a single payment in a single currency in the event of default, as defined by the agreements.

The Company uses foreign currency forward exchange contracts and cross currency swap contracts to manage its exposure to changes in currency exchange
rates from (1) future cash flows associated with intercompany transactions and certain local currency expenses expected to occur within approximately 1 year
(designated as cash flow hedges), (2) its net investment in certain foreign subsidiaries (designated as net investment hedges) and (3) foreign currency denominated
assets or liabilities (designated as fair value hedges). The Company also uses foreign currency forward exchange contracts that are not designated as hedging
instruments to offset the transaction gains and losses associated with the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than their
functional currencies, resulting principally from intercompany and local currency transactions.
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All derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. For each derivative instrument that is designated as a fair
value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness is recognized immediately to earnings, and offsets the loss or gain
on the underlying hedged item. The Company reports in "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss" the gain or loss on derivative financial instruments that are
designated, and that qualify, as cash flow hedges. The Company reclassifies these gains and losses into earnings in the same line item and in the same period in
which the underlying hedged transactions affect earnings. Changes in the fair value of net investment hedges are reported in "Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss" as a part of the cumulative translation adjustment and would be reclassified into earnings if the underlying net investment is sold or substantially liquidated.
The portion of the change in fair value related to components excluded from the hedge effectiveness assessment are amortized into earnings over the life of the
derivative. The gains and losses on derivative financial instruments for which the Company does not elect hedge accounting treatment are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations in each period based upon the change in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument. Upon settlement, cash flows from
net investment hedges are reported as investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows, and cash flows from all other derivative financial instruments
are reported as operating activities.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an amendment to the accounting guidance on income taxes which requires
entities to provide additional information in the rate reconciliation and additional disaggregated disclosures about income taxes paid. This guidance requires public
entities to disclose in their rate reconciliation table additional categories of information about federal, state, and foreign income taxes and to provide more details
about the reconciling items in some categories if the items meet a quantitative threshold. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15,
2024. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to impact its financial statements, but the guidance will impact its income tax disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting guidance on segment reporting. The amendments require disclosure of significant
segment expenses and other segment items and requires entities to provide in interim periods all disclosures about a reportable segment's profit or loss and assets that
are currently required annually. The amendment also requires disclosure of the title and position of the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") and an explanation
of how the CODM uses the reported measure(s) of segment profit or loss in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. The guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Retrospective application is
required, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is curently evaluating the impact the guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2023, the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting guidance on investments in tax credit structures to allow entities to elect to account for their
tax equity investments, regardless of the tax credit program from which the income tax credits are received, using the proportional amortization method if certain
conditions are met. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company
does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial results or disclosures.

3. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AGREEMENT AND EXPENSE

The Company incurred intellectual property litigation expenses, including settlements and external legal costs, of $203.5 million, $15.8 million and $20.6
million during 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

On April 12,2023, Edwards entered into an Intellectual Property Agreement (the "Intellectual Property Agreement") with Medtronic, Inc. ("Medtronic")
pursuant to which the parties agreed to a 15-year global covenant not to sue ("CNS") for infringement of certain patents in the structural heart space owned or
controlled by each other. In consideration for the global CNS and related mutual access to certain intellectual property rights, Edwards paid to Medtronic a one-time,
lump sum payment of $300.0 million and is paying annual royalty payments that are tied to net sales of certain Edwards products. Based upon the terms of the
Intellectual Property Agreement, the Company identified the relevant elements for accounting purposes and allocated the $300.0 million upfront payment based on
their respective fair values. The Company recorded a $37.0 million pre-tax charge in "Intellectual Property Agreement and Litigation Expense" in March 2023
related primarily to prior commercial sales incurred through March 31, 2023. The Company recorded a prepaid royalty asset of $124.0 million in April
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3. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AGREEMENT AND EXPENSE (Continued)

2023 related to future commercial sales, which will be amortized to expense during the term of the Intellectual Property Agreement. Separately, the Company
recorded a $139.0 million pre-tax charge in "Intellectual Property Agreement and Litigation Expense" in April 2023 related to products currently in development.

4. SPECIAL CHARGE AND SEPARATION COSTS

On December 7, 2023, the Company announced its intention to complete a spin-oft of its Critical Care product group as a separate publicly traded company to
Edwards Lifesciences' shareholders. The proposed spin-off is intended to be a tax-free transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes and is expected to be
completed around the end of 2024, subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions including final approval by the Company's board of directors, receipt of a
favorable opinion and Internal Revenue Service ruling with respect to the tax-free nature of the transaction, and the effectiveness of a registration statement on Form
10. The Company recorded a charge to its United States segment of $17.2 million, primarily related to costs incurred for consulting, legal, tax, and other professional

advisory services associated with the planned spin-off.

In September 2022, the Company decided to exit its HARPOON surgical mitral repair system program. As a result, the Company recorded a charge to its
United States segment of $62.3 million, of which $60.7 million was included in "Special Charge and Separation Costs" and $1.6 million was included in "Cost of’
Sales" on the consolidated statements of operations. The charge primarily related to the full impairment of intangible assets associated with the technology for
$52.7 million (see Note 9 and Note 10) and other related exit costs. The Company believes that no additional contingent consideration is due and, in September
2022, recorded an $11.7 million contingent consideration gain associated with the exit (see Note 12).

5. OTHER CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT DETAILS

Composition of Certain Financial Statement Captions

Components of selected captions in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

Inventories
Raw materials
Work in process
Finished products

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Equipment with customers
Software
Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation

Accrued and other liabilities

Employee compensation and withholdings

Accrued rebates
Property, payroll, and other taxes

As of December 31,
2023 2022
(in millions)

$ 2526 § 156.4
220.1 177.4
695.5 541.7
$ 1,1682 § 875.5
$ 116.4 $ 116.3
1,234.2 1,189.2
775.8 697.6
37.9 374
87.2 87.5
3553 255.2
2,606.8 2,383.2
(857.4) (750.4)
$ 1,7494 § 1,632.8
$ 3712 $ 268.7
131.4 116.1
63.0 45.6
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Research and development accruals
Legal and insurance (Notes 3 and 19)
Litigation settlement

Taxes payable

Fair value of derivatives

Accrued marketing expenses
Accrued professional services
Accrued realignment reserves
Accrued relocation costs

Accrued warranties

Other accrued liabilities

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
(in millions)

Cash paid during the year for:

Interest

Income taxes

Amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities
Non-cash investing and financing transactions:

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities

Capital expenditures accruals

Conversion of notes receivable to equity investment

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
(in millions)

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash included in other current assets
Restricted cash included in other assets

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Amounts included in restricted cash primarily represent funds placed in escrow related to litigation.

6. LEASES

As of December 31,
2023 2022
(in millions)
74.1 66.9
30.7 28.1
69.1 533
59.3 50.6
15.2 20.7
15.0 17.0
8.8 6.6
12.3 15.6
19.2 25.2
10.0 8.4
89.8 72.2
$ 969.1 § 795.0
Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
$ 199 $ 193 §$ 20.2
$ 470.1 $ 504.1 $ 182.5
$ 288 $ 28.1 $ 31.9
$ 293 § 319 § 28.7
$ 455 § 426 $ 54.3
$ — 3 — $ 21.5
Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
$  1,1440 $ 769.0 $ 862.8
33 0.5 L.5
0.7 3.1 3.1
$  1,1480 $ 7726 S 367.4

The Company leases certain office space, manufacturing facilities, land, apartments, warehouses, vehicles, and equipment with remaining lease terms ranging

from less than 1 year to 17 years, some of which include options to extend or terminate the leases.
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Operating lease costs for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $30.1 million, $28.8 million, and $29.7 million, respectively. Short-term
and variable lease costs were not material for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases was as follows (in millions, except lease term and discount rate):

As of December 31,
2023 2022
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 94.0 $ 92.3
Operating lease liabilities, current portion $ 249 § 25.5
Operating lease liabilities, long-term portion 73.0 69.5
Total operating lease liabilities $ 979 § 95.0
Maturities of operating lease liabilities at December 31, 2023 were as follows (in millions):
2024 $ 26.8
2025 19.6
2026 16.3
2027 12.9
2028 9.5
Thereafter 20.7
Total lease payments 105.8
Less: imputed interest (7.9)
Total lease liabilities $ 97.9

The following table provides information on the lease terms and discount rates:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 5.9 6.4
Weighted-average discount rate 23 % 1.8 %

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had additional operating lease commitments of $16.0 million for office spaces that have not yet commenced.
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Debt Securities

Investments in debt securities at the end of each period were as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Held-to-maturity Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Bank time deposits $ 645 $ — 3 — 3 645 $ 96.0 3 — 3 — 3 96.0
Available-for-sale
U.S. government and agency securities ~ $ 727 $ 0.1 § 2.8) $ 700 $ 137.7  § — § 6.1) $ 131.6
Asset-backed securities 192.1 — (7.8) 184.3 380.6 — (14.0) 366.6
Corporate debt securities 658.5 — (16.7) 641.8 1,028.1 — (47.8) 980.3
Municipal securities 2.8 — (0.2) 2.6 2.7 — 0.2) 2.5

$ 9261 $ 01 $ (275) $ 8987 $ 1,549.1 § — 3 (68.1) $  1,481.0

The cost and fair value of investments in debt securities, by contractual maturity, as of December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Held-to-Maturity Available-for-Sale
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value
(in millions)
Due in 1 year or less $ 645 § 645 § 4432 § 436.0
Due after 1 year through 5 years — — 267.8 257.0
Due after 10 years — — 0.9 0.9
Instruments not due at a single maturity date ® — — 214.2 204.8
$ 645 § 645 § 926.1 $§ 898.7

(a) Consists of mortgage- and asset-backed securities.

Actual maturities may differ from the contractual maturities due to call or prepayment rights.
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The following tables present gross unrealized losses and fair values for those investments that were in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, aggregated by investment category and the length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position (in millions):

December 31, 2023

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. government and agency securities $ — = $ 67.1 $ 28 $ 67.1 $ (2.8)
Asset-backed securities 10.2 (1.8) 172.7 (6.0) 182.9 (7.8)
Corporate debt securities 25.0 (0.1) 601.3 (16.6) 626.3 (16.7)
Municipal securities — — 2.6 0.2) 2.6 0.2)
$ 352§ 19 8 8437 $ (25.6) $ 8789 $ (27.5)
December 31, 2022
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. government and agency securities $ 61.6 $ 15 3 69.5 $ “46) $ 131.1 $ 6.1)
Asset-backed securities 103.3 (1.3) 254.6 (12.7) 357.9 (14.0)
Corporate debt securities 189.0 (5.3) 784.8 (42.5) 973.8 (47.8)
Municipal securities — — 2.5 0.2) 2.5 (0.2)
$ 3539 § @1 8 L1114 $ (60.0) $ 14653 $ (68.1)

The Company reviews its investments in debt securities to determine if there has been an other-than-temporary decline in fair value. Consideration is given to
1) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, including the credit quality of the security's issuer, 2) the Company's intent to sell the security, and 3)
whether it is more likely than not the Company will have to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost. The decline in fair value of the debt securities was
largely due to changes in interest rates, not credit quality, and as of December 31, 2023, the Company did not intend to sell the securities, and it was not more likely
than not that it will be required to sell the securities before recovery of the unrealized losses, and, therefore, the unrealized losses are considered temporary.

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

The Company has a number of equity investments in unconsolidated entities. These investments are recorded in "Long-term Investments" on the consolidated
balance sheets, and are as follows:

December 31,

2023 2022

(in millions)
Equity method investments

Carrying value of equity method investments $ 336 § 21.4
Equity securities

Carrying value of non-marketable equity securities 87.6 86.9
Total investments in unconsolidated entities $ 1212 § 108.3
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During 2023, the Company made $12.1 million of equity investments in limited liability companies that invest in qualified community development entities
("CDEs") through the New Markets Tax Credit ("NMTC") program. The NMTC program provides federal tax incentives to investors to make investments in
distressed communities and promotes economic improvements through the development of successful businesses in these communities. The NMTC is equal to 39%
of the qualified investment and is taken over seven years. These limited liability companies are variable interest entities ("VIEs"). The Company determined that it is
not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs because it does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the
VIEs, and, therefore, the Company does not consolidate these entities. Instead, the NMTC investments are accounted for as equity method investments.

Non-marketable equity securities consist of investments in privately held companies without readily determinable fair values, and are reported at cost minus
impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer.
During 2023, the Company did not record any upward or downward adjustments due to observable price changes or impairments. During 2022, the Company
recorded an upward adjustment of $0.8 million based on observable price changes and a downward adjustment of $0.5 million due to an impairment. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company had recorded cumulative upward adjustments of $8.8 million based on observable price changes, and cumulative downward
adjustments of $3.1 million due to impairments and observable price changes.

During 2023, 2022, and 2021, the gross realized gains or losses from sales of available-for-sale investments were not material.
8. INVESTMENTS IN VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company reviews its investments in other entities to determine whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE"). The
Company would be the primary beneficiary of the VIE, and would be required to consolidate the VIE, if it has the power to direct the significant activities of the
entity and the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits from the entity that may be significant to the VIE. The Company's maximum loss exposure to variable
interest entities, prior to the exercise of options to acquire the entities, is limited to its investment in the variable interest entities, which include equity investments,
options to acquire, and promissory notes.

Consolidated VIEs

In February 2023, the Company acquired a majority equity interest in a medical technology company pursuant to a preferred stock purchase agreement, and
amended and restated a previous option agreement to acquire the remaining equity interest. Edwards concluded that it is the primary beneficiary and consolidated the
VIE. See Note 9 for additional information.

Unconsolidated VIEs

Edwards has relationships with various VIEs that it does not consolidate as Edwards lacks the power to direct the activities that significantly impact the
economic success of these entities.

In March 2023, the Company agreed to pay a medical device company up to $45.0 million as consideration for an option to acquire the medical device
company, of which $30.0 million had been paid as of December 31, 2023. Also, in March 2023, Edwards advanced $5.0 million to the medical device company
under a convertible promissory note. The option and the note are included in "Other Assets" on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023.

In August 2022, the Company entered into an option agreement with a medical device company. Under the option agreement, Edwards paid $47.1 million for
an option to acquire the medical device company. The $47.1 million option is included in "Other Assets" on the consolidated balance sheets.

In June 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note and amended its existing warrant agreement with a medical device company. Under the
convertible promissory note agreement, the Company agreed to loan the medical device company up to $47.5 million, of which $32.5 million had been advanced as
of December 31, 2023. In addition, in 2019, the Company paid $35.0 million for an option to acquire the medical device company. The $35.0 million option and the
$32.5 million note receivable are included in "Other Assets" on the consolidated balance sheets.
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In May 2022, the Company entered into an option agreement with a medical technology company. Under the option agreement, Edwards paid $60.0 million for
an option to acquire the medical technology company, of which $10.0 million was paid in 2021. In addition, during 2023, the Company entered into two promissory
notes totaling $25.0 million with the medical technology company. The $60.0 million option and the $25.0 million note receivable are included in "Other Assets" on
the consolidated balance sheets.

In April 2021, the Company entered into a $45.0 million secured promissory note agreement with a privately-held medical device company (the "Investee"), of
which $30.0 million had been advanced as of December 31, 2023. Also in 2021, the Company invested $39.3 million, included in "Long-term Investments," in the
Investee's preferred equity securities and paid $13.1 million, included in "Other Assets," for an option to acquire the Investee. Pursuant to the agreement, the
Company may be required to invest up to an additional $6.5 million in the Investee's preferred equity securities and up to an additional $14.4 million for the option
to acquire the Investee.

In addition, Edwards has made equity investments through the NMTC program in limited liability companies that are considered VIEs. For more information,
see Note 7.

9. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On February 28, 2023, the Company acquired 61% of the then outstanding shares of a medical technology company in an all cash transaction. The Company
determined it was the primary beneficiary of this VIE, and the VIE has been consolidated in the Company's consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
Company amended and restated its previous option agreement with the medical technology company. The option agreement gives Edwards the option to acquire the
remaining equity interest in the medical technology company.

The medical technology company is dedicated to developing technologies for detecting and managing patients with cardiovascular disease. The transaction was
accounted for as a business combination. Tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired were recorded based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired was recorded to goodwill. The following table summarizes the fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in millions):

Assets $ 8.1
Goodwill ® 1332
In-process research and development 136.6
Liabilities assumed (1.7)
Deferred tax liabilities (28.0)
Fair value of net assets acquired 248.2
Less: Noncontrolling interest (72.4)

Total purchase price 175.8
Less: cash acquired (6.8)

Total purchase price, net of cash acquired © $ 169.0

(a) Includes the fair value of the noncontrolling interest of $94.4 million, offset by the purchase consideration allocated to the option of $22.0 million, which was ascribed to the
noncontrolling interest.

(b) Includes $22.5 million paid in a previous year under option agreements, $5.3 million for the settlement of a pre-existing note, and $46.0 million of cash paid directly to the
acquired company which was included in Edwards' consolidated cash balance and offset against goodwill post acquisition.

Goodwill includes expected synergies and other benefits the Company believes will result from the acquisition. Goodwill was assigned to the Company’s Rest
of World segment and is not deductible for tax purposes.
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Pro forma results have not been presented as the results of the medical technology company are not material in relation to the consolidated financial statements
of Edwards Lifesciences.

In-process Research and Development Assets

The business combination referred to above and the Company's previous acquisitions of Harpoon Medical, Inc ("Harpoon") on December 1, 2017 and CardiAQ
Valve Technologies, Inc. ("CardiAQ") on July 3, 2015 included the acquisition of in-process research and development assets. The in-process research and
development assets were capitalized at fair value, which was determined using the income approach. This approach determines fair value based on cash flow
projections which are discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate of return. Completion of successful design developments, bench testing, pre-clinical
studies and human clinical studies are required prior to selling any product. The risks and uncertainties associated with completing development within a reasonable
period of time include those related to the design, development, and manufacturability of the product, the success of pre-clinical and clinical studies, and the timing
of regulatory approvals.

The discount rate used to determine the fair value of the in-process research and development assets acquired from the medical technology company referred to
above was 13.0%. The valuation assumed $68.6 million of additional research and development expenditures would be incurred prior to the date of product
introduction and net cash inflows were modeled to commence in 2028. Upon completion of development, the underlying research and development intangible asset
will be amortized over its estimated useful life.

In September 2022, the Company decided to exit the HARPOON program and recorded a $28.1 million impairment charge to fully write off the in-process
research and development assets. See Note 4 for further information.

The valuation for CardiAQ assumed $97.7 million of additional research and development expenditures would be incurred prior to the date of product
introduction and that net cash inflows would commence in late 2018. As a result of certain design enhancements to increase the product's commercial life and
applicability to a broader group of patients, the Company has incurred incremental research and development expenditures. Net cash inflows commenced in Europe
in late 2023 and the associated in-process research and development assets of $69.0 million were reclassified to developed technology. Net cash inflows in the
United States are now expected to commence in 2024.

Upon completion of development, the underlying research and development intangible assets will commence amortization over their estimated useful lives.
10. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and in-process research and development assets resulting from purchase business combinations are not subject to amortization. Other acquired
intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their expected useful lives on a straight-line basis, or if reliably determinable, based on the pattern in which the

economic benefit of the asset is expected to be used. The Company expenses costs incurred to renew or extend the term of acquired intangible assets.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by segment, during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

United
States Europe Rest of World Total
(in millions)
Goodwill at December 31, 2021 $ 773.7 $ 63.0 $ 3312 $ 1,167.9
Currency translation adjustment — (3.6) — (3.6)
Goodwill at December 31, 2022 773.7 59.4 331.2 1,164.3
Goodwill acquired during the year (Note 9) — — 87.2 87.2
Currency translation adjustment — 2.0 — 2.0
Goodwill at December 31, 2023 $ 773.7 $ 614 $ 4184 $ 1,253.5
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Other intangible assets consist of the following (in millions):

December 31,
2023 2022
Weighted- Net Net
Average Useful Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Life (in years) Cost Amortization Value Cost Amortization Value
Finite-lived intangible assets
Patents 99 $ 1193 $ (87.6) $ 3.7 $ 2055 $ (185.0) $ 20.5
Developed technology 10.8 197.6 (61.9) 135.7 128.1 (57.9) 70.2
Other 10.0 12.3 (8.9) 3.4 12.2 (7.7) 45
10.6 329.2 (158.4) 170.8 345.8 (250.6) 95.2
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
In-process research and development 257.6 — 257.6 190.0 — 190.0
$ 586.8 $ (158.4) $ 4284 $ 5358 §$ (250.6) $ 285.2

Amortization expense related to other intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $6.1 million, $5.7 million, and $7.7
million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for each of the years ending December 31 is as follows (in millions):

2024 $ 5.8
2025 7.0
2026 9.4
2027 10.9
2028 14.8

11. DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITIES

In June 2018, the Company issued $600.0 million of fixed-rate unsecured senior notes (the "Notes") due June 15, 2028. Interest is payable semi-annually in
arrears, with payments due in June and December of each year. The Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time at
specified redemption prices. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain change of control triggering events, the Company may be required to repurchase all or a
portion of the Notes at a price equal to 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Notes also include covenants that limit the Company's
ability to incur secured indebtedness, enter into sale and leaseback transactions, and consolidate, merge, or transfer all or substantially all of its assets.

The following is a summary of the Notes as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,

2023 2022
Effective Effective
Amount Interest Rate Amount Interest Rate
(in millions) (in millions)

Fixed-rate 4.3% Notes $ 600.0 4329% $ 600.0 4.329 %
Unamortized discount (0.7) 0.9)
Unamortized debt issuance costs (2.3) (2.8)

Total carrying amount $ 597.0 $ 596.3
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the Notes was $591.6 million and $575.2 million, respectively, based on observable market prices in less
active markets and categorized as Level 2 (Note 12). The debt issuance costs, as well as the discount, are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the
Notes.

The Company has a Five-Year Credit Agreement ("the Credit Agreement") which provides for a $750.0 million multi-currency unsecured revolving credit
facility and matures on July 15, 2027. Subject to certain terms and conditions and the agreement of the lenders, the Company may increase the amount available
under the Credit Agreement by up to an additional $250.0 million in the aggregate and extend the maturity date for an additional year. Borrowings under the Credit
Agreement bear interest at a variable rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), plus a spread ranging from 0.785% to 1.3%, depending on the
leverage ratio or credit rating, as defined in the Credit Agreement, plus a 0.1% credit spread adjustment. The Company will also pay a facility fee ranging from
0.09% to 0.20%, depending on the Company's leverage ratio or credit rating, on the entire credit commitment available, whether or not drawn. The facility fee is
expensed as incurred. During 2023, under the Credit Agreement, the spread over SOFR was 0.9% and the facility fee was 0.1%. Issuance costs of $2.1 million are
being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no borrowings outstanding. Amounts
outstanding under the Credit Agreement, if any from time to time, are classified as long-term obligations in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement. The
Credit Agreement is unsecured and contains various financial and other covenants, including a maximum leverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The
Company was in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2023.

The weighted-average interest rate under all debt obligations, including the impact of the cross currency swap contract (see Note 13), was 3.4% at both
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The
Company prioritizes the inputs used to determine fair values in one of the following three categories:

Level 1—Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls has been determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in
its entirety.

The consolidated financial statements include financial instruments for which the fair market value of such instruments may differ from amounts reflected on a
historical cost basis. Financial instruments of the Company consist of cash deposits, accounts and other receivables, investments, accounts payable, certain accrued

liabilities, and borrowings under a revolving credit agreement. The carrying value of these financial instruments generally approximates fair value due to their short-
term nature. Financial instruments also include Notes payable. See Note 11 for further information on the fair value of the Notes payable.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes the Company's financial instruments which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

(in millions):

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Cash equivalents 579.2 — 3 — 579.2
Available-for-sale investments:
Corporate debt securities — 641.8 — 641.8
Asset-backed securities — 184.3 — 184.3
United States government and agency securities — 70.0 — 70.0
Municipal securities — 2.6 — 2.6
Investments held for deferred compensation plans 125.8 — — 125.8
Derivatives = 47.1 — 47.1
705.0 9458 § — 1,650.8
Liabilities
Derivatives — 152§ — 15.2
Other S — 10.3 10.3
— 152§ 10.3 25.5
December 31, 2022
Assets
Cash equivalents 280.4 — 3 — 280.4
Available-for-sale investments:
Corporate debt securities — 980.3 — 980.3
Asset-backed securities — 366.6 — 366.6
United States government and agency securities 37.1 94.5 — 131.6
Municipal securities — 2.5 — 2.5
Investments held for deferred compensation plans 112.1 — — 112.1
Derivatives — 65.5 — 65.5
429.6 1,509.4 $ — 1,939.0
Liabilities
Derivatives — 272§ — 27.2
Contingent consideration liabilities — — 26.2 26.2
Other — — 14.0 14.0
— 272 $ 40.2 67.4
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Cash Equivalents and Available-for-sale Investments

Cash equivalents included money market funds for the periods presented above. The Company estimates the fair values of its money market funds based on
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. The Company estimates the fair values of its corporate debt securities, asset-backed securities, United States and
foreign government and agency securities, and municipal securities by taking into consideration valuations obtained from third-party pricing services. The pricing
services use industry standard valuation models, including both income and market-based approaches, for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly
or indirectly, to estimate fair value. These inputs include reported trades and broker-dealer quotes on the same or similar securities, benchmark yields, credit spreads,
prepayment and default projections based on historical data, and other observable inputs. The Company independently reviews and validates the pricing received
from the third-party pricing service by comparing the prices to prices reported by a secondary pricing source. The Company’s validation procedures have not resulted
in an adjustment to the pricing received from the pricing service.

Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company holds investments in a variety of money market and mutual funds related to its deferred compensation plans. The fair values of these
investments are based on quoted market prices.

Derivative Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments in the form of foreign currency forward exchange contracts and cross currency swap contracts to manage
foreign currency exposures. All derivatives contracts are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. The fair value of the derivative financial instruments was
estimated based on quoted market foreign exchange rates, cross currency swap basis rates, and market discount rates. Judgment was employed in interpreting market
data to develop estimates of fair value; accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a
current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions or valuation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Contingent Consideration Liabilities

Certain of the Company's acquisitions involve contingent consideration arrangements. Payment of additional consideration is contingent upon the acquired
company reaching certain performance milestones, such as attaining specified sales levels or obtaining regulatory approvals. These contingent consideration
liabilities are measured at estimated fair value using either a probability weighted discounted cash flow analysis or a Monte Carlo simulation model, both of which
consider significant unobservable inputs. As of December 31, 2023, the probability of milestone achievement was determined to be 0% and, accordingly, the
contingent consideration liability was zero.

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in millions):

Contingent
Consideration Other Total
Fair value, December 31, 2021 $ 62.0 $ 14.0 $ 76.0
Changes in fair value (35.8) — (35.8)
Fair value, December 31, 2022 $ 262 $ 14.0 $ 40.2
Changes in fair value (26.2) (3.7) (29.9)
Fair value, December 31, 2023 $ — 3 103 $ 10.3
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13. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its currency exchange rate risk and its interest rate risk as summarized below. Notional amounts
are stated in United States dollar equivalents at spot exchange rates at the respective dates. The Company does not enter into these arrangements for trading or
speculation purposes.

Notional Amount

As of December 31,
2023 2022
(in millions)
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts $ 1,786.2 $ 1,678.4
Cross currency swap contracts 300.0 300.0

The following table presents the location and fair value amounts of derivative instruments reported in the consolidated balance sheets (in millions):

Fair Value
As of December 31,
Balance Sheet Location 2023 2022

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Assets

Foreign currency contracts Other current assets $ 237 $ 24.9

Cross currency swap contracts Other assets $ 234§ 40.6
Liabilities

Foreign currency contracts Accrued and other liabilities $ 152§ 20.7

Foreign currency contracts Other liabilities $ — 3 6.5

The following table presents the effect of master-netting agreements and rights of offset on the consolidated balance sheets (in millions):

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet

Gross Amounts Net Amounts
Offset in the Presented in the Cash
Gross Consolidated Consolidated Financial Collateral Net
December 31, 2023 Amounts Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Instruments Received Amount
Derivative Assets
Foreign currency contracts $ 237 $ — 237§ 94) $ —  $ 14.3
Cross currency swap contracts $ 234§ — $ 234 $ — 3 — $ 23.4
Derivative Liabilities
Foreign currency contracts $ 152 $ — $ 152§ ©4 $ — $ 5.8
December 31, 2022
Derivative Assets
Foreign currency contracts $ 249 § — 3 249 $ (12.0) $ — 3 12.9
Cross currency swap contracts $ 406 $ —  $ 406 $ — $ — 40.6
Derivative Liabilities
Foreign currency contracts $ 272 $ —  $ 272 § (12.0) $ — 15.2
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The following tables present the effect of derivative and non-derivative hedging instruments on the consolidated statements of operations and consolidated

statements of comprehensive income:

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in OCI on Derivative
(Effective Portion)

2023 2022

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from Accumulated
OCI into Income

Location of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated
2023 2022

OClI into Income

(in millions)
Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency contracts $ 292§ 81.7

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in OCI
on Derivative
(Effective Portion)

2023 2022

(in millions)

Cost of sales $ 589 §$ 88.4

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in Income on
Derivative (Amount Excluded from
Tated Effectiveness Testing)

Location of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from Accu
2023 2022

OCI into Income

(in millions)
Net investment hedges

Cross currency swap contracts $ 21.6

(173) $

(in millions)

Interest income, net $ 69 $ 7.0

The cross currency swap contracts have an expiration date of June 15, 2028. At maturity of the cross currency swap contracts, the Company will deliver the
notional amount of €257.2 million and will receive $300.0 million from the counterparties. The Company receives semi-annual interest payments from the

counterparties based on a fixed interest rate until maturity of the agreements.

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in
Income on Derivative

Fair value hedges
Foreign currency contracts

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Income on Derivative 2023 2022 2021
(in millions)
Other income, net $ 139 § 39 § 11.6
Amount of Gain or
. . (Loss) Recognized in
Location of Gain or Income on Derivative
(Loss) Recognized in
Income on Derivative 2023 2022 2021
(in millions)
Other income, net $ 74 3 440 $ 27.4

Foreign currency contracts
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The following tables present the effect of fair value and cash flow hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of operations:

Total amounts of income and expense line items shown in the consolidated statements of operations in which the
effects of fair value or cash flow hedges are recorded

The effects of fair value and cash flow hedging:
Gain (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:
Foreign currency contracts:
Hedged items

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Amount excluded from effectiveness testing recognized in earnings based on an amortization approach

Gain (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:
Foreign currency contracts:

Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated OCI into income

Total amounts of income and expense line items shown in the consolidated statements of operations in which the
effects of fair value or cash flow hedges are recorded

The effects of fair value and cash flow hedging:

Gain (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:

Foreign currency contracts:
Hedged items

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Amount excluded from effectiveness testing recognized in earnings based on an amortization approach

Gain (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:

Foreign currency contracts:

Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated OCI into income

Location and Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in
Income on Fair Value and Cash Flow Hedging
Relationships

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023

Cost of sales Other income, net
(1,379.8) $ 14.4
— 9.2)
— 9.2
— 4.7
58.9 —

Location and Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in
Income on Fair Value and Cash Flow Hedging
Relationships

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2022

Cost of sales Other income, net
$ (1,080.4) $ 2.6
— 5.5
— (5.5)
— 1.6
88.4 —

The Company expects that during 2024 it will reclassify to earnings a $2.7 million gain currently recorded in "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss." For
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company did not record any gains or losses due to hedge ineffectiveness.
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Benefit Plans

The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans in Japan and certain European countries.

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

(in millions)

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Beginning of year $ 941 § 117.9
Service cost 43 5.5
Interest cost 2.3 0.5
Participant contributions 1.9 1.6
Actuarial loss (gain) 9.9 (22.6)
Benefits paid (3.8) (0.6)
Plan amendment 0.4) 0.3)
Settlements and curtailment gain — (1.8)
Currency exchange rate changes and other 34 (6.1)
End of year $ 111.7 $ 94.1
Change in fair value of plan assets:
Beginning of year $ 70.6 $ 76.9
Actual return on plan assets 0.8 4.9)
Employer contributions 3.5 3.5
Participant contributions 1.9 1.6
Settlements — (1.8)
Benefits paid (3.8) (0.6)
Currency exchange rate changes and other 2.5 4.1)
End of year $ 755 % 70.6
Funded Status
Projected benefit obligation $ (111.7) $ %94.1)
Plan assets at fair value 75.5 70.6
Underfunded status $ (36.2) 8§ (23.5)
Net amounts recognized on the consolidated balance sheet:
Other liabilities $ 362 $ 23.5
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Net actuarial (loss) gain $ (10.3) § 1.5
Net prior service credit 52 5.3
Deferred income tax benefit (expense) 0.9 (1.1)
Total $ 42) § 5.7

The accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO") for all defined benefit pension plans was $106.8 million and $86.7 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The projected benefit obligation and ABO were in excess of plan assets for all pension plans as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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The components of net periodic pension benefit cost are as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Service cost, net $ 43 $ 55§ 6.5
Interest cost 23 0.5 0.4
Expected return on plan assets 2.7) (1.5) (1.1)
Settlements and curtailment gain — 0.1 —
Amortization of actuarial loss — 0.5 1.7
Amortization of prior service credit (0.8) (0.7) (0.7)
Net periodic pension benefit cost $ 31§ 44§ 6.8

Expected long-term returns for each of the plans' strategic asset classes were developed through consultation with investment advisors. Several factors were
considered, including a survey of investment managers' expectations, current market data, minimum guaranteed returns in certain insurance contracts, and historical
market returns over long periods. Using policy target allocation percentages and the asset class expected returns, a weighted-average expected return was calculated.

To select the discount rates for the defined benefit pension plans, the Company uses a modeling process that involves matching the expected duration of its
benefit plans to a yield curve constructed from a portfolio of AA-rated fixed-income debt instruments, or their equivalent. For each country, the Company uses the

implied yield of this hypothetical portfolio at the appropriate duration as a discount rate benchmark.

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations are as follows:

December 31,
2023 2022
Discount rate 1.8 % 2.5%
Rate of compensation increase 29% 29%
Cash balance interest crediting rate 1.5% 1.5%
Social securities increase 1.8 % 1.8 %
Pension increase 22% 22 %

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension benefit cost are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Discount rate 2.5% 0.5% 0.3 %
Expected return on plan assets 3.7% 2.1% 1.5%
Rate of compensation increase 2.9 % 2.6 % 2.6 %
Cash balance interest crediting rate 1.5% 1.5% 2.5%
Social securities increase 1.8% 1.6 % 1.6 %
Pension increase 22% 1.8% 1.8 %
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Plan Assets

The Company's investment strategy for plan assets is to seek a competitive rate of return relative to an appropriate level of risk and to earn performance rates of
return in accordance with the benchmarks adopted for each asset class. Risk management practices include diversification across asset classes and investment styles,
and periodic rebalancing toward asset allocation targets.

The Company's Administrative and Investment Committee decides on the defined benefit plan provider in each location and that provider decides the target
allocation for the Company's defined benefit plan at that location. The target asset allocation selected reflects a risk/return profile the Company feels is appropriate
relative to the plans' liability structure and return goals. In certain plans, asset allocations may be governed by local requirements. Target weighted-average asset
allocations at December 31, 2023, by asset category, are as follows:

Equity securities 313 %
Debt securities 38.9 %
Real estate 11.4 %
Other 18.4 %
Total 100.0 %

The fair values of the Company's defined benefit plan assets at December 31, 2023 and 2022, by asset category, are as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Asset Category
Cash $ 20 $ — $ — 3 2.0
Equity securities:
United States equities 2.6 — — 2.6
International equities 21.0 — — 21.0
Debt securities:
United States government bonds 3.5 — — 3.5
International government bonds 26.0 — — 26.0
Real estate — 8.7 — 8.7
Mortgages — 4.0 — 4.0
Insurance contracts = - 0.8 0.8
Total plan assets measured at fair value $ 551 % 127 $ 08 ¢ 68.6
Alternative investments measured at net asset value (a) 6.9
Total plan assets $ 75.5
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December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Asset Category
Cash $ 36 $ — 3 — $ 3.6
Equity securities:
United States equities 1.5 — — 1.5
International equities 17.5 — — 17.5
Debt securities:
United States government bonds 4.4 — — 44
International government bonds 25.6 — — 25.6
Real estate — 7.6 — 7.6
Mortgages — 3.5 — 3.5
Insurance contracts — = 0.8 0.8
Total plan assets $ 526 $ 1.1 $ 08 ¢ 64.5
Alternative investments measured at net asset value (a) 6.1
Total plan assets $ 70.6

(a) Certain investments that were measured at net asset value per share have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are
intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the total plan assets.

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of the Company's defined benefit plan assets that have been classified as Level 3 for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in millions):

Insurance
Contracts
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 0.9
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2022 0.2
Purchases, sales and settlements 0.2)
Currency exchange rate impact 0.1)

Balance at December 31, 2022 0.8
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at December 31, 2023 0.2

Purchases, sales and settlements 0.2)
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 0.8

Equity and debt securities are valued at fair value based on quoted market prices reported on the active markets on which the individual securities are traded.
Real estate investments are valued by discounting to present value the cash flows expected to be generated by the specific properties. Investments in mortgages are
valued at cost, which is deemed to approximate its fair value. The insurance contracts are valued at the cash surrender value of the contracts, which is deemed to
approximate its fair value. Alternative investments include hedge funds, private equity funds and other miscellaneous investments, and are valued using the net asset
value provided by the fund administrator as a practical expedient. The net asset value is based on the fair value of the underlying assets owned by the fund divided by
the number of shares outstanding.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, at December 31, 2023, are expected to be paid (in millions):

2024 $ 7.3
2025 5.9
2026 6.9
2027 6.8
2028 8.1
2029-2033 39.0

As of December 31, 2023, expected employer contributions for 2024 are $2.7 million.
Defined Contribution Plans

The Company's employees in the United States and Puerto Rico are eligible to participate in a qualified defined contribution plan. In the United States,
participants may contribute up to 25% of their eligible compensation (subject to tax code limitation) to the plan. Edwards Lifesciences matches the first 4% of the
participant's annual eligible compensation contributed to the plan on a dollar-for-dollar basis. Edwards Lifesciences matches the next 2% of the participant's annual
eligible compensation to the plan on a 50% basis. In Puerto Rico, participants may contribute up to 25% of their annual compensation (subject to tax code limitation)
to the plan. Edwards Lifesciences matches the first 4% of participant's annual eligible compensation contributed to the plan on a 50% basis. The Company also
provides a 2% profit sharing contribution calculated on eligible earnings for each employee. Matching contributions relating to Edwards Lifesciences employees
were $51.0 million, $45.1 million, and $38.6 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

The Company also has nonqualified deferred compensation plans for a select group of employees. The plans provide eligible participants the opportunity to
defer eligible compensation to future dates specified by the participant with a return based on investment alternatives selected by the participant. The amount accrued
under these nonqualified plans was $125.6 million and $112.6 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

15. COMMON STOCK
Treasury Stock

In July 2022, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the Company to purchase up to $1.5 billion of the Company's common
stock, effective July 28, 2022. In December 2023, the Board of Directors approved an additional $1.0 billion of repurchases of the Company's common stock under
this program. The repurchase program does not have an expiration date. Stock repurchased under these programs may be used to offset the impact of the Company's
employee stock-based benefit programs and stock-based business acquisitions, and will reduce the total shares outstanding.

During 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company repurchased 11.4 million, 20.1 million, and 5.8 million shares, respectively, at an aggregate cost of $880.5 million,
$1,727.1 million, and $512.8 million, respectively, including shares purchased under a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan, the accelerated share repurchase ("ASR")
agreements described below, and shares acquired to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock units issued to employees.
The timing and size of any future stock repurchases are subject to a variety of factors, including expected dilution from stock plans, cash capacity, and the market
price of the Company's common stock.
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Accelerated Share Repurchase

During 2023 and 2022, the Company entered into ASR agreements providing for the repurchase of the Company's common stock based on the volume-
weighted average price ("VWAP") of the Company's common stock during the term of the applicable agreements, less a discount. The following table summarizes
the terms of the ASR agreements (dollars and shares in millions, except per share data):

Initial Delivery Final Settlement
Value of
Shares as %
Amount Shares Price per of Contract Settlement Total Shares Average Price
Agreement Date Paid Received Share Value Date Received per Share
January 2022 $ 2500 1.9 $ 104.87 80 % February 2022 23 § 110.31
October 2022 § 7500 83 $§ 7243 80 % December 2022 103 § 72.91
February 2023 $ 200.0 20 $ 80.44 80 % March 2023 25 § 79.28
December 2023 $ 400.0 46 $ 70.31 80 % December 2023 53§ 72.91

The ASR agreements were each accounted for as two separate transactions: (1) the value of the initial delivery of shares was recorded as shares of common
stock acquired in a treasury stock transaction on the acquisition date and (2) the remaining amount of the purchase price paid was recorded as a forward contract
indexed to the Company's own common stock and was initially recorded in "Additional Paid-in Capital" and subsequently, upon settlement, was transferred to
"Treasury Stock" on the consolidated balance sheets. The initial delivery of shares resulted in an immediate reduction of the outstanding shares used to calculate the
weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per share. The Company determined that the forward contracts indexed to the
Company's common stock met all the applicable criteria for equity classification and, therefore, were not accounted for as a derivative instrument.

Employee and Director Stock Plans

The Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Long-term Stock Incentive Compensation Program (the "Program") provides for the grant of incentive and non-
qualified stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock units for eligible employees of the Company. Under the Program, these grants are awarded at a price
equal to the fair market value at the date of grant based upon the closing price on that date. Options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock granted
under the Program generally vest over predetermined periods of between three to four years and expire seven years after the date of grant. Service-based restricted
stock units of the Company's common stock granted under the Program generally vest over predetermined periods, typically four years after the date of grant.
Market-based restricted stock units of the Company's common stock granted under the Program vest over three years based on a combination of certain service and
market conditions. The actual number of shares issued will be determined based on the Company's total stockholder return relative to a selected industry peer group.
Under the Program, the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the Program was 327.6 million shares. No more than 33.6 million shares
reserved for issuance may be granted in the form of restricted stock or restricted stock units.

The Company also maintains the Nonemployee Directors Stock Incentive Compensation Program (the "Nonemployee Directors Program"). Under the
Nonemployee Directors Program, annually each nonemployee director may receive up to 120,000 stock options or 48,000 restricted stock units of the Company's
common stock, or a combination thereof. These grants generally vest over one year from the date of grant. Under the Nonemployee Directors Program, an aggregate
of 8.4 million shares of the Company's common stock has been authorized for issuance.

The Company has an employee stock purchase plan for United States employees and a plan for employees outside of the United States (collectively "ESPP").
Under the ESPP, eligible employees may purchase shares of the Company's common stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of Edwards Lifesciences
common stock on the effective date of subscription or the date of purchase. Under the ESPP, employees can authorize the Company to withhold up to 15% of their
compensation for common stock purchases, subject to certain limitations. The ESPP is available to all active employees of the Company paid from the United States
payroll and to eligible employees of the Company outside of the United States, to the extent permitted
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by local law. The ESPP for United States employees is qualified under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. The number of shares of common stock authorized
for issuance under the ESPP was 50.4 million shares.

The fair value of each option award and employee stock purchase subscription is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
that uses the assumptions noted in the following tables. The risk-free interest rate is estimated using the United States Treasury yield curve and is based on the
expected term of the award. Expected volatility is estimated based on a blend of the weighted-average of the historical volatility of Edwards Lifesciences' stock and
the implied volatility from traded options on Edwards Lifesciences' stock. The expected term of awards granted is estimated from the vesting period of the award, as
well as historical exercise behavior, and represents the period of time that awards granted are expected to be outstanding. The Company uses historical data to
estimate forfeitures and has estimated an annual forfeiture rate of 6.4%.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used with the following weighted-average assumptions for options granted during the following periods:

Option Awards
Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Risk-free interest rate 3.4 % 3.0 % 0.8 %
Expected dividend yield None None None
Expected volatility 32.8% 31.4% 335 %
Expected term (years) 5.1 5.0 5.0
Fair value, per share $ 30.97 $ 34.59 $ 28.90

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used with the following weighted-average assumptions for ESPP subscriptions granted during the following
periods:

ESPP
Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Risk-free interest rate 4.6 % 0.5 % 0.1 %
Expected dividend yield None None None
Expected volatility 31.5% 32.0 % 36.6 %
Expected term (years) 0.6 0.6 0.6
Fair value, per share $ 19.03 $ 28.18 $ 23.07

The fair value of market-based restricted stock units was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model, which uses multiple input variables to determine
the probability of satisfying the market condition requirements. The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the fair value of the market-based restricted
stock units granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 included a risk-free interest rate of 3.6%, 2.9%, and 0.4%, respectively, and an
expected volatility rate of 32.6%, 33.9%, and 34.4%, respectively.
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Stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2023 under the Program and the Nonemployee Directors Program was as follows (in millions, except
years and per-share amounts):

Weighted-
‘Weighted- Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price Term Intrinsic Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 11.6 $ 63.67
Options granted 2.0 88.27
Options exercised 2.2) 38.54
Options forfeited 0.4) 97.32
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 11.0 71.90 3.5 years $ 136.9
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 7.3 61.68 2.4 years $ 135.5
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 10.5 70.91 3.4 years $ 136.7

The following table summarizes nonvested restricted stock unit activity during the year ended December 31, 2023 under the Program and the Nonemployee
Directors Program (in millions, except per-share amounts):

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value
Nonvested as of December 31, 2022 20 $ 92.30
Granted 1.1 89.03
Vested (0.8) 83.17
Forfeited 0.2) 99.82
Nonvested as of December 31, 2023 21l 94.35

The intrinsic value of stock options exercised and restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $162.7 million,
$264.5 million, and $359.8 million, respectively. The intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the amount by which the market price of the Company's
common stock exceeds the exercise price of the option. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company received cash from exercises of
stock options of $83.4 million, $64.8 million, and $82.2 million, respectively, and tax benefits from exercises of stock options and vesting of restricted stock units of
$35.9 million, $56.9 million, and $76.5 million, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021 were $41.3 million, $40.4 million, and $36.2 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the total remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested stock options, restricted stock units, market-based

restricted stock units, and employee stock purchase plan subscription awards amounted to $224.9 million, which will be amortized on a straight-line basis over each
award's requisite service period. The weighted-average remaining requisite service period is 31 months.
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16. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Presented below is a summary of activity for each component of "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss" for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021.

Total
Foreign Unrealized Gain (Loss) Accur(l)u?lated
Currency on Unrealized Other
Translation Unrealized (Loss) Gain Available-for-sale Pension Comprehensive
Adjustments on Hedges Investments (Costs) Credits (a) Loss
(in millions)
December 31, 2020 $ (1224) $ 27.7) $ 86 $ (19.6) $ (161.1)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before
reclassifications (39.2) 66.3 (29.2) 12.8 10.7
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss 6.4) 12.0 8.6 1.0 15.2
Deferred income tax (expense) benefit 4.5) (20.9) 5.1 (2.2) (22.5)
December 31, 2021 (172.5) 29.7 6.9) (8.0) (157.7)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before
reclassifications (33.9) 75.2 (77.9) 17.3 (19.3)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss (7.0) (84.5) 18.8 (0.1) (72.8)
Deferred income tax (expense) benefit 5.4) 3.4 0.4 (3.5) (5.1)
December 31, 2022 (218.8) 23.8 (65.6) 5.7 (254.9)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications 6.9 43.3 32.6 (11.1) 71.7
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss 6.9) (72.8) 8.1 (0.8) (72.4)
Deferred income tax benefit 43 6.4 0.1 2.0 12.8
December 31, 2023 $ (214.5) $ 07 §$ (24.8) $ 42) $ (242.8)
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16. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (Continued)

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the change in unrealized pension costs consisted of the following (in millions):

2023

Prior service credit arising during period
Amortization of prior service credit

Net prior service cost arising during period
Net actuarial loss arising during period
Unrealized pension costs, net

2022

Prior service credit arising during period
Amortization of prior service credit

Net prior service cost arising during period
Net actuarial gain arising during period
Unrealized pension credits, net

2021

Prior service credit arising during period
Amortization of prior service credit

Net prior service cost arising during period
Net actuarial gain arising during period

Unrealized pension credits, net

Pre-Tax Net of Tax
Amount Tax (Expense) Benefit
$ 07 § 09 § 1.6
(0.8) 0.1 (0.7)
(0.1) 1.0 0.9
(11.8) 1.0 (10.8)
$ (11.9) § 20 S 9.9)
$ — 3 (1.1 8 (1.1)
0.7) 0.3 (0.4)
0.7) (0.8) (1.5)
17.9 (2.7) 15.2
$ 172§ (35 $ 13.7
$ 01 $ — S 0.1
0.7) 0.1 (0.6)
(0.6) 0.1 (0.5)
14.4 (2.3) 12.1
$ 138 § (22) $ 11.6

The following table provides information about amounts reclassified from "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss" (in millions):

Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Components

Foreign currency translation adjustments

(Loss) gain on hedges

Gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments

Amortization of pension adjustments

Years Ended December 31,
Affected Line on Consolidated
2023 2022 Statements of Operations
69 $ 7.0 Other income, net
(1.7) (1.7) Provision for income taxes
5.2 5.3 Net of tax
58.9 88.4 Cost of sales
13.9 (3.9) Other income, net
72.8 84.5 Total before tax
(15.8) (22.2) Provision for income taxes
57.0 62.3  Net of tax
8.1) (18.8) Other income, net
2.2 4.6  Provision for income taxes
(59) $ (14.2) Net of tax
08 § 0.1  Other income, net
0.2) — Provision for income taxes
0.6 § 0.1  Net of tax
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17. OTHER INCOME, NET

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
(in millions)

Foreign exchange (gains) losses, net $ (10.5) $ 12 $ (5.0)
Loss (gain) on investments 0.7 1.1 (5.8)
Non-service cost components of net periodic pension benefit cost (1.2) (1.1) 0.3
Gain on insurance settlement — (3.8) —
Other (3.4 — (2.2)

Total other income, net $ (144) $ 2.6) $ (12.7)

18. INCOME TAXES

The Company's income before provision for income taxes was generated from operations in the United States and outside of the United States as follows (in
millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
United States $ 348.0 $ 6344 $ 610.9
Outside of the United States, including Puerto Rico 1,250.1 1,133.0 1,091.1
$ 1,598.1 § 1,767.4 $ 1,702.0
The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in millions):
Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Current
United States:
Federal $ 3173 $ 369.1 § 125.2
State and local 58.1 60.6 25.1
Outside of the United States, including Puerto Rico 85.3 66.7 92.6
Current income tax expense $ 460.7  § 496.4 § 242.9
Deferred
United States:
Federal $ (187.5) $ (187.7) $ 9.4)
State and local (54.2) (58.9) (25.4)
Outside of the United States, including Puerto Rico (20.3) 4.3) 9.2)
Deferred income tax benefit (262.0) (250.9) (44.0)
Total income tax provision $ 198.7 § 2455 $ 198.9
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in millions):

December 31,
2023 2022
Deferred tax assets
Capitalized research and development expenses @ $ 371.1 § 199.7
Compensation and benefits 117.9 100.6
Benefits from uncertain tax positions 63.4 42.1
Net tax credit carryforwards 172.9 160.8
Net operating loss carryforwards 75.9 71.7
Accrued liabilities 132.8 93.7
Inventories 15.3 11.9
Cash flow and net investment hedges 1.6 6.6
State income taxes 0.2 0.3
Investments 0.6 0.6
Lease liability obligations 5.8 6.7
Other 0.8 1.9
Total deferred tax assets 958.3 696.6
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant, and equipment (78.2) (80.2)
Deferred tax on foreign earnings (3.6) (19.2)
Right-of-use assets 4.7) (6.0)
Other intangible assets (53.0) (19.9)
Other (2.5) (2.9)
Total deferred tax liabilities (142.0) (128.2)
Valuation allowance (90.2) (99.1)
Net deferred tax assets $ 726.1 $ 469.3

(a) Asrequired by the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, effective January 1, 2022, the Company's research and development expenditures were capitalized and amortized which resulted
in substantially higher cash paid for taxes in 2023 and 2022 with an equal amount of deferred tax benefits.

During 2023, net deferred tax assets increased $256.8 million, including items that were recorded to stockholders' equity and which did not impact the
Company's income tax provision.

The valuation allowance of $90.2 million as of December 31, 2023 reduces certain deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be realized.
This allowance primarily relates to the net operating loss carryforwards of certain non-United States subsidiaries and certain non-United States credit carryforwards.
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Net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards and the related carryforward periods at December 31, 2023 are summarized as follows (in millions):

Carryforward Tax Benefit Valuation Net Tax Carryforward
Amount Amount Allowance Benefit Period Ends
United States federal net operating losses $ 9.0 $ 19 § — 8 1.9 2033-2037
United States federal net operating losses 1.8 0.4 — 0.4 Indefinite
United States state net operating losses 35.7 1.8 (1.7) 0.1 2026-2041
United States state net operating losses 2.6 0.1 (0.1) Indefinite
Non-United States net operating losses 416.5 71.6 (54.5) 17.1 Indefinite
United States capital losses 334 0.1 0.1) — 2024
Total $ 499.0 $ 759 § (56.4) $ 19.5

Certain tax attributes are subject to an annual limitation as a result of the acquisition of CASMED, which constitute a change of ownership as defined under
Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

The gross tax credit carryforwards and the related carryforward periods at December 31, 2023 are summarized as follows (in millions):

Carryforward Valuation Net Tax Carryforward

Amount Allowance Benefit Period Ends
California research expenditure tax credits $ 2113 § — 3 2113 Indefinite
Federal research expenditure tax credits 1.3 — 1.3 2026-2039
Foreign tax and general business credits 0.7 — 0.7 2030-2033
Puerto Rico purchases credits 26.2 (26.2) 2025
Puerto Rico purchases credits 1.2 (1.2) Indefinite

Total $ 240.7 S 274) $ 2133

The Company has $211.3 million of gross California research expenditure tax credits it expects to use in future periods. The credits may be carried forward
indefinitely. Based upon anticipated future taxable income, the Company expects that it is more likely than not that all California research expenditure tax credits
will be utilized, although the utilization of the full benefit is expected to occur over a number of years into the distant future. Accordingly, no valuation allowance
has been provided. The Company has $27.4 million of Puerto Rico purchases credits. Throughout its history and into the future, the Company's Puerto Rico
operations generate, or are expected to generate, credits each year in excess of its ability to utilize credits in those years. As a result, even though the credits currently
have an indefinite life, the Company continues to record a valuation allowance on the purchases credits carryforwards. The Company recently renegotiated its tax
grant under Puerto Rico Act 52-2022 ("Act 52") effective January 1, 2023. Among other items, Act 52 introduced new requirements and limitations on the
availability and claiming of tax credits. As a result, the Company now expects that its purchases credits generated through December 31, 2022 will expire in 2025
while the purchases credits generated after December 31, 2022 will have an indefinite life.

On December 22, 2017, Public Law 115-97, commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "2017 Act"), was signed into law. The 2017 Act a) reduced
the United States federal corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, b) required companies to pay a one-time
mandatory deemed repatriation tax on the cumulative earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred, and c) created new taxes on certain
foreign earnings in future years. The Company elected to pay the repatriation tax in installments over eight years.

The Company asserts that $961.6 million of its foreign earnings continue to be indefinitely reinvested and it intends to repatriate $1.2 billion of its foreign
earnings as of December 31, 2023. The estimated net tax liability on the indefinitely reinvested earnings if repatriated is $5.1 million.
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The Company has received tax incentives in certain non-United States tax jurisdictions, the primary benefit for which will expire in 2029. The tax reductions as
compared to the local statutory rates were $333.2 million ($0.55 per diluted share), $247.4 million ($0.40 per diluted share), and $208.0 million ($0.33 per diluted
share) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

A reconciliation of the United States federal statutory income tax rate to the Company's effective income tax rate is as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Income tax expense at United States federal statutory rate $ 3356 $ 3711 § 357.4
Foreign income taxed at different rates (128.3) (123.9) (122.2)
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit 18.7 21.1 11.9
Tax credits, federal and state (62.5) (50.0) (48.4)
Build of reserve for prior years' uncertain tax positions 2.9) 11.6 3.6
Tax on global intangible low-taxed income 78.7 61.4 56.5
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction (23.0) (15.0) (1.3)
Contingent consideration liabilities (5.5 (7.5) (26.1)
United States federal deductible employee share-based compensation (13.1) (31.6) (47.8)
Nondeductible employee share-based compensation 6.6 5.8 5.3
Other (5.6) 2.5 10.0

Income tax provision $ 198.7 $ 2455 $ 198.9

The Company's effective tax rate for 2023 decreased in comparison to 2022 primarily due to the impact of temporary relief provided by the Internal Revenue
Service ("IRS") relating to U.S. foreign tax credit regulations. On July 21, 2023, the IRS issued Notice 2023-55 which delayed the application of certain U.S. foreign
tax credit regulations that had previously limited the Company's ability to claim credits on certain foreign taxes for tax years 2022 and 2023. In addition, there was a
tax benefit from the Intellectual Property Agreement with Medtronic (see Note 3), partially offset by a reduced tax benefit from employee share-based compensation.
The Company's effective tax rate for 2022 increased in comparison to 2021 primarily due to the decrease in the tax benefit from the change in fair value of
contingent consideration liabilities and the decrease in the excess tax benefit from employee share-based compensation.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the gross uncertain tax positions were $583.9 million and $475.3 million, respectively. The Company estimates that these
liabilities would be reduced by $250.7 million and $182.1 million, respectively, from offsetting tax benefits associated with the correlative effects of potential
transfer pricing adjustments, state income taxes, and timing adjustments. The net amounts of $333.2 million and $293.2 million, respectively, if not required, would
favorably affect the Company's effective tax rate.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of uncertain tax positions, excluding interest, penalties, and foreign exchange, is as follows (in millions):

December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Uncertain gross tax positions, January 1 $ 4753 $ 3584 § 281.8

Current year tax positions 127.0 120.6 82.1

Increase in prior year tax positions 0.8 3.8 2.3

Decrease in prior year tax positions (16.2) (0.6) 4.8)

Settlements (3.0) 0.4) 0.3)

Lapse of statutes of limitations — (6.5) 2.7)
Uncertain gross tax positions, December 31 $ 5839 § 4753 $ 358.4

The table above summarizes the gross amounts of uncertain tax positions without regard to reduction in tax liabilities or additions to deferred tax assets and
liabilities if such uncertain tax positions were settled.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions in the provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company had accrued $41.4 million (net of $29.9 million tax benefit) of interest related to uncertain tax positions, and as of December 31, 2022, the Company had
accrued $29.1 million (net of $15.4 million tax benefit) of interest related to uncertain tax positions. During 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recognized interest
expense, net of tax benefit, of $12.3 million, $9.6 million, and $5.2 million, respectively, in "Provision for Income Taxes" on the consolidated statements of
operations.

In the normal course of business, the IRS and other taxing authorities are in different stages of examining various years of the Company's tax filings. During
these audits the Company may receive proposed audit adjustments that could be material. Therefore, there is a possibility that an adverse outcome in these audits
could have a material effect on the Company's results of operations and financial condition. The Company strives to resolve open matters with each tax authority at
the examination level and could reach agreement with a tax authority at any time. While the Company has accrued for matters it believes are more likely than not to
require settlement, the final outcome with a tax authority may result in a tax liability that is materially different from that reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Furthermore, the Company may later decide to challenge any assessments, if made, and may exercise its right to appeal. The uncertain tax positions are
reviewed quarterly and adjusted as events occur that affect potential liabilities for additional taxes, such as lapsing of applicable statutes of limitations, proposed
assessments by tax authorities, negotiations between tax authorities, identification of new issues, and issuance of new legislation, regulations, or case law.
Management believes that adequate amounts of tax and related penalty and interest have been provided for any adjustments that may result from these uncertain tax
positions.

The Company executed an Advance Pricing Agreement (“APA”) in 2018 between the United States and Switzerland governments for tax years 2009 through
2020 covering various, but not all, transfer pricing matters. The unagreed transfer pricing matters, namely Surgical Structural Heart and Transcatheter Aortic Valve
Replacement (collectively "Surgical TAVR") intercompany royalty transactions, then reverted to IRS examination for further consideration as part of the respective
years' regular tax audits. In addition, the Company executed other bilateral APAs as follows: during 2017, an APA between the United States and Japan covering tax
years 2015 through 2019; and during 2018, APAs between Singapore and Japan and between Switzerland and Japan covering tax years 2015 through 2019. The
Company has filed to renew all three of the APAs with Japan for the years 2020 and forward. An APA between Switzerland and Japan covering tax years 2020
through 2024 was executed in 2021. An APA between the United States and Japan covering tax years 2020 through 2024 was executed in 2023. The execution of
some or all these APA renewals depends on many variables outside of Edwards' control.

The audits of the Company’s United States federal income tax returns through 2014 have been closed. The IRS audit field work for the 2015 through 2017 tax
years was completed during the second quarter of 2021, except for transfer pricing and related matters. The IRS is currently examining the 2018 through 2020 tax

years.

At December 31, 2023, all material state, local, and foreign income tax matters have been concluded for years through 2015. While not material, the Company
continues to address matters in India for years from 2010 and on.
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During 2021, the Company received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (“NOPA”) from the IRS for the 2015 through 2017 tax years relating to transfer pricing
involving Surgical/TAVR intercompany royalty transactions between the Company's United States and Switzerland subsidiaries. The NOPA proposed a substantial
increase to the Company's United States taxable income, which could result in additional tax expense for this period of approximately $230.0 million and
represented a departure from a transfer pricing method the Company had previously agreed upon with the IRS. The Company disagreed with the NOPA and pursued
an administrative appeal with the IRS Independent Office of Appeals ("Appeals"). The Appeals process culminated in the third quarter of 2023 when the Company
and Appeals concluded that a satisfactory resolution of the matter at the administrative level was not possible.

During the fourth quarter of 2023, Appeals issued a notice of deficiency ("NOD") increasing the Company's 2015 through 2017 United States federal income
tax in amounts resulting from the income adjustments previously reflected in the NOPA. The additional tax sought in excess of the Company's filing position is
$269.3 million before consideration of interest and a repatriation tax offset.

The Company plans to vigorously contest the additional tax claimed by the IRS through the judicial process. Final resolution of this matter is not likely within
the next 12 months. The Company believes the amounts previously accrued related to this uncertain tax position are appropriate for a number of reasons, including
the interpretation and application of relevant tax law and accounting standards to the Company's facts and, accordingly, has not accrued any additional amount based
on the NOD and other proceedings to date. Nonetheless, the outcome of the judicial process cannot be predicted with certainty, and it is possible that the outcome of
that process could have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. As noted below, similar material tax disputes may arise for the 2018
through 2023 tax years. While no payment of any amount related to the NOPA or NOD has yet been required, the Company made a partial deposit with the IRS in
November 2022 to prevent the further accrual of interest on that portion of any additional tax the Company may ultimately be found to owe. The Company intends to
make an additional deposit in the range of $200 million to $300 million with the IRS by the second quarter of 2024 in order to further mitigate interest on potential
tax liabilities while the Company prepares to contest through the judicial process the IRS's entitlement to any of the additional tax claimed by the IRS.

Surgical/TAVR intercompany royalty transactions covering tax years 2018 through 2023 remain subject to IRS examination, and those transactions and related
tax positions remain uncertain as of December 31, 2023. The Company has considered this information, as well as information regarding the NOD and other
proceedings described above, in its evaluation of its uncertain tax positions. The impact of these unresolved transfer pricing matters, net of any correlative tax
adjustments, may be significant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Based on the information currently available and numerous possible outcomes,
the Company cannot reasonably estimate what, if any, changes in its existing uncertain tax positions may occur in the next 12 months and, therefore, has continued
to record the uncertain tax positions as a long-term liability.

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2021, the Company initiated an internal review and investigation into whether business activities in Japan and other markets violated certain provisions of
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"). The Company voluntarily notified the SEC and the United States Department of Justice ("DOJ") during 2021 that it has
engaged outside counsel to conduct this review and investigation. The Company has provided status updates to the SEC and DOJ since that time. Any determination
that the Company’s operations or activities are not in compliance with existing laws, including the FCPA, could result in the imposition of fines, penalties, and
equitable remedies. The Company cannot currently predict the final outcome of the investigation or any potential impact on its financial statements.

On September 28, 2021, Aortic Innovations LLC, a non-practicing entity, filed a lawsuit against Edwards Lifesciences Corporation and certain of its
subsidiaries ("Edwards") in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging that Edwards’ SAPIEN 3 Ultra product infringes certain of its
patents. The Company is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this matter or estimate a range of possible exposure; therefore, no amounts have been accrued.
The Company intends to vigorously defend itself in this litigation.
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The European Commission (the "Commission") is investigating certain business practices of Edwards including its unilateral pro-innovation (anti-copycat)
policy and patent practices. The Company is committed to healthy competition and is cooperating with the Commission. The Company cannot predict the outcome
of the investigation or the potential impact on its financial statements.

The Company is or may be a party to, or may otherwise be responsible for, pending or threatened lawsuits including those related to products and services
currently or formerly manufactured or performed, as applicable, by the Company, workplace and employment matters, matters involving real estate, Company
operations or health care regulations, contingent consideration, or governmental investigations (the "Lawsuits"). The Lawsuits raise difficult and complex factual and
legal issues and are subject to many uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the facts and circumstances of each particular case or claim, the jurisdiction in which
each suit is brought, and differences in applicable law. Management does not believe that any loss relating to the Lawsuits would have a material adverse effect on
the Company's overall financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, the resolution of one or more of the Lawsuits in any reporting period, could
have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial results for that period. The Company is not able to estimate the amount or range of any loss for legal
contingencies related to the Lawsuits for which there is no reserve or additional loss for matters already reserved.

The Company is subject to various environmental laws and regulations both within and outside of the United States. The Company's operations, like those of
other medical device companies, involve the use of substances regulated under environmental laws, primarily in manufacturing and sterilization processes. While it
is difficult to quantify the potential impact of continuing compliance with environmental protection laws, management believes that such compliance will not have a
material impact on the Company's financial results. The Company's threshold of disclosing material environmental legal proceedings involving a governmental
authority where potential monetary sanctions are involved is $1 million.

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Edwards Lifesciences conducts operations worldwide and is managed in the following geographical regions: United States, Europe, Japan, and Rest of World.
All regions sell products that are used to treat advanced cardiovascular disease.

The Company's geographic segments are reported based on the financial information provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the Chief Executive
Officer). The Company evaluates the performance of its geographic segments based on net sales and operating income. The accounting policies of the segments are
the same as those described in Note 2. Segment net sales and segment operating income are based on internally derived foreign exchange rates and do not include
inter-segment profits. Because of the interdependence of the reportable segments, the operating profit as presented may not be representative of the geographical
distribution that would occur if the segments were not interdependent. Net sales by geographic area are based on the location of the customer. There were no
customers that represented 10% or more of the Company's total net sales.

Certain items are maintained at the corporate level and are not allocated to the segments. The non-allocated items include corporate research and development
expenses, manufacturing variances, corporate headquarters costs, net interest income, global marketing expenses, special gains and charges, stock-based
compensation, foreign currency hedging activities, certain litigation costs, changes in the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities, and most of the Company's
amortization expense. Although most of the Company's depreciation expense is included in segment operating income, due to the Company's methodology for cost
build-up, it is impractical to determine the amount of depreciation expense included in each segment and, therefore, a portion is maintained at the corporate level.
The Company neither discretely allocates assets to its operating segments, nor evaluates the operating segments using discrete asset information.
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The table below presents information about Edwards Lifesciences' reportable segments (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Segment Net Sales
United States $ 3,508.7 $ 3,1326 $ 2,963.1
Europe 1,337.4 1,213.7 1,099.6
Japan 436.7 559.3 528.0
Rest of World 716.9 610.7 533.2
Total segment net sales $ 5999.7 $ 55163 § 5,123.9
Segment Operating Income
United States $ 2,306.1 $ 2,1309 $ 2,051.0
Europe 709.5 652.2 569.1
Japan 259.1 376.7 348.0
Rest of World 310.4 247.7 185.2
$ 3,585.1 $ 34075 $ 3,153.3

Total segment operating income

The table below presents reconciliations of segment net sales to consolidated net sales and segment operating income to consolidated pre-tax income (in
millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net Sales Reconciliation
Segment net sales $ 5,999.7 $ 55163 $ 5,123.9
Foreign currency 5.1 (133.9) 108.6
Consolidated net sales $ 6,004.8 $ 53824 $ 5,232.5
Pre-tax Income Reconciliation
Segment operating income $ 3,585.1 $ 34075 $ 3,153.3
Unallocated amounts:
Corporate items (1,920.9) (1,714.1) (1,613.8)
Special charge and separation costs (17.2) (60.7) —
Intellectual property agreement and litigation expense (203.5) (15.8) (20.6)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liabilities 26.2 35.8 124.1
Foreign currency 64.4 95.8 47.3
Consolidated operating income 1,534.1 1,748.5 1,690.3
Non-operating income 64.0 18.9 11.7
Consolidated pre-tax income $ 1,598.1 § 1,767.4  § 1,702.0
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Enterprise-Wide Information
(in millions)

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION

Enterprise-wide information is based on actual foreign exchange rates used in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Net Sales by Geographic Region
United States
Europe
Japan
Rest of World

Net Sales by Major Product Group
Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement
Transcatheter Mitral and Tricuspid Therapies
Surgical Structural Heart
Critical Care

Long-lived Tangible Assets by Geographic Region
United States
Europe
Japan
Rest of World
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As of or for the Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
3,508.7 3,132.6  $ 2,963.1
1,334.5 1,174.8 1,190.3

452.4 473.6 528.9
709.2 601.4 550.2
6,004.8 53824 § 5,232.5
3,879.8 3,5182 §$ 3,422.5
197.6 116.1 86.0
999.3 893.1 889.1
928.1 855.0 834.9
6,004.8 53824 $ 5,232.5
1,269.7 1,1885 § 1,195.8
196.4 191.8 197.9
23.8 13.2 19.7
353.5 331.6 335.5
1,843.4 1,725.1 $ 1,748.9




Table of Contents
EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

21. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Other End of
of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period
(in millions)
Year ended December 31, 2023
Allowance for credit losses (a) $ 11.7 $ 20 $ — 3 (19) § 11.8
Tax valuation allowance (b) 99.1 — 0.1 (9.0) 90.2
Year ended December 31, 2022
Allowance for credit losses (a) $ 157 § 09 § 0.1 $ 5.0 § 11.7
Tax valuation allowance (b) 82.5 3.0 14.2 (0.6) 99.1
Year ended December 31, 2021
Allowance for credit losses (a) $ 164 § 12§ 06 $ 25) $ 15.7
Tax valuation allowance (b) 71.6 12.4 — (1.5) 82.5

(a) The deductions related to allowances for credit losses represent accounts receivable which are written off.
(b) The tax valuation allowances are provided for other-than-temporary impairments and unrealized losses related to certain investments that may not be

recognized due to the uncertainty of the ready marketability of certain impaired investments, and net operating loss and credit carryforwards that may not be
recognized due to insufficient taxable income.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of December 31, 2023.

Based on their evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded as of December 31, 2023 that the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective in providing reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed
by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. The Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Based on that evaluation, the Company's management concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023. The
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the Company's fourth fiscal quarter of 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

On December 14, 2023, Donald Bobo, Jr., Corporate Vice President, Strategy & Corporate Development, entered into a 10b5-1 trading plan (the “Plan”)
intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Plan provides for the potential sale of
70,500 shares of the Company’s stock commencing May 10, 2024. The Plan terminates on the earlier of April 14, 2025 or the date all shares are sold.

Item 9C. Information Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections

None.
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PART IIT
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information required by this Item will be set forth under the headings "Board of Directors Matters—Proposal 1 - Election of Directors—Board of
Director Nominees," "Board of Directors Matters—Corporate Governance Policies and Practices," and "Executive Compensation and Other Information—Executive
Officers" in the definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with the Company's 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Proxy Statement") (which Proxy
Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2023). The information required by this Item to be contained in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference. The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all directors and employees, including the Company's principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer, or persons performing similar functions. The code of ethics (business practice standards) is
posted on the Company's website, which is found at https://ir.edwards.com under "Governance & Sustainability—Corporate Responsibility & Sustainability—
Corporate Responsibility—Global Integrity Program." To the extent required by applicable rules of the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, the Company
intends to disclose on its website any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of its code of ethics that apply to the Company's directors and executive
officers, including the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or controller or persons performing similar functions.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information contained under the heading "Executive Compensation and Other Information" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information contained under the headings "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensation Plan
Information" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information contained under the heading "Other Matters and Business—Related Persons Transactions" and under the heading "Board of Directors Matters
—Corporate Governance Policies and Practices—Director Independence" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information contained under the headings "Audit Matters—Fees Paid to Principal Accountants" and "Audit Matters—Pre-Approval of Services" in the
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements. See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 herein.
2. Financial Statement Schedules. Other schedules are not applicable and have not been included herein.

3. Exhibits.
Exhibit No. Description

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, dated May 7, 2020

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, dated May 11, 2023

3.4 Bylaws of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, as amended and restated as of February 16, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in Edwards

4.1 Specimen form of certificate representing Edwards Lifesciences Corporation common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in Edwards

4.2 Description of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation's Capital Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form

10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022)
4.3 Indenture, dated as of September 6, 2013, between Edwards Lifesciences Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee

4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 15, 2018, to the Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 in Edwards Lifesciences' report

4.5 Form of Global Note for the 4.300% Senior Notes due 2028 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A in the Second Supplemental Indenture filed as

Exhibit 4.2 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2018), ’

10.1 Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2022, among Edwards Lifesciences Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, the
lenders signatory thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Edwards Lifesciences' report
on Form 8-K filed on July 21, 2022)

*10.6 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Form of Change-in-Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in Edwards
Lifesciences' report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2012)

reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2020)
*10.9 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Form of Participant Stock Option Statement and related Long-Term Stock Program Global Nonqualified Stock

*10.10 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Form of Long-Term Stock Incentive Compensation Program Global Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement
for awards granted beginning May 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2022),
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Exhibit No. Description

*10.11 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Form of Long-Term Stock Incentive Compensation Program Global Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for
awards granted beginning May 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2022)

*10.12 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Form of Long-Term Stock Incentive Compensation Program Global Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement for awards granted beginning May 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022)

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016),

*10.14 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation 2020 Nonemployee Directors Stock Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 in Edwards

reference to Exhibit 10.17 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022)

*10.17 Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Form of Nonemployee Directors Stock Incentive Program Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.18 in Edwards Lifesciences' report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022)

on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011)
21.1 Subsidiaries of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
+32 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

# Pursuant to a request for confidential treatment, confidential portions of this exhibit have been redacted and have been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission

* Represents management contract or compensatory plan

+ Furnished herewith

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Exhibit 10.3

Edwards Lifesciences LLC

One Edwards Way, Irvine, CA USA 92614

Phone: 949.250.2500, Fax: 949.250.2525 Employment
www.edwards.com Agreement

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEE:

BEFORE SIGNING, PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING AGREEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY,
MAKE CERTAIN THAT YOU UNDERSTAND IT, AND, IF DESIRED,
REVIEW IT WITH YOUR ATTORNEYS AND ADVISORS.

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is executed by and between Edwards Lifesciences LLC and
(the “Employee”). In consideration of this offer of employment, continued employment, future
promotions, training, future pay increases, access to additional compensation opportunities including stock options or restricted stock unit awards and
other benefits, access to Confidential Information, and/or other things of value provided contemporaneously herewith, the receipt and sufficiency of
which is expressly acknowledged, the Employee acknowledges and agrees as follows:

1. Employment Relationship. Edwards will employ or continue to employ the Employee, effective on the Employee’s most recent hire date,
and the Employee hereby accepts or reaffirms such employment consistent with the terms and conditions provided herein.

1.1. The Employee agrees to perform such duties as are customarily performed by those in the Employee’s position, and such duties and
responsibilities as may be required from time to time, and shall also be subject to the instructions, regulations, and policies of Edwards now in effect
and as may be revised at any time. The Employee further agrees that he/she will devote utmost knowledge and best skill and efforts to the
performance of his/her duties, that he/she will remain loyal to Edwards during the term of his/her employment, and that he/she is not presently
engaged in, and shall not during the term of his/her employment with Edwards enter into, any employment or consulting or agency relationship,
whether for pay or otherwise, with any third party whose interests might conflict with those of Edwards. The Employee understands that during his/her
employment with Edwards, other employment, activities or businesses may conflict with the Company’s rules regarding conflicts of interest.
Therefore, during the Employee’s employment with Edwards, the Employee will not, other than for the Company, engage in any other employment,
activity or business: (i) in which the Company is now or may hereafter become engaged; (ii) that competes with the current or future business of the
Company; (iii) that uses any Company information, equipment, supplies, facilities, or materials; or (iv) otherwise conflicts with the Company’s
business interest or causes, or may reasonably be expected to cause, a disruption of its operations.

1.2. The Employee and Edwards understand and expressly agree that the Employee’s employment is not for a specified term and that it
may be terminated by Edwards or by the Employee at any time, with or without notice, for any cause or without cause. The Employee further
understands and agrees that Edwards may change the Employee’s hours, wages, benefits, position, working conditions, and other terms of
employment, with the exception of this at-will provision, and may take disciplinary action, as it deems appropriate, at any time, with or without cause
or advance notice. The Employee and Edwards expressly agree that this at-will provision is intended by both the Employee and Edwards to be the
complete and final expression of their understanding regarding the terms and conditions under which the Employee’s employment may be terminated,
or under which Edwards may take disciplinary or other employment action, and that it is intended as an integrated agreement with respect thereto.
The Employee and Edwards further understand and expressly agree that there are no express or implied agreements contrary to this provision, that
no representation contrary to this provision is valid, and that this provision may not be augmented, contradicted, or modified in any way, except by a
formal written agreement, signed by both the Employee and a Corporate Vice-President of Edwards.

2. Protection of Confidential Information and Fair Competition.

~ 2.1 Definitions. For all purposes relevant to this Agreement, including the Schedules hereto, the following terms shall have the specified
meanings:
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2.1.1 “Competing Organization” means persons or organizations, including the Employee, engaged in, or about to become engaged in,
research or development, production, distribution, marketing, providing, servicing, selling or conducting or supporting training regarding a Competing
Product. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that Edwards sells and distributes, and/or is preparing to sell and distribute, its products
nationwide, in Europe, and throughout the world, and that accordingly, “Competing Organization” includes all such persons or organizations
throughout the United States, Europe, and the rest of the world.

2.1.2 “Competing Product” means products, processes, product lines, or services, and each and every component thereof, of any
person or organization other than Edwards, in existence or under development, which are substantially the same, may be substituted for, or applied to
substantially the same end use as Edwards products, processes, product lines, or services in existence or under development (“Edwards’
Products”) while the Employee works or worked for Edwards.

2.1.3 “Confidential Information” means information of a confidential or secret nature disclosed to the Employee by Edwards or created,
discovered, received or learned by the Employee by reason of the Employee’s employment with Edwards, relating to the present or planned business
of Edwards, which has not been released publicly by authorized representatives of Edwards, including, but not limited to, Trade Secrets, Items,
unpublished Inventions, know-how, products, experiments, clinical and product research; vendor and customer data, designs, concepts, customer,
patient, supplier, and competitor information; sales, pricing, cost, and financial data; research, development, marketing, and sales programs and
strategies; manufacturing, marketing, and service techniques, processes and practices; training materials, training techniques, techniques for using
Edwards’ Products; and physician and/or client lists, information regarding prescribing physicians, related personnel information, and regulatory
strategies, plans, and approaches. Confidential Information also includes all information received by Edwards under an obligation of confidentiality to
a third party.

2.1.4 “Covenant Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule A with respect to the Employee’s State of Employment.

2.1.5 “Edwards” means Edwards Lifesciences LLC and all of its parents, subsidiaries, or affiliated entities, and their successors and
assigns that exist or may exist during all or any portion of the time this Agreement is in effect.

2.1.6 “Edwards’ Customer” means any person, entity, or institution, including the employees, agents, or representatives who controlled,
directed, or influenced the purchasing decisions of any such person, entity, or institution, with which the Employee had business contact on behalf of
Edwards, as to which the Employee supervised or supported business contact on behalf of Edwards, or about which the Employee learned
Confidential Information, during the last 12 months in which the Employee was employed by Edwards. Edwards’ Customers specifically include
(without limitation) all physicians and medical personnel to whom the Employee provided training regarding the use of Edwards’ Products, during the
last 12 months in which the Employee was employed by Edwards. The Employee acknowledges that Edwards’ Customers may be responsible for
purchasing decisions of a variety of Competing Products. However, if (and only if) the law of the Employee’s State of Employment so requires,
“Edwards’ Customer” shall be limited to any person, entity, or institution, including the employees, agents, or representatives who controlled, directed,
or influenced the purchasing decisions of any such person, entity, or institution, which had an actual business relationship with Edwards and with
whom the Employee had personal and material contact during the last 12 months of the Employee’s employment with Edwards.

2.1.7 “Invention” means procedures, systems, machines, methods, processes, uses, discoveries, apparatuses, compositions of matter,
designs or configurations, computer programs of any kind, ideas, concepts, or any improvements of the foregoing, discovered, conceived, reduced to
practice, developed, made, or produced, alone or with others, whether or not patentable, copyrightable, or protectable as Trade Secrets. “Invention”
shall not be limited to the meaning of “Invention” under the United States patent laws.

2.1.8 “Items” include documents, reports, drawings, diagrams, photographs, designs, specifications, formulae, plans, samples, research
or development information, records, or test results, prototypes, tools, equipment, proposals, marketing or sales plans, customer information,
customer lists, the terms and expiration dates of customer contracts, patient lists, patient information, regulatory files, financial data, costs, pricing
information, supplier information, business, marketing, acquisition, or pricing strategies, written, printed or graphic matter, or other information and
materials that concern Edwards that come into Employee’s possession, which Employee developed alone or with others during employment with
Edwards, or about which Employee has knowledge by reason of his/her employment with Edwards.

2.1.9 “State of Employment” shall refer to the primary state or territory of the United States within which the Employee performs or
performed the duties and responsibilities of his/her employment for Edwards at the time of his/her termination from Edwards.
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2.1.10 “Trade Secrets” shall mean information, including a formula, pattern, compilation or combination; program, device, method,
technique, process, or drawing; cost data, business data or customer data, contracts, or information; or development, sales or business strategies, or
other information or Items that derive independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily
ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from their disclosure or use, and which are the subject of efforts that
are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain their secrecy.

2.2 Protection of Confidential Information.

2.2.1 The Employee understands that Edwards has developed or acquired valuable Confidential Information that is not generally known
to its competitors or to the public. The Employee recognizes and further understands that the Employee’s employment with Edwards creates a
relationship of confidence and trust with respect to this Confidential Information which is disclosed to, developed by or learned by the Employee
during the Employee’s employment. The Employee expressly acknowledges that Edwards would not permit the Employee to have access to
Confidential Information but for the Employee’s promises in this Agreement. The Employee further agrees that the Confidential Information is and will
remain the exclusive property of Edwards.

2.2.2 The Employee agrees that he/she is not authorized to and will not at any time publish or disclose, or allow to be published or
disclosed, Confidential Information to any person who is not an employee of Edwards, unless such disclosure is necessary for the performance of the
Employee’s obligations under this Agreement, in which case (i) a properly executed confidentiality agreement is in effect by and between Edwards
and the recipient of such information, or (ii) such disclosure is authorized in writing by Edwards, through its General Counsel. The Employee further
agrees that he/she is not authorized to and will not remove any Confidential Information or Edwards’ medical devices from the offices of Edwards or
the premises of any facility in which Edwards is performing work, or allow such removal, except in the customary execution of the Employee’s duties
for the sole and exclusive benefit of Edwards, unless permitted in writing by Edwards, through its General Counsel.

2.2.3 The Employee expressly agrees that the Employee will not make use of Confidential Information for his/her personal benefit or that
of any Competing Organization, or disclose, copy, retain, distribute, access, reverse engineer, or use Confidential Information to engage in
competition with Edwards at any time, including after the termination of his/her employment with Edwards, or for any purpose other than furthering the
legitimate business interests of Edwards. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that at all times he/she is prohibited from using the Confidential
Information of Edwards for any purposes other than furthering the legitimate business interests of Edwards.

2.2.4 Upon termination of his/her employment with Edwards for any reason or upon request of Edwards at any time, the Employee shall
immediately deliver to Edwards all property and Items owned by Edwards and all documents and materials of any nature in any form, whether whole
or incomplete, containing any Confidential Information. Employee shall advise Edwards of the location of any such Items or Confidential Information
on any computers or digital storage media or accounts, including cloud storage accounts, not owned by Edwards, and shall cooperate with Edwards
in arranging for the deletion or other appropriate handling of said Confidential Information. Upon Edwards’ request, the Employee shall reaffirm in
writing his/her recognition of the importance of protecting and maintaining the confidentiality of the Confidential Information and shall reaffirm all of the
obligations set forth in this Agreement regarding such information.

2.2.5 Notice of Immunity. Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (“DTSA”), the Employee will not be held criminally or civilly
liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: (A) is made (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of
law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. If the Employee were to
file a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, the Employee may disclose the trade secret to the Employee’s
attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the Employee (A) files any document containing the trade secret under seal;
and (B) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. The Employee understands that if a court of law or arbitrator determines
that the Employee misappropriated Company Trade Secrets willfully or maliciously, including by making permitted disclosures without following the
requirements of the DTSA as detailed in this paragraph, then the Company may be entitled to an award of exemplary damages and attorneys’ fees
against the Employee. Nothing in this Agreement prevents the Employee from discussing or disclosing information about unlawful acts in the
workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any other conduct the Employee has reason to believe is unlawful.
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2.3 Restriction on Solicitation of Employees.

2.3.1 The Employee acknowledges that Edwards has made, and continues to make, considerable investments in the recruitment,
screening, and training of its employees and that, in the course of such recruitment, screening, and training, Edwards has obtained information
regarding the unique skills, knowledge, training, backgrounds, talents, and capabilities of such employees. The Employee further acknowledges and
agrees that a person or entity other than Edwards, if it desired to assemble a workforce of employees with comparable skills, knowledge, and
capabilities, would also need to make considerable investments to obtain information regarding such employees and that such a person or entity
would gain an unfair competitive advantage if it were to utilize the information developed by Edwards through the efforts referred to above.
Accordingly, the Employee agrees that Edwards’ internal personnel information regarding the qualifications, talents, skills, abilities, backgrounds,
training, work histories, compensation, career paths, and prospects for promotion constitutes Confidential Information, and the Employee further
agrees that he/she will not, at any time, directly or indirectly, use or disclose such information to any person or entity, except in the customary
execution of the Employee’s duties for the sole and exclusive benefit of Edwards.

2.3.2 The Employee further agrees that he/she will neither directly nor indirectly, during his/her employment with Edwards and for one (1)
year thereafter, solicit, cause to be solicited, hired or engaged, or participate in or promote or assist the solicitation, hiring or engaging to perform
services of any individual who is, or has been in the six (6) months prior to termination of the Employee’s employment with Edwards, an Edwards
employee or consultant or induce or assist others to induce any employee or consultant of Edwards to leave Edwards or to terminate his/her
employment or engagement with Edwards.

2.4 Prevention of Unfair Competition. As a material inducement to Edwards to enter into this Agreement and to provide the Employee with
access to Confidential Information, including without limitation, access to its Trade Secrets, and in order to protect Edwards’ Confidential Information,
including its Trade Secrets, the Employee agrees as follows:

2.4.1 The Employee agrees not to render services of any kind (including training services) in connection with or relating to any Competing
Product, directly or indirectly, to any person or entity, during the Covenant Period for the benefit of a Competing Organization, in the areas where
Edwards does business throughout the United States, Europe, and the rest of the world.

2.4.2 The Employee agrees during the Covenant Period not to, personally or through or with or on behalf of another person or entity, (a)
solicit, contact, divert, entice or attempt to divert the business of any Edwards’ Customer in relation to a Competing Product, or assist or support
others to engage in these acts, or (b) solicit, contact, divert, entice, or attempt to solicit, contact, divert or entice, or assist or support others in
soliciting, contacting, diverting, enticing or attempting to divert or entice any Edwards’ Customer to terminate or reduce the Customer’s relationship
with Edwards.

2.4.3 The foregoing restrictions in Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 shall apply only to the extent the Employee’s compensation meets the
compensation requirements for covenants not to compete or solicit, if any, established by federal law or the law in Employee’s State of Employment.

2.5 Duty to Provide Notice to New or Prospective Employer. The Employee shall notify any new or prospective employer of his/her obligations
under Section 2 of this Agreement. The Employee acknowledges that Edwards may notify any new or prospective employer of the Employee of such
obligations and authorizes Edwards to do so. The Employee agrees to notify Edwards of the identity of his/her new employer and position with the
new employer, or other planned work for compensation, if any, upon the Employee’s separation from employment with Edwards, but no later than the
Employee’s last day worked at Edwards. The Employee agrees to notify Edwards of any changes in his/her employment or other planned work for
compensation throughout the Covenant Period.

2.6 No Use of Third-Party Confidential Information. The Employee and Edwards expressly agree that they do not intend or seek to do
business using the Confidential Information of any former employer of the Employee. The Employee represents and agrees that he/she will not use or
disclose Confidential Information belonging to any former employer or other third party, which he/she has an obligation not to disclose or use, without
obtaining prior written permission from the former employer or other third party.

2.7 Remedies. The Employee agrees and acknowledges that the violation of any of the provisions contained herein would cause irreparable
injury to Edwards, that the remedy at law for any violation or threatened violation thereof would be inadequate, and that Edwards shall be entitled to
temporary and permanent injunctive or other equitable relief to prevent such harm, without need for a bond.

PLEASE NOTE THAT EDWARDS IS ENTITLED TO SEEK JUDICIAL ENFORCEMENT OF ITS RIGHT TO
PROTECT CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND TO PURSUE ALL LEGAL REMEDIES, UP TO AND INCLUDING,
AS PROVIDED HEREIN, PROHIBITION OF COMPETITIVE
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EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES. UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT WITH EDWARDS, THE
EMPLOYEE’S ABILITY TO ACCEPT OR PERFORM EMPLOYMENT WITH COMPETITIVE COMPANIES MAY BE
LIMITED AS PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT.

The Employee further agrees and acknowledges that the violation of Section 2.3.2 of this Agreement will cause injury that is inherently difficult to
quantify with precision in that it will encompass business disruption, time and expense to retain or replace and train the employee or consultant, injury
to ongoing business relationships, and other harm, and therefore stipulates and agrees that, given the nature of the losses that may result, as a
reasonable measure of damages that is not grossly disproportionate to the probable loss likely to be incurred, and not as a penalty, in the event of a
finding of a violation of Section 2.3.2 the Employee shall pay to Edwards an amount equal to 10% of the last annual Edwards base salary of the
employee who was solicited or induced to terminate his/her relationship with Edwards by reason of the breach or, as applicable, 10% of the total
compensation Edwards paid the consultant who was solicited or induced to terminate his/her relationship with Edwards by reason of the breach in the
last year prior to the breach. This remedy shall be in addition to and not in lieu of injunctive relief to prevent further or continuing violations.

3. Inventions and Works for Hire.

3.1 Property of, and Assignment to, Edwards Lifesciences Corporation. (This Section 3.1 shall be subject to the terms of Schedule B.)

3.1.1 The Employee agrees that all Inventions related to the present or planned business of Edwards, which are conceived or reduced to
practice by the Employee, either alone or with others, during the period of his/her employment, whether or not done during the Employee’s regular
working hours, and whether or not patentable, are the sole property of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation. The Employee hereby assigns to Edwards
Lifesciences Corporation, or an affiliate designated by Edwards, all of the Employee’s right, title, and interest in, and to, such Inventions. The
provisions of this Section 3.1.1 shall not apply to an Invention for which none of Edwards’ equipment, supplies, facilities, or Confidential Information
were used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, unless (a) the Invention relates to the business of Edwards, or the actual
or demonstrably anticipated research or development of Edwards, or (b) the Invention results from any work performed by the Employee for Edwards
or from the use of any Edwards time, materials, or Confidential Information. The Employee understands and intends that this assignment, as set forth
in Section 3.1.1, extends to works not presently in existence.

3.1.2 To the extent permitted by law, the Employee agrees that all Inventions related to the present or planned business of Edwards,
which are conceived or reduced to practice by the Employee, either alone or with others, during a period of one hundred twenty (120) days after
termination of such employment, whether or not patentable, are the property of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation. The Employee hereby assigns to
Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, or an affiliate designated by Edwards, all of the Employee’s right, title, and interest in, and to, such Inventions.
However, to the extent any law or legal decision does not allow Edwards Lifesciences Corporation to claim all of the Employee’s right, title, and
interest in, and to, such Inventions, the Employee agrees that Edwards Lifesciences Corporation has at least a shared property interest in such
Inventions, and the Employee hereby assigns to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, or an affiliate designated by Edwards, joint ownership with the
Employee of the Employee’s right, title, and interest in, and to, such Inventions. The provisions of this Section 3.1.2 shall not apply to an Invention for
which none of Edwards’ equipment, supplies, facilities, or Confidential Information was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s
own time, unless (a) the Invention relates to the business of Edwards, or the actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of Edwards,
or (b) the Invention results from any work performed by the Employee for Edwards or from the use of any Edwards time, materials or Confidential
Information. The Employee understands and intends that this assignment, as set forth in Section 3.1.2, extends to works not presently in existence. It
is the express intent of the Employee and Edwards that if any obligations in Section 3.1.2 are not allowed by law or legal decision, that the obligations
in Section 3.1.1 and Sections 3.2-3.8 will otherwise remain in full effect and binding.

3.2 Disclosure. The Employee agrees to disclose promptly and in writing to Edwards, through the Employee’s supervisor, all Inventions which
are related to the present or planned business, research, or development of Edwards. The Employee further agrees not to disclose any of these
Inventions or any research of Edwards to others, without the express consent of Edwards, except as required by his/her employment with Edwards.

3.3 Cooperation. The Employee agrees that he/she will, at any time during or after his/her employment with Edwards, on request of Edwards,
execute specific further documents in favor of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, or an affiliate designated by Edwards, relating to ownership, rights,
or interest in, and to, any of the Inventions that are assigned to Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, or an affiliate designated by Edwards, under
Section 3.1, as well as execute all papers, render all assistance, and perform all lawful acts which Edwards considers necessary or advisable for the
preparation, filing, prosecution, issuance, procurement, maintenance, or enforcement of patent applications and patents of the United States and
foreign countries for these Inventions and for the transfer of any interest which the Employee may have. The
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Employee will execute any and all papers and documents required to vest title in Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, or an affiliate designated by
Edwards, in these Inventions, patent applications, patents, and interests. The Employee understands and intends that the obligations in this Section
3.3 extend to works not presently in existence.

3.4 No Waiver. The Employee further understands and agrees that the absence of a request by Edwards for information, or for the making of
an oath, or for the execution of any document, shall in no way be construed to constitute a waiver of Edwards’ rights under this Agreement.

3.5 Prior _Inventions. The Employee represents that the Employee has disclosed to Edwards all continuing obligations which the Employee
has with respect to the assignment of Inventions to any previous employers, and the Employee claims no previous unpatented Inventions as the
Employee’s own, except for those which are shown on Schedule C, or any similar schedules previously provided by the Employee to the Company, if
any. The Employee understands that Edwards does not seek any Confidential Information which the Employee may have acquired from a previous
employer, and the Employee will not disclose any such information to Edwards.

3.6 Works for Hire. All writings and other works, which may be copyrighted (including computer programs), which are related to the present or
planned business or research and development of Edwards and are prepared by the Employee during his/her employment with Edwards or using the
time, material or Confidential Information of Edwards, shall be, to the extent permitted by law, works made for hire, and the authorship and copyright
of the work shall be in Edwards’ name. To the extent that any such writings and works are not works for hire, the Employee agrees to the waiver of
“moral rights” in such writings and works and hereby assigns to Edwards all right, title, and interest in, and to, such writings and works, including
copyright. The Employee will execute any and all papers and documents required to vest title in Edwards, or its nominee, in all such works. The
Employee understands and intends that this assignment extends to works that are not currently in existence.

3.7 Power of Attorney. If Edwards is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure the Employee’s signature on any papers required under this
Section 3, the Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints each officer of Edwards as the Employee’s agent and attorney-in-fact to execute
any such papers on the Employee’s behalf, and to take any and all actions as Edwards may reasonably deem necessary to protect its patents,
trademarks, copyrights, Trade Secrets and other intellectual property rights worldwide.

3.8 Right of Publication. The Employee will permit Edwards to use and distribute for any purpose any pictorial images, which are taken of the
Employee during his/her employment with Edwards, as often as desired for any lawful purpose. The Employee waives all rights of prior inspection or
approval and releases Edwards from any and all claims or demands, which the Employee may have on account of the lawful use or publication of
such pictorial images.

4. No Authority to Bind Edwards. Without the express written consent of Edwards, the Employee shall have no apparent, actual, or implied
authority to pledge the credit of Edwards or any of its other employees, to bind Edwards under any contract, agreement, note, mortgage, or otherwise
to release or discharge any debt due to Edwards, unless Edwards has received the full amount thereof, or to sell, mortgage, transfer, or otherwise
dispose of any assets of Edwards.

5. Personnel Policies and Procedures. Edwards shall have the authority to establish, from time to time, personnel policies and procedures to
be followed by its employees. The Employee agrees to comply with the policies and procedures of Edwards. To the extent that any provisions in
Edwards’ personnel policies and procedures, handbooks, manuals, and/or other materials differ from the terms of this Agreement, the terms of this
Agreement shall apply. In no case shall any personnel policies, procedures, handbooks, manuals, or other materials modify, contradict, add to, or alter
the effect of the at-will employment provision contained in this Agreement.

6. Cooperation. The Employee agrees that, following the termination of his/her employment with Edwards for any reason, the Employee will
make every practicable effort to contact Edwards’ General Counsel, promptly and in any event before the deadline for compliance, to provide notice if
the Employee is served with a subpoena or other legal process asking for a deposition, testimony, or other statement, or other potential evidence of
any kind, to be used in connection with any lawsuit, demand, subpoena, or proceeding involving or related to Edwards in any way.

7. Drug-Free Workplace. The Employee acknowledges that Edwards intends to maintain a drug-free workplace and that Edwards has advised
the Employee that it utilizes drug testing as a means to maintain such a drug-free workplace. The Employee understands that he/she may be asked to
submit to drug testing as a condition of employment or continued employment, and the Employee expressly consents to such testing, at such times
and under such conditions, as determined by Edwards, in its sole discretion, to be appropriate.
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8. Edwards’ Values. At Edwards, the Credo and the Titanium Book set forth a number of positive behaviors and values that are key to Edwards’
culture and success. These behaviors and values include such things as becoming trusted partners with customers, colleagues, and patients,
increasing personal accountability, behaving like owners, and building customer loyalty. To accomplish this, the Employee agrees to act in a
responsible, ethical, and professional manner in all of his/her business dealings, as stated in the Credo, the Titanium Book, and any other of Edwards’
documents related to ethics. The Employee understands that there is no compromise with regard to his/her commitment to maintaining the highest
standards of business conduct.

9. Severability; Amendment; Waiver; and Construction. Each term, condition, covenant, or provision of this Agreement, including any and all
Schedules, shall be viewed as separate and distinct, and, in the event that any such term, covenant, or provision shall be held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect. If any provision of this Agreement shall be
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be overly broad, in any respect, or overly long, the Employee agrees and requests that the court
shall reform said provision and this Agreement, to the least degree necessary to render it enforceable. No amendment or modification of the terms or
conditions of this Agreement (other than judicial modification) shall be valid, unless in writing and signed by the party to be bound. A waiver by either
party of a breach of any provision(s) of this Agreement shall not constitute a general waiver or prejudice the other party’s right otherwise to demand
strict compliance with that provision or any other provision in this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall be governed
by the laws of the Employee’s State of Employment. The Employee hereby agrees that Edwards may, at any time and without further action or writing
by the Employee, assign this Agreement to any of its affiliated companies with which the Employee might be employed, and further agrees that
Edwards may assign this Agreement and its rights and duties hereunder to any other person or entity in connection with a corporate reorganization or
a sale or merger of all or part of Edwards, in which case the assignee company shall succeed to all of the rights held by Edwards under this
Agreement and shall be entitled to enforce this Agreement.

10. Review of Agreement and Consultation with Legal Counsel. The Employee acknowledges that he/she has been provided with notice and
a copy of this Agreement on or before receiving an employment offer and at least ten business days prior to any deadline to sign the Agreement and
begin employment. The Employee acknowledges that he/she has a right to consult with counsel and has been given the opportunity to consult with
counsel of his/her choosing, at Employee’s expense, to review the terms of the Agreement before entering it.

11. Entire Agreement. The Employee acknowledges receipt of this Agreement and agrees that this Agreement constitutes the entire and final
agreement related to the subject matter herein between the Employee and Edwards and supersedes any previous oral or written communications,
representations, or understandings between the Employee and Edwards. The Employee understands and agrees that no representative of Edwards
has been authorized to enter into any agreement or commitment with the Employee that is inconsistent in any way with the terms of this Agreement.

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

Employee
/s/ Christine McCauley
(Employee Signature) Date Christine McCauley
Corporate Vice President,
(Employee Name) Human Resources
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SCHEDULE A

(a) If the Employee’s State of Employment is:

Alabama, Alaska, Arkansas, Colorado, “Covenant Period” shall mean the period beginning as of the first date
Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, of the Employee’s employment with Edwards and ending 18 months
Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, lowa, Kansas, after termination of the Employee’s employment, regardless of the
Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, reason for the termination.

Maryland, Mississippi, Missouri,

Nevada, Ohio, New Jersey, New York,

New Mexico, North Carolina, Oregon,

Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South

Carolina, South Dakota, Texas,

Vermont, West Virginia or Wyoming

(b) If the Employee’s State of Employment is:

Arizona, District of Columbia, lllinois, “Covenant Period” shall mean the period beginning as of the first date

Indiana, Massachusetts, Michigan, of the Employee’s employment with Edwards and ending 12 months
Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, after termination of the Employee’s employment, regardless of the
Puerto Rico, Tennessee, Utah, reason for the termination.

Virginia, Washington, or Wisconsin

(c) If the Employee’s State of Employment is:

California or North Dakota “Covenant Period” shall mean the period beginning as of the first
date of the Employee’s employment with Edwards and ending upon
the termination of the Employee’s employment with Edwards.

The provisions of Section 2.3.2 are hereby replaced with the following
language, which shall become Section 2.3.2 for said Employees:

The Employee further agrees that he/she will neither directly nor
indirectly, during his/her employment with Edwards and for one (1)
year thereafter, solicit any individual, who at the time of termination of
Employee’s employment with Edwards for any reason was an
Edwards employee or consultant, to leave Edwards or to terminate
his/her employment or consulting engagement with Edwards.

(d) If the Employee’s State of Employment is:

Oklahoma “Covenant Period” shall mean the period beginning as of the first
date of the Employee’s employment with Edwards and ending 12
months after termination of the Employee’s employment, regardless of
the reason for the termination. Provided, however, that the restrictions
set forth in Section 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 shall prohibit the Employee during
the Covenant Period only from soliciting or contacting, directly or
indirectly, an established Edwards’ Customer in connection with or
relating to a Competing Product.
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(e) If the Employee’s State of Employment is:

Minnesota For purposes of Section 2.4.1, “Covenant Period” shall mean the
period beginning as of the first date of the Employee’s employment
with Edwards and ending upon the termination of the Employee’s
employment with Edwards. For purposes of Section 2.4.2, “Covenant
Period” shall mean the period beginning as of the first date of the
Employee’s employment with Edwards and ending 12 months after
termination of the Employee’s employment, regardless of the reason
for the termination.

(f) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Massachusetts, this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts and any civil action relating to this Agreement shall be brought in the county in which the Employee resides or, if mutually agreed, in
Suffolk County, Massachusetts in the Superior Court or the Business Section of the Superior Court. Section 2.4.1 applies only to the specific types of
services provided by the Employee at any time during the last two (2) years of employment and applies only in geographic areas in which the
Employee, during any time within the last two (2) years of employment, provided services or had a material presence or influence. The Employee and
Edwards mutually agree that Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 are supported by the sign-on bonus provided to the Employee in connection with Edwards’ offer
of employment.

If the Employee is employed in Louisiana at the time of signature, the Restrictive Covenants set forth in Sections 2.3, 2.4.1, 2.4.2
shall apply only within the parish in which the Employee resides and adjacent parishes, at the time of executing this Agreement and only for so long
as Edwards or its assignee carries on a like business therein. Any civil action relating to this Agreement shall be brought in the state or Federal court
in or for the parish in which the Employee resides at the time of executing this Agreement and shall be governed by the laws of Louisiana.

(h) If the Employee’s State of Employment is lllinois, the following terms shall apply: The Employee and Edwards mutually agree that
Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 are supported by the sign-on bonus provided to the Employee in connection with Edwards’ offer of employment.

(i) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Maine, section 2.4.1 shall apply only to the extent that the Employee is employed at least
one (1) year by Edwards or remains employed by Edwards for at least six (6) months after signing this Agreement, whichever is longer.
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SCHEDULE B

(a) If the Employee’s State of Employment is California: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall not
apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of Cal. Lab. Code § 2870, where the Employee developed the Invention entirely on
his/her own time, without using Edwards’ equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information, except for those Inventions that either: (1) relate
at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the Invention to Edwards’ business, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or
development of Edwards, or (ii) result from any work performed by the Employee for Edwards.

(b) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Delaware: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall not
apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of Delaware Code Title 19 § 805, where the Employee developed the Invention entirely
on his/her own time, without using Edwards’ equipment, supplies, facility, or trade secret information, except for those Inventions that: (i) relate to
Edwards' business or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (ii) result from any work performed by the Employee for
Edwards.

(c) If the Employee’s State of Employment is lllinois: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall not
apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of 765 Ill. Comp. Stat. 1060/2, to an Invention for which no equipment, supplies,
facilities, or trade secret information of Edwards was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, unless (a) the Invention
relates (i) to the business of Edwards, or (ii) to Edwards' actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (b) the Invention results from
any work performed by the Employee for Edwards.

(d) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Kansas: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall not
apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of K.S.A. § 44-130, to an Invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility, or trade
secret information of Edwards was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, unless: (1) the Invention relates directly to
the business of Edwards or to Edwards’ actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (2) the Invention results from any work
performed by the Employee for Edwards. Even though the Employee meets the burden of proving the conditions specified in this section, the
Employee shall disclose, at the time of employment or thereafter, all Inventions being developed by the Employee, for the purpose of determining
employer and employee rights in an Invention.

(e) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Minnesota: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall
not apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of M.S.A. § 181.78, to an Invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility, or
trade secret information of Edwards was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, and (1) which does not relate (a)
directly to the business of Edwards or (b) to Edwards' actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (2) which does not result from
any work performed by the Employee for Edwards.

) If the Employee’s State of Employment is North Carolina: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1,
shall not apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of North Carolina General Statute § 66-57.1, to an Invention for which no
equipment, supplies, facility, or trade secret information of Edwards was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, unless:
(1) the Invention relates to the business of Edwards or to Edwards’ actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (2) the Invention
results from any work performed by the Employee for Edwards. The employee shall bear the burden of proof in establishing that the Invention
qualifies under this section.

(9) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Utah: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall not
apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of U.C.A. § 34-39-3, to an Invention that is (1) created by the Employee entirely on
his/her own time, and (2) is not an employment Invention.

(h) If the Employee’s State of Employment is Washington: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall
not apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of R.C.W. § 49.44.140, to an Invention for which no equipment, supplies, facilities,
or trade secret information of Edwards was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, unless (a) the Invention relates (i)
directly to the business of Edwards, or (ii) to Edwards' actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (b) the Invention results from
any work performed by the Employee for Edwards.

(i) If the Employee’s State of Employment is New York: The Employee’s assignment to Edwards, as set forth in Section 3.1, shall not
apply to any Invention that qualifies fully under the provisions of New York Labor Law, Art 7, § 203-f, to an Invention that the Employee developed
entirely on his or her own time without using Edwards’ equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information except for those Inventions that
either: (a) relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the Invention to Edwards’
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business, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of Edwards; or (b) result from any work performed by the Employee for
Edwards.
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SCHEDULE C
DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SECTION 3.5 “PRIOR INVENTIONS”
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Exhibit 21.1

The following is a list of subsidiaries of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation, omitting subsidiaries which, considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would
not constitute a significant subsidiary as of December 31, 2023:

State of Country of
Incorporation/ Incorporation/
Legal Entity Formation Formation
Edwards Lifesciences LLC Delaware U.S.
Edwards Lifesciences Services GmbH Germany
Edwards Lifesciences (U.S.) Inc. Delaware U.S.
Edwards Lifesciences (Japan) Limited Japan




Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-33054, 333-33056, 333-40434, 333-52334, 333-52346,
333-60670, 333-98219, 333-105961, 333-127260, 333-150810, 333-154242, 333-168462, 333-183106, 333-192229, 333-195853, 333-204180, 333-211333, 333-
217909, 333-255853, and 333-255854) and Form S-3 (No. 333-266272) of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation of our report dated February 12, 2024 relating to the
financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Irvine, California
February 12,2024



Exhibit 31.1

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION

I, Bernard J. Zovighian, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

By: /s/ BERNARD J. ZOVIGHIAN

Bernard J. Zovighian
Chief Executive Officer

February 12, 2024



Exhibit 31.2

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION

I, Scott B. Ullem, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

By: /s/ SCOTT B. ULLEM

Scott B. Ullem
Corporate Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

February 12,2024



Exhibit 32

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), we, Bernard J. Zovighian, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Scott B.

Ullem, Corporate Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ BERNARD J. ZOVIGHIAN
Bernard J. Zovighian
February 12, 2024 Chief Executive Officer
/s/ SCOTT B. ULLEM

Scott B. Ullem
Corporate Vice President,
February 12, 2024 Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 97.1

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORPORATION
Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation

This Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (the “Policy”) has been adopted by the Compensation and Governance
Committee (the Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Edwards Lifesciences Corporation (the “Company”) on October 31, 2023.
Capitalized terms used in this Policy but not otherwise defined at the time when first used are defined in Section 9 herein.

1. Purpose

This Policy is intended to comply with the requirements of Rule 10D-1 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the related
listing rules of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), and the terms hereof shall be construed consistent with that intent.

2. Persons Subject to Policy

This Policy applies to any person who received Incentive-Based Compensation (i) after beginning service as an Officer, (ii) who served as an
Officer at any time during the performance period for that compensation, (iii) while the Company had a class of its securities listed on a national
securities exchange or association, and (iv) during the applicable Three-Year Period.

3. Compensation Subject to Policy
This Policy shall apply to Incentive-Based Compensation received on or after October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”).

For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation is considered “received” by an Officer in the Company’s fiscal period during which
the Financial Reporting Measure applicable to that Incentive-Based Compensation is attained, even if, for example, the payment or grant of the
Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that fiscal period.

4. Recovery of Compensation

In the event the Company is required to prepare a Restatement, the Company shall recover reasonably promptly the amount of any Erroneously
Awarded Compensation from each Officer unless an exception (set forth in Section 6 below) applies.

Recovery shall be required in accordance with this Policy regardless of whether the applicable Officer engaged in misconduct or otherwise caused
or contributed to the requirement for the Restatement and regardless of whether or when restated financial statements are filed by the Company. The
Company shall not indemnify any Officer against the loss of Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is recovered by the Company pursuant to this
Policy. Further, any action by the Company to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy from an Officer will not, whether alone
or in combination with any other action, event, or condition, (i) give rise to such Officer’s right to voluntarily terminate employment or resign for
“good reason,” or due to a “constructive termination” (or any similar term of like effect) under any plan, program, policy of, or an agreement with the
Company or any of its affiliates, or (ii) constitute a breach of a contract or other arrangement to which such Officer is a party.

5. Manner of Recovery

The Committee shall determine the amount of recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on the parameters set forth in Rule
10D-1(d) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which may include, without limitation, a reimbursement or repayment of the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation; a reduction or cancellation of Incentive-Based Compensation, or an offset of the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation against other compensation payable to a person subject to this Policy, to the extent permitted by law. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
unless otherwise prohibited by the



Applicable Rules, to the extent this Policy provides for recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the Company pursuant
to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or any employment agreement, bonus plan, incentive plan, equity-based plan or award agreement
thereunder or similar plan, program or agreement of the Company or an affiliate or required under applicable law (the “Other Recovery
Arrangements”), the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the Company from the recipient of such Erroneously
Awarded Compensation may be credited to the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation required to be recovered pursuant to this Policy from
such person.

For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is
not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a Restatement, the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation will be
determined by the Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon
which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received. The Company must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate
and provide such documentation to the NYSE as required by NYSE listing rules.

If the Erroneously Awarded Compensation consists of shares (including share-denominated equity awards) or options that are still held by the
Officer at the time of recovery, the recoverable amount is the number of shares or options received in excess of the number of shares or options that
would have been received based on the Restatement (or the value of that excess number). If the options have been exercised but the underlying shares
have not been sold, the recoverable amount is the number of shares underlying the excess options based on the Restatement (or the value thereof).

6. Exceptions to Recovery

The Company shall not be required under this Policy to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation if the Committee has made a determination
that recovery would be impracticable and (a) after making a reasonable attempt to recover an Erroneously Awarded Compensation, the Committee
determines that the direct costs paid to a third party to assist in enforcing recovery would exceed the amount to be recovered (documentation
evidencing the reasonable attempt to recover the Erroneously Awarded Compensation must be maintained and provided to NYSE as required by
NYSE listing rules); or (b) the recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to
employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(13) or Internal Revenue Code Section 411(a)
and regulations thereunder.

7. Application; Enforceability

Except as otherwise determined by the Committee or the Board, the adoption of this Policy does not limit, and is intended to apply in addition to,
any other clawback, recoupment, forfeiture or similar policies or provisions of the Company or its affiliates, including any such policies or provisions
of such effect contained in Other Recovery Arrangements. The remedy specified in this Policy shall not be exclusive and shall be in addition to every
other right or remedy at law or in equity that may be available to the Company or an affiliate of the Company.

8. Interpretation; Amendment

The Committee shall have the sole authority to construe and interpret this Policy and to make all determinations required to be made pursuant to
this Policy. Any such construction, interpretation or determination by the Committee shall be final and binding. The Committee may amend, modify,
terminate, or revise this Policy in whole or in part from time to time in its sole discretion.

9. Definitions

*  “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation received by an Officer that exceeds the
amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been received by such Officer had it been determined based



on a restated Financial Reporting Measure; these amounts are computed without regard to any taxes paid.

“Financial Reporting Measures” means measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used
in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures (including, for
purposes of this Policy, stock price and total shareholder return). A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the
Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the
attainment of one or more Financial Reporting Measures.

“Officer” means any current or former officer of the Company subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
at any time during the applicable performance period for the relevant Incentive-Based Compensation, regardless of whether such
individual continues to hold such position or continues to be employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

“Restatement” means an accounting restatement that the Company is required to prepare due to the Company’s material noncompliance
with any financial reporting requirement under securities laws, including any required restatement (a) to correct an error in previously
issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or (b) that would result in a material
misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

“Three-Year Period” means, with respect to a Restatement, the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the
Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required,
concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare such Restatement, or, if earlier, the date on
which a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare such Restatement. The “Three-Year Period” also
includes any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following the three
completed fiscal years identified in the preceding sentence. However, a transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous
fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months shall be deemed a completed fiscal
year.



